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Northumbrian Water Group plc
Is an independent company
quoted on the FTSE 250 Index
of the London Stock Exchange.
The Group principally works in
the provision of water and
waste water services.

Our vision

To be the national leader in the
provision of sustainable water
and waste water services.
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Cautionary statement

This annual report contains certan statemenis with respect 1o the future operations, parformance
and financial condition of the Group By therr naturs, these staterments involve uncertanty since
future events and circumstances can cause results and developments to differ materally from those
forecast Such statements reflect knowledge and information available at the date of preparation of
this annual report and the Company undertakes no obligation to update such statements Nothing
in thus annual report should be construed as a profit forecast Certain regulatory performance data
contained in this annual report 18 subject to regulatory audit




Highlights

Revenue 2011

£738 -1 m

2010 £704 7m

Profit before interest 2011

£304.2m

2010 £2758m

Profit hefore tax 2011

£181-0m

2010 £170 2m

Profit for the year 2011

£1 78-4m

2010 £1229m

The directors of Northumbrian Water
Group (NWG or the Company) are
pleased to present their report on

the affairs of the Company, along
with the audited financial statements
and the auditors’ report for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

Fmanmal highlights
- Strong financial performance with
a 6 3% increase in profit before tax

Regulated business operating
costs are better than target
reflecting good progress on our
efficiency programme and fixing
of power prices to March 2015

— Net nterest charges Increased by £174
millon, largely reflecting RPI increases
on index linked bonds, net cash interest
charges ncreased by £2 6 milon

—  Capital nvestment in the period
of £218 9 million for the Group,
capital investment for the reguiated
business of £221 5 milion

— New loan facilities in place, £1000
midlion US private placement
competed for the Company in April
2011 and £150 0 milion approved
by the European Investrment Bank
{EIB} for the regulated business

- Funding and approved facilities n
place to meet the requirements
of the business to March 2014,
cash and short term deposits at
31 March 2011 £1417 millkon

Proposed final dividend of 8 57
pence {2010 8 85 pence) per share
to be paid on @ September 2011,
gving a full year ordinary dvidend
of 14 29 pence (2010 13 24 pence)
per share, an increase of 79%

Operatlonal highlights

Continued high levels of
customer satisfaction

Excellent levels of drinking water quality

Water resource situation 1s good with
no plans for restrictions, expansion
of Abberton reservorr to secure
supples for the Essex regicn for

25 years is progressing well

Industry-leading waste water compliance

Construction commenced on advanced
anaerobic digestion plant at Howdon,
on Tyneside, a further step towards our
target of generating 20% of our energy
from renewable sources by 2015

Achieverment of Government's

Skills Pledge with 90% of the
workforce frained to at least National
Qualification Frammewaork |.evel 2
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NWG at a glance

Northumbrian Water Group plc

NWG owns a number of companies which, together
with NWG, form the Group The largest of these
companies, Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL), 1s one
of the ten regulated water and sewerage businesses
in England and Wales The emphasis given to NWL
throughout this report, reflects its importance to the
overall performance of the Group

Northumbrian Water Limited

NWL operates in the north east of England, where 1t
trades as Northumbrian Water, and in the south east
of England, where 1t trades as Essex & Suffolk Water
Northumbrian Water currently provides water and
sewerage services to 2 7 millon people and Essex

& Suffolk Water provides water services to 18 muthon
pecple in a combined area of over 12,260 square
kilometres

Key facts

47 impounding reservors

57 water treatment works
346 water pumping stations
338 water service reservorrs
25,624km water mains

414 sewage treatment works
731 sewage pumping stations

16,181km sewers

NWL s licensed to provide these services and currently
supplies over 1,250 megahtres of water per day This
water 18 drawn from reservairs, where 1t 1s collected and
stored, rivers and groundwater sources It I1s treated at
our works befora 1t 1s delivered by a network of pipes to
homes and businesses

In the north east of England, where NWL also provides
sewerage services, waste water I1s then collected from
these properties via the sewerage network and treated
at our works before it 1s returned to the environment as
either clean water or sludge which can be recycled as
fertiiser or used to generate energy

Our water and sewerage servicas in the north east cost
an average householder 32 pence per day and in Essex
and Suffolk area, 86 pence for a water only service

The Water Services Regulation Authority {(Ofwat), as the
economic regulator, sets price imits for companies in
England and Wales every five years 2010/11 was the
first year in the current five year investment plan This
regulation 1s performance based and companies are
measured in terms of efficiencies related to operating
costs, capital programmes and financing as well as
therr general operations The regulated revenue of the
company I1s set by reference to the rate of inflation,
measured by the Retall Price Index (RPI), as well as an
adjustment factor referred to as 'k’ The profile of 'k’
for the current five year pernod 1s shown below

2010/11 201112 2012/13 201314 201415

K (%) 50 38 08 00 {10)

NWL has a long term agreement with RWE npower
for it to operate and sell the energy from NW_’s
hydroelectnc power station at Kielder Water, which
18 the largest in England

Water and waste water contracts

NWG controls a number of special purpose companies
which have water and waste water contracts in
Scotland, Irefand and Gibraltar

Other

SA Agrer NV {Agrer) carries out project work in
developing countnes through a number of overseas
aid-funded agencies



North east England
Northumbrian Water provides water and
sewerage services to 2 7 millon people
in the north east of England The major
population centres of Tyneside, Wearside
and Teesside are in our area but we also
serve large rural areas in Northumberland
and County Durham (provision of waste
water services only in Hartlepool)

South east England
Essex & Suffolk Water provides water
services to two separate supply areas

Our Essex area, which has a population
of 15 million, i1s part rural and part urban
with the main areas of population being
In Chelmsford, Southend and the London
Boroughs of Barking and Dagenham,
Havering and Redbndge

We serve a population of 0 3 millon in
our Suffolk area, which 1s mainly rural
with the biggest towns being Great
Yarmouth and Lowsestoft
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Chairman’s
statement

This was the first year of the five year regulatory
cycle 2010-2015. We have made a good start,
delivering value for shareholders and customers.
Equally important, we have established plans
and taken actions to ensure we can deliver over
the whole period and beyond.




The new regulatory cycle introduces new performance
standards for the penod and, in this report, we indicate
the substantial progress we are already making

Profit has improved, as 1s needed to ensure we can
attract the funding required to deliver our ambitious
investment programme

This was also the first year with Heidy Mottram as our
Chief Executive Officer {CEQ) Heidi's review of the year
15 1N pages 6 to 9 of this report It gives a sense of the
energy and determination she has brought 1o the
Group Our strategy has been reviewed and our values
reset All our employees have been engaged in the
work The result 1s not a change in our direction Rather,
it 1S a change in the pace and scale of improvements
sought and in our ambition against benchmarks

Woe are bullding on strengths developed over many
years but we recognise that the future will pose new
challenges and uncertainties, often outside our control
An example 1s the weather and Its impact on our
environment Another i1s possible reform to the
regulatory regme although, in that case, we are seeking
to influence change to ensure the company can deliver
its, and the Government's, objectives efficiently and
effectively The Board revtews all identified strategic
risks regularly, they are detailed on pages 50 and 51 of
this report We seek to judge and to manage the impact
of nsk on the business, financially and cperationally

The strong financial performance, delivered in difficult
and uncertain economic conditions, has enabled the
Board to recommend a dvidend for the year in line
with the objective we established in 2005 Annual real
increases of 3 0% have consistently been provided
since then The economuc chmaté remains uncertam
although we were pleased to note the agreement by
Sahavirrya Steel Industries (SSH) to take over the Corus
plant on Teesside and Hitachi's decision to build its
high speed train assembly plant in Durham These,
and other developments, should help us to stabilise
our demand in the future

Yet agam, the weather had a huge impact on our
operations during the year The worst winter in over
100 years posed many challenges for us Due to the
extraordinary work of teams across the company,
supplies to our customers were not affected | must
pay tribute to those who worked in exceptionally hard
conditions to guarantee supplies and to deal with the
Inevitably increased leakage quickly, although, mn these
circumstances, #t was not possible to achieve our
leakage target in the north

A number of reviews of our regulators are under
consideration We also expect a White Paper for Water
This does create uncertainty for the industry We believe
that, overall, the model for the industry has worked well
Much of the necessary change can be made by the
Industry in association with Government and regulators
without potentially disruptive change Regulatory
change must not undermine the confidence of

our investors

Our focus remains on our custormers and the trust they
put in us to delver for them each and aevery day and

for the tong term Ofwat has introduced the Service
Incentve Mechanism {SIM) in this five year penod and

In the two year trial penod we have improved our score
significantly Qur aim 1s to improve much further We
monitor the company's performance closely and, in

this report, show the balanced scorecard we have
introduced to do that It 1s also the base against which the
remuneration of all senior management will be assessed

Cur long term commitment o service to customers,
and to achieving efficiency and environmental targets,
requires long term investment The extension of
Abberton reservorr 1s a perfect example and there 1s a
case study of the project on page 43 It will help secure
the long term supply of water to our customers in
Essex Also worthy of note 1s the commencement of
work on our second advanced anaerobic digestion
plant, at Howdon, on north Tyneside This foliows the
successful operation of the plant at Bran Sands, cn
Teesside Together they will significantly increase our
use of renewable energy

The work of our people dunng the winter was
exceptional Thewr unstinting efforts throughout the year
are always evident and are the basis of our successes
We thank them for all they do and we seek to ensure
they have the night environment and personal
development opporturities We were listed as a
‘company 1o watch’ in the Sunday Times 'Best
Companies to work for' survey This was a significant
result as It was the first tme we had taken part
However, this was not a surprise as our employee
survey showed that levels of satisfaction are high

Qur employees are active in our Just an hour’
volunteering scheme, working in the communities we
serve These communities are important to us and we
have developed significant partnerships to ensure that
we support and help to sustain them That work 15 part
of a corporate respensibility programme covening all
aspects of our business and seeking to embed
sustainability at all levets

| must thank my fellow directors for their support
during the year | would particularly ke to thank Claude
Lamoureux, who leaves the Board after this year's
Annuat General Meeting (AGM), for his five years on
the Board He has provided us with wisdom and an
international dimension Anita Frew and Alastarr Balls
both left the NWL board after nine years of dedicated
service We wish them all well We have welcomed
Paul Rew to the Board since last year's AGM as well
as Simon Lyster, who has been a member of the NWL
board for five years The board has considerable
strength, drawn n part from the diverse backgrounds
and expernience of the directors

Sir Derek Wanless
Chairman
31 May 2011
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Chief executive
officer’s review

This review highlights our business activity during
my first year as CEQ of NWG.

It has been a hugely enjoyable year, and also a
very interesting one, as | took time to understand
the business, listen to its stakeholders and
employees and work with them to develop

a way forward.




I joined a company which already had a good
reputation and | was impressed immediately by the
loyalty and commitment of the workiorce It was the
start of a new five year investment pernod for NWL and
} have taken the opportunity to couple that plan with

a reviaw of our strategy, vision and values

NWL had previously stated its vision to 'be the national
leader m the provision of sustainable water and waste
water services’, and our commitment to this 1s
reaffrmed We want to continue to deliver value o
customers and other stakeholders by focusing on

our core competencies of water and waste water
management We underpin our drive to be the best
with five strategic themes containing goals and targets
that, when reached, will see our vision and our values
delivered In the autumn, ‘Our Vision Qur Values Cur
Way' was introduced to all our employees during a
serigs of Interactive roadshows and, as a result, there
IS clarty and energy throughout the company which

1s driving the business forward

The five themes described below are mutually
supportive and achieving the right batance between
them 1s essential 1o our success and reputation

Customer focuses on delivering industry-leading
customer service Qur relationship with customers is
care to the success of our business and 1t 1S essential
that they trust our service Customer service 1s at the
heart of the company and all employess have a clear
focus on getting things ‘nght first time every time’
Although we are required to meet regulated standards
for customer service, this should not define our
aspiration as the quality of our service must go
beyond that

Competitiveness will drive us to greater efficiency
and, indeed, to be the most efficient water company
H1s not just about driving cost down but using
innovation to support our activity

People are our greatest asset and we want to be
recognised as a great company to work for with high
levels of satisfaction from cur employees Wea will
provide support and training and promote excellent
employee relations

Environment is criticat 10 us and our stakeholders
and we acknowledge our responsibilities to protect
and enhance the natural environment Qur carbon
management plan will help raduce our carbon footprint
and we will adopt good environmental practice in alt
aspects of our actvity

Communities are mportant to us and we want o
bulld strong relationships with the communities we
serve We will ensure that corporate responsibilty ts
embedded In performance management and that we
benchmark ourselves against the best companies

We have agreed specific goals to help us achieve
our vision against these themes, and have clear
accountability for their achreverment throughout

the company These are measured in a balanced
scorecard which assesses our performance against
key performance indicators (KPIs) This i1s reviewed
by the Board, management team and all employees
on a monthly basis

| beheve that clear direction and goals are key to
success, but Just as important 1s a clear sense of
values, and how we do things ‘arcund here’ Se at
the same time as reviewing our vision, we have
made a clear commiment to five core values

One team - we work together consistently, promoting
co-operation, to achieve our corporate objectives

Customer focused — we am to exceed the
expectations of our external and internal customers

Results dnven - we take personal responsibility for
achreving excellent business resuits

Creative — we continugusly strive for innovative and
better ways to deliver our business

Ethical - we are open and honest In meeting our
commitments, with a responsible approach to the
environment and our communities
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Chief executive officer’s review

continued

2010/1

The company was successful in meeting many of the
targets n 4s balanced scorecard durning the year Qut
of 26 targets we Improved in 18, which 1s a very goed
start Most notable were the improvements in sewer
flooding, our SIM score for customer service as well as
the reduction in the number of Interruptions to supply
We were also very proud to retain our industry-leading
position In sewage treatment Our iIndependent
custorner satisfaction scores stil show that customers
are satisfied with the service we provide as well as value
for money although we were disappointed that this
was not reflected at the same level in the research
undertaken by the Consumer Council for Water
(CCwater) this year

The report will also focus on many highlights throughout
the year but the development of our work to extend
Abberton reserverr and commence our second
advanced anaerobic digest:on piant at Howdon, after
the successful operation at Bran Sands, are particularly
notable The worst winter for over 100 years challenged
our employees but they responded magnificently
ensuring that no supplies were interrupted This was a
fantastic achievernent and | am very proud and grateful
for the commitment and hard work of so many of our
employess in truly dreadful weather conditions

The company also continued to receive external
recognition for its activity This year, Ethisphere listed
NWG in 1its top 110 most ethical comparnies in the world,
one of only five companies chasen in the UK This
recognises the impact we have on underpinning the
communities in which we operate and also recognises
our longstanding relationships with key industnal and
commercial customers

We continue to be actively nvolved in the business
community in all operating areas through direct
membership and involverment in the councils/boards
of the Confederation of Britsh Industry {CBI), Chambers
of Commerce and other simifar organisations For
my part, | have been getting involved In a number of
arganisations which | believe can influence the future
of the company and locally | am a member of the
CBI Counclil and have been asked to join ther
nationa! Infrastructure Group | have also jomned the
Government's Green Econemy Council as the water
industry representative and | hope that the Council
can bring a real influence to the development of
policy relating to a low carben sconomy

This year, industrial demand has stabiised and we were
particularly pleased with the sigrung of the agreement
by SSI from Thaland to secure the future of the Corus
plant on Teesside There 1s evidence of some industral
growth particularly with the confirmation that Hitachi will
develop a site In Durham to assemble its high speed
trains Metering of our domestic customers continues
to increase, although at a different pace i our various I
areas of supply, and domestic demand 1s also steady
The collection of Income remains a key focus for us,
particularly in a difficult economic climate

Private drains and sewers

One of the major challenges we face in 2011/12 1s the
transfer of private drains and sewers t¢ the industry in
October This will almost double our sewerage network
overnight and much work s already in hand to assess
what 15 needed in terms of staffing, building effective
data, information sharing and ¢communications to
customers We don't fully know the impact of the
transfer yet, but it will tead to higher costs, in the order
of £20 milion a year initially, which we will need to
recaver in this five year investment pericd The industry
has worked well In partnership, via Water UK, to come
up with the most practical cost effective way forward
for customers




Legislative changes

We look forward to publication of the Government’s
White Papers on Water and the Natural Environment later
this year The former should bring greater clarty in areas
such as water resource planning, metering, social tarffs
and broader market reform We have worked with the
industry, through Water UK, to set out a viston of how the
Government can achieve many of its objectives without
legislation or with only minor legislative changes NWL
has held frequent mestings with Defra and contributed
ideas on water trading and abstraction reform including

a jomt project ("Trading theory for Practice’) with Anglian
Water, Cambndge Water and Veolla We remam
committed to any moves that can deliver clear and
demonstrable mprovements for customers, other
stakeholders and the wider environment

The Water White Paper will be an opportunity ic end
unhelpful speculation around the future regulatory
regime and provide a clear wsion for the future of the
water industry that retains the confidence of customers
and investors alke

In addition, we await the publication for consultation
of draft Regulations from Defra to introduce a duty

on landlords to provide water companies with relevant
detals so that accurate bills can be issued to tenants
This should assist in collecting income from the
private rented sector where bad debts have been
relatively high

Regulatory reform

We welcome the conclusions of the Defra review of
Ofwat and CCWater conducted by Dawvd Gray We
also welcome the view that the overall regulatory
framework, Including the continued role for a separate
customer body, 15 generally fit for purpose We support
the call for regulatory simplfication and a reduced
reporting burden which 1s already being championed
enthusiastically by Ofwat We also support further
clanfication of the respectve roles of Government

and reguiators and a call for more transparency

in consultation processes

We strongly support the maove by Ofwat to significantly
reduce the burden of regulatory reporting and move
towards risk-based regulation A useful start was
made in the smplified 2011 June Return reporting
requirements but we support the proposal for more
radical change in 2012 We have been working In
partnership with Ofwat to pilot a set of high level KPIs
to be reported by companies in place of the current
detalled and prescriptive reporting requirements

Ofwat has published a seres of consultation and
discussion papers on the subject of ‘Future price imits’
We have responded to these papers and also engaged
In a range of workshops, meeiings and informal
discussions with Ofwat We beheve the more focused
approach to regulation should be reflected i the
approach to future price reviews as well as the annual
reporting cycle We welcome Ofwat's intention {0 adopt
a more outcome-focused approach to price setting and
have made suggestions as to how the price setting
methodology could be simplified and made more
transparent We look forward to responding to Ofwat's
forrmal consultation paper outlring is proposais for
future prnce reviews later in the year

The Ofitce of Farr Trading has announced a market
study looking at whether the market for treatment of
organic waste 15 working effectively to deliver the best
outcomes for customers NWL was an early investor
in advanced anaerobic digestion technology and we
welcome this review as 1t should provide the clanty
required to inform investment decisions

Summary

This has been a very good year for the Group We are
reporting a strong set of results, we have a clear vision
and goals to deliver and have made good progress in
performance in many areas There Is a strong sense of
energy, commitment and accountability in the business
and | am confident of further success in 2011/12

Heiwdi Mottram
Chief Executive Officer
31 May 2011
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Our corporate

responsibility

In previous years, in ine with many other companies,
we have reported on corporate responsibiity
separately within this report Duning the year, a review
of our wision, values and strategy has gwen us the
opportunity to truly embed sustainability throughout
our business Reflecting the mportance of
sustainability to our business we believe that we
should report sustainability 1Issues alongside our core
business actwities and we have decided to highight
sustainabtlity areas throughout our annual report In
green We recognise that this 1s an innovative
approach and would welcome any feedback This
activity 1s extensive and it 1 not possible to include
everything here As a result, key sustainability issues
appear in green boxes and are linked to our
Sustanability Highhights document, a partner
document to this annual report, which contains more
detaited information on our responsible business
practice policies, plans, KPIs and case studies

NWL 1s expected to provide a secure supply of water,
a basic necessity for health, and to protect or enhance
the environment when we return waste to it Our
stakeholders also expect us to

— behave farly and responsibly,

— use rasources wisely,

— improve guality of Iife, and

— contribute to economic development

We believe that sustainabiity helps to improve the
performance of the company and to achieve our
business strategy and objectives This 1s reflected

In our business plan where our sustainabihity
objectives are woven into our core business strategy
Our credentials for our work have been recognised
and these are outined on page 44 Busingss in

the Commurity (BITC) has highlighted that those
companies participating in their Corporate
Responsibility Index outperform other FTSE 250
companies and Ethisphere highights simitar
outperformance for ethical companies NWG's share
prnice has outperformed against the FTSE 250 over
the last five years as highlighted on page 78

Cur customer research also highlights that customers
value the work of NWL in the community and for

the environment and 1t helps to build therr trust in

our work Each aspect of the highlighted work in

this report has a direct bensfit to the company, its
community and its environment, such as cost saving,
carbon reduction, environmental impact, skills
development or leverage Case studies throughout
our annual report, for example on advanced anaerobic
digestion or use of reed beds in water treatment,
demonstrate the tangible business benefits such

as reduced costs and power consumption

To ensure that sustanability runs throughout the
business, all parts of the Company are involved from
the Board through to all employees Governance of
our sustainabity activity 1s led by our Corporate
Responsibility Committee (CRC), a subcommittee of
the NWL board The CRC comprises non-executive
directors, executive directors, the CEO {who is directly
accountable to the NWL and NWG boards for both the
environment and sustainable development policies)
and senior managers from across the business In
addition, a CR Advisory Group (CRAG) acts as a
critical fnend, helping to validate, guide and challenge
NWL’s sustainability strategy and actwities The CRAG !
1s made up of senior reprasentatives from partner

orgarusations to reflect the key areas of our

commuruties strategy

“Northumbrian Water Group’s driving commitment
to sustainability demonstrates that strong leadership
and ambition can make a tangible difference to
communities and the envronment ”
Simon Lyster Chair, CRC

“Northumbrian Water Group has an open and
inclusive approach to working with a wide array of
external partners to develop extremely iImpressive
soctal and environmental intiatives "

Norma Hope, Char, CRAG
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Our performance
measures

The Group monitors performance using a range of financial and non-financial KPls Performance aganst these
indicators 1s reported within the ‘our financial performance’ and ‘our operating performance’ sections later in

this report

Looking forward, the financial KPIs remain unchanged for 2011/12 However, in order to measure delivery of the
Company business plan and goals, a balanced scorecard of KPIs has been introduced, which replaces the
existing non-financial KPIs These indicators are spread across the themes of customer, competitiveness, people,
envirenment and communities and targets have been set on a trajectory to deliver the company wision of being
‘the national leader In water and waste water services’

In order to ensure alignment of the management team, this balanced scorecard now represents 80% of the critena
contributing to their annual bonus, with a further 20% avalable for the achievement of bespoke personal targets

The table below detalls those KPls and the targets that have been set for 2011/12 A full explanation of each

target follows

% Contnibution 1o

Strategic theme Scorecard measure Target 2011712 available bonus
Customer Customer satisfaction

- SIM guantitative score 174 2

- SIM qualitative score 44 2

Unplanned interruptions »8 hours

= north 8co 4

- south 600

Colform incidents (nc) 15 4
Competitiveness Profit before tax Set by Board 36

Capital efficiency Set by Board 4
People Engagement and satisfaction index (%) 81 4

Lost time reportable accidents (no ) 11 4
Environment Leakage (Mid)

- north 147 4

— south 66

Sewage freatment works comphance (%) 100 4

Pollution ingidents (categones 1 & 2) 3 4
Communities FTSE4Good accreditation Retain 4

BITC Platnum Plus accreditafion Retain 4
Personal targets Bespoke Bespoke 20




Meoasure

Defiribon of measwre

Customer
Customer satisfaction -
SIM quantitative score

SIM guantitative measurs, based on cusiomer contacts Contacts are normalised per thousand
connected properties and multiplied by a weighting factor for each ‘unwanted' category
Categores includs unwanted custcmer calls, abandoned calls, first stage written complaints,
second stage wntten complaints and CCWater investigations The lower the score the higher
the customer satisfaction

Customer satisfaction -
SIM qualitative score

SIM qualitative measure, assessing satisfaction of consumers across their expenance from first
corespondence to final resolution, through independent surveys Surveys are camed out four
times a year for water, waste water and biling contacts and the average score taken A score of
5 indicates maximum satisfaction

Unplanned interruptions
»6 hours

A weaighted sconng of the number of properties affected by interruptions to supply of more than
six hours' duration which are unplanned, unwarned (excluding overruns of planned and wamed
Interruptions) except for those caused directly by third parties It includes interruptions for which
customers are notified less than 48 hours in advance The sconng weights interruptions which
exceed 12 hours, and heavily weights those which exceed 24 hours

Coliform incidents

Total number of coliform fallures in regulatory samples at water treatment works and service
reservors One coliform or more s a faling sample

Competition
Profit before tax

Actual profit before tax compared 10 the budget approved by the Board, adjusted for the impact

of vanances related to Indexation on index linked bonds, which depends on the July RPIIn the year
Profit before tax has been chosen because 1t ts a pnmary financial measure for the Group for which
the executive directors are accountable

Capital efficiency

An annual assessment of the efficiency of the NWL. capital nvestment programma 1s undertaken
by the Board

People
Engagement and
satisfaction index (%)

The Engagsment and Satisfaction Index 1s calculated from scores for 13 items selected from the
annuat employee survey These tems align to the Sunday Times Best Companies survey and give
ameasure of employee satisfaction

Lost time reportable
accidents (no )

Accidents reportable to the Health and Safety Executive resulting In more than three days lost
from work

Environment
Leakage {Mid)

Water natwork leakage for the financial year, as reported to Ofwat

Sewage treatment works
comphance (%)

Percentage of population equivalent served by sewage treatment works complant with
Environment Agency (EA) look-up table consgents

Pollution incidents
(categones 1 & 2)

Number of category 1 and 2 pollution incidents in the calendar year, as defined by the EA Category
115 a maor water pollution Incident and category 2 1s a significant water polltion incident

Communnies

FTSE4Good accreditation Accreditation by FTSEAGood index senes, which has been designed to objectively measure the
performance of comparies that meet globally recognised corperate responsibility standards
BITC Platinum Plus Accrediation by BITC at Platinurm Plus level, the lighest level in therr corporate respensibility index

accreditation

BITC 1s a natienal business-led chanty which advises, challenges and supports its membsers to
create a sustainable future for people and the planet and to mprove business perfomance
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Our market

The largest of NWG’s businesses,

NWL, operates in the north east and

south east of England. The two

areas have very different economic,

demographic and water resource
characteristics.

Our external environment

In the north east, thera has been a gradual fall In
overall water demand in recent decades as a
consequence of a reduction In industrial demand
for water This frend 1s expected to continue but the
pace of decline has now stabilised after some
industrial closures during the economic recession
The north east compares well to the rest of the
country as far as water resources are concerned
and our major regional rivers can all be suppoerted
by Kielder Water This provides very high security
of supply for our customers We also provide the
highest levels of compliance for waste water across
this area ensuring that we can return the water

and sewage sludge to the environment satisfactorly
whilst meeting the demands of all customers

Bran Sands 1s particularly important in this respect
as it supports the heavily ndustrialised area within
Teesswde by treating its waste The advanced
anaerobic digestion plant there 18 now aperating
effectively and helping us to builld our use of
renewable energy

NWLs southern operating area I1s In a water scarce
region that is forecast to experience further
economic and population growth in the medium
term While this area has also seen a reduction in
demand from heavy Industry, and the recession

Is Iikely to dampsn housing growth in the near future,
we have a current deficit, meaning supplies are

not secure In a severe drought Future growth will
intensify the pressure on the balance between
supply and demand NWL 1is implementing long

term plans to ensure the avallability of water supplies
to meet both current and future demand in the
region After approval from the EA, the project

to increase the capacity of Abberton reservorr,

near Colchester, coupled with ongoing demand
management measures, will secure supplies to

the Essex area for the foreseeable future



JIOAIDER2 UOLIBAY

The current pressures within financial markets have
besn well documented and the credit crunch has
resulted in reduced availabilily of certain types of
finance It 15 highly unhkely there wiil be a return to the
exceptionally low cost of debt expenenced from late
2005 to early 2007 Although market conditions have
improved In recent months, some uncertainty remains
With the financing we have already put In place, we are
sheltered from this uncertainty in the short term as we
will not need to raise any new debt before March 2014

Regulatory and legislative framework

As a monopoly supplier of an essential public service,
the UK water industry operates within a demanding
regulatory environment

Ofwat regulates prices and levels of customer service,
while the Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) monitors
drinking water quality and the EA covers environmental
protection Customers’ interests are represented

by CCWater

NWL aims 1o maintain good working relationships with
Its regulators and with regional organisations, such as
local authorities, which have an interest in the services
it provides and can influence the company’s business
This 15 particularly important following Government
reviews of the regulators, changes in regutatory
reporting and proposals to legislate in the sector
following the publication of a White Paper later in

the year
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Our financial
performance

NWG and NWL use a range of financial KPIs to monitor
the financial standing of the businesses and to ensure
that strong credit ratings are maintained. The definition,
purpose and source of each KPI are shown on page 52.

Performance against the financial KPlIs is set out below:

Performance
Target Current year Previous year
NWG NWL NWG NWL NWG NWL
Gearing to RCV (%) <75 <70 632 563 66 61
Cash interest cover (times) >25 >30 32 40 33 39
Cash flow to net debt (%) >13 >13 16 20 15 18

Notes
1 Less than 65% for the regulated business of NWL

2 NWG s pro forma Regulatory Capital Valua (RCV) at 31 March 2011 was £3 §43 1 milion (2010 £3 420 5 milicn) (see balow)

3 NWLs RCV as advised by Ofwat, at 31 March 2011 was £3 318 4 millien (2010 £3 085 0 mulhon)




The pro forma Group RCV includes £219 1 million (2010
£218 8 milion} and £105 6 milion 2010 £106 7 million)
for the Kielder secuntisation and private finance inhative
{PFl) contracts, respectively Adding these to NWL's
RCV of £3,318 4 million (2010 £3,095 0 millon), resuits
In a pro forma Group RCV of £3,6431 milkon (2010
£3,420 5 million)

The Group's gearing on this pro forma basis has
decreased from 66% to 63%, with net debt increasing
by £411 milhon (1 8%) to £2,303 5 milion over the year,
while pro forma Group RCV has increased by 6 5%
due principally to the increase In RPI

Gearnng at NWL, and for the regulated business, has
reduced to 56% from 61% and 60% respectively This
1s due to the impact of the high RPI increase on the
RCV and a reduction in net debt reduced over the
period of £28 5 million to £1,868 3 million, due to the
tming of intra-Group dwvidends which were paid after
the balance sheet date

The Group also prepares detaled medium term
business plans and annual budgets, which are reviewed
and submitted to the Board for approval Targets are
set to measure performance and regular financial
forecasts are made Business plans and budgets
nclude an assessment of the key nsks and success
factors facing each business unit On a monthly basis,
management compares the actual operational and
financial performance of each business with plan and
budget and this Is reported to the Beard

Fimancial results and dividends

Year to
313201

£m
Profit for the year 178 4
Interm dividend paid {ordinary — 4 72 pence
per share) 245
Finat dvidend proposed (ordinary — 9 57
pence per share) 496
NWG

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2011
Increased by 4 7% to £738 1 million (2010 £704 7
mithon) Water and sewerage charges at the Group's
principal subsidiary NWL., increased in ine with the
price review {final determination) allowance of 5 0%
plus the November 2008 RPI of 0 3% Income from
the Group's water and waste water contracis
Increased by 4 4%

Operating costs increased by £5 0 millon {1 2%) to
£433 9 million, principally reflecting movements at NWL,
which are detailed below, and the one-off recovery of
claim costs by Caledomian Environmental Services
{CES) in the prior year Profit on ordinary activities
before interest for the year was £304 2 million (2G10
£275 8 million), an increase of 10 3%

Net interest charges increased by £17 4 milhon withun
which net cash interest charges increased by £2 6
millon The non-cash element of the increase principally
reflects inflation of the principal on the Index nked
bonds (£28 5 millon} and an increase in the interest
cost of pension plan obligations {€£7 2 millon) These
were partially offset by better than expected returns
on pension assets (£13 9 midbon) and one-off credits
m respect of the acquisition of the remaining 25 0%
subordinated loan stock in CES not already held by
the Group {£4 6 millon) and a termination discount on
the transfer of a finance lease to a new counterparty
{£2 9 milion)

Profit on ordinary activities before tax for the year

was £181 0 milion, 6 3% higher than the previous year
(2010 £170 2 milliony The current tax charge reduced
to £33 1 milion (2010 £37 8 milien) princigally reflecting
increased profitability more than offset by adjustments
In respect of prior periods

The deferred tax crecit of £30 5 milion (2010 charge of
£9 5 millior) reflects a decrease in the Group's deferred
tax lability of £48 3 million following the enactment of a
reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 28 0% to

26 0% with effect from 1 Aprt 2011

The effective tax raie for the period was 1 4% (2010
27 8%) reflecting the impact of the deferred tax rate
change In the absence of the rate change, and
other prior year items, the effective rate would

have been 28 5%

Capnial investment for the Group was £219 9 milion
(2010 £236 3 milon restated), including recognition
of £13 9 millon for assets adopted at £nil cash
consideration, as required under IFRIC 18 Transfers
of Assets from Customers (2010 £14 0 million)

Fa%
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Our financial performance
continued

NWL

Revenue was £683 4 million for the year ended 31
March 2011 (2010 £657 8 millon] The increase I1s
mainly due to the applcation of the final determination
ncrease of 5 0%, and 0 3% in respect of RPI, on water
and sewerage charges Demand from both domestic
and industrial customers has remained steady

Operating costs increased by £2 9 mihon (0 7%) to
£391 8 million, principally reflecting increases in
depreciation, pension charges and water efficiency
costs, partially offset by savings on power (£6 1 milhon),
cther efficiencies and one-off charges in the prior

year both for restructuring costs (£5 4 million) and for
bad debt relating o the closure of a major customer
(€17 milior}

Profit on ordinary activities before interast for the year
was £297 8 milicn {2010 £268 9 milion)

Capital investment in the regulated business for the
pericd was £221 5 milion, under regulatory accounting
gudelnes (2010 £218 3 milion) This 1s shghtly lower
than the final determination profile, deflated by the
Construct:on Industry Price Index (COPI), due to some
delays in maintenance mvestment as a result of the
savere winter weather, but this should be recovered

in future years Itis difficult to assess any potential
outperformance over the AMPS pencd at this early
stage given the volatile nature of COPI but we remain
focused on delivering our regulatory programme

We have recently tendered our major procurement
arrangements covering water treatment, waste water
treatment and waste water networks and have
appomnted 18 contractors and consultants to framework
agreements covering an estmated £1 5 billion of
Investment over the next ten years, commencing 1 Apnl
2011 In addition, we are currently undertaking a tender
process to appoint addiional contractors in readiness
for the transfer of responsibility for private drains and
sewers on 1 October 2011

Early n the year, we instigated an efficiency programme
focused on dentifying and implementing sustainable
operating cost efficiencies in order to achieve our
medium term goal of being N the top efficiency band for
both water and sewerage, as measured by Ofwat, by
2013/14 This programme has progressed well and, as
a result, we are ahead of aur final determination profite
Further information on this programme Is provided on
page 28

Water and waste water contracts

QOur water and waste water contracts in Scotland, lreland
and Gibraltar are all performing well and are In line with
expectations Revenue for the contracts increased to
£40 0 millon for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010
£38 3 million), principally as a result of the settiement of
outstanding claims and indexation on revenue tariffs,
both at CES Profit on ordinary actviies before interest
was £9 5 mihon (2010 £10 2 mullion), reducing as a result
of a one-off recovery of claim costs in the prior year,
partially offset by the increased revenues

The Group s involved in two projects to deliver fong
term PFl contracts with Scottish Water for waste water
treatment In Aprl 2010, the Group acquired the
remaining 25% non-controling equity interast in CES
for a nominal sum resulting in an increase of £0 6 millon
in equity shareholders’ funds It also purchased the
remaining 25% subordinated loan stock fora
consideration of £0 4 millon which, when compared to
the book value of the loan stock of £5 0 million, resulted
in a £4 6 million gain that has been recognised i net
finance costs in the period

At CES, the Group now has a 100% shareholding In
both project and cperatng companies and the benefit
of a 40 year contract Funding was provided through
a 37 year fixed interest rate corporate bond with the
principal amortising from 2008

In Ayrshire, the Group has a 75% shareholding in the
project company and a 100% shareholding in the
company that operates the three effluent treatment
plants that compnse this 30 year contract Finance was
provided through a 27 year loan on a fixed interest basis
with the principal amortising from 2003




In Ireland, the Group 18 part of a contractual consortium
that designed and built a waste water treatment plant
for Cork City Council Under the consertium agreement,
the Group has responsibility for a 20 year contract for
the operation and mantenance of the plant During the
year, the Group added to its Insh project portfoho by
signing a 20 year operation and maintenance contract
for the Fermoy and Mallow waste water treatment
works, with Cork County Council, commencing 1

May 2011

AguaGib Limsted, which 1s two thirds owned by the
Group In a joint venture with the Government of
Gibraltar, operates Gibraltar's dual drinking water
and sea water distribution systems under its 30 year
contract with the Government of Gibraltar

Other

Agrer

Revenue for the year to 31 March 2011 was £8 3 million
(2010 £8 5 millon) Durning the year, Agrer has signed
new contracts and extensions with a total gross margin
of €17 millon At 31 March 2011, the gross margin of
the order book is in excess of €21 million

The most significant new contracts signed during the
year include provision of technical assistance to a local
development and management of natural resources
programme in Chad (€1 3 million — 54 months),
improvernent of the agricultural products value chans
in Mah (€0 5 millon — 20 months), a country evaluation
of Nepal, Nicaragua and Tanzania (€0 5 million —

six months) and a new Framework contract for the
European Commussion Lot 1 Studies and technical
assistance in all sectors {four years) In the technical
assistance to the Good Governance programme In
Burund, a significant extension has been signed

(€0 9 rmilion — 28 months)

Earnings per share and dividends

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for the year
were 34 44 pence and 34 38 pence respectively (2010
23 67 pence and 23 62 pence respectively)

The directors consider that EPS adjusted for the
volatility inherent in some deferred tax items gives a
better indication of the Group’s underlying performance
In previous years, an adjustment has been made

for total deferred tax However, the directors have
concluded that the ongoing deferred tax charge
forms part of underlying performance and it 1Is more
appropriate to only adjust for significant non-recurring
deferred tax tems For the current perod, EPS from
continuing operations, adjusted for the deferred tax
credit relating to the corporation tax rate reduction,
were 25 50 pence (2010 restated 23 67 pence)

A final dividend of 9 57 pence per share for the year
ended 31 March 2011 will be recommended by the
Board to shareholders at the AGM on 28 July 2011

and, if approved, will be paid on 9 September 2011 to
shareholders on the Company's Register of Members at
the close of business on 12 August 2011 Together with
the ordinary interm ¢ividend of 4 72 pence per share,
the ordinary dividends paid and proposed for the year
wili be 14 29 pence per share (2010 13 24 pence per
share} This represents an increase of 7 9%, based on
average inflation over the year of 4 9%, on the ordinary
dividends for the previous year and I1s consistent with
the Board’s decision to maintan a progressive dividend
policy with real increases of 3 0% per annum The
dividend cover for the year, excluding significant,
non-recurnng deferred tax, was 19 times (2010

18 times)

The board of our main subsidiary, NWL, has proposed
a dvidend policy consistent with the undertying growth
assumptions adopted by Ofwat at the price review

in 2009

Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited,
which at the date of this report held 765,962 shares to
be used in the future to satisfy the vesting and exercise
of awards under the Company’s Long Term Incentive
Plan {LTIP), has waived the nght to all dividends on the
shares It hoids Further detalls of the LTIP can be found
in the directors' remuneration report
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Our financial performance
continued

Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared n accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards {IFRS) as adopted by the
turcpean Union as it applies to the financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011

Capital structure and hquidity

As at 31 March 2011 the Group and NWUs regulated
business debt structure remain largely unchanged from
the previous year end date

In February 2011, the Group agreed a new £100 0 million
US private placement with a ten year maturity at a
coupon of 5 82%, the proceeds of which were received
on 14 Apni 2011 On the same date, this and existing
cash reserves were used to refinance £125 0 millon of
holding company debt maturing in May 2011 NWL has
also recewved approval for a new £150 0 milhion facility
from the EIB which will be drawn in three £50 0 milhon
tranches, In the calendar years 2011 to 2013, at interest
rates to be determined at the time of drawdown

The Group and NWLs regulated business debt
structure remain largely unchanged with 74% (NWL
70%) fixed at an average rate of 5 80% (NWL 5 98%),
20% (NWL 23%) index linked at an average real rate of
1 85% (all NWL) and 6% (NWL 7%;) on a varable rate
basis The blended average rate for the Group and
NWLs regulated business for the year ended 31 March
2011 was 5 80% and 5 93% (2010 4 62%, 4 45%),
respectively, reflecting increased RPI

Cash interest cover has remained stable for the year as
have the credit ratings for NWL at BBB+ stable (Fitch
and Standard & Poors) and Baal stable (Moody's)




Total cash, cash equivalents and short term cash
deposits available at 31 March 2011 amounted to
£1417 millon This, and the new EIB facility, 1s sufficient
to meet the requirements of the business through to the
end of March 2014

Treasury policy

The main purposes of the Group's treasury function
are to assess the Group’s ongoing capital requirement,
to mantain short term hquidity, ensunng access to
medium term committed back up facilities, and to
raise funding, taking advantage of any favourable
market opportuntties

It also invests any surplus funds the Group may have,
based on its forecast requirements and in accordance
with the Group’s treasury policy On occasions,
denvatives are used as part of this process, but the
Group's policies prohibit ther use for speculation

Full detalls are provtded in note 20 to the financial
statements The Group 1s operating In comphance
with its policies

Pensions

The Group operates both a defined benefit pension
scheme, which 1s closed to new entrants, and an
occupational defined contribution arrangement

The deficit {under International Accounting Standard
(I1AS) 19 Retirement Benefits) of the defined benefit
scheme has decreased from £133 1 milton, at 31 March
2010, to £46 O milbon at 31 March 2011 This 1s due to
a raduction in the liabiities of the scheme (£37 2 million)
and an increase In the value of scheme assets (£49 9
million) The valuation of the scheme liabilities has taken
account of legislative changes which mean that future
statutory deferred revaluations and statutory pension
incraases will be inkad to the Consumer Price Index
(CPly As a consequence, CPtincreases have been
applied for deferred pensions in all sections of the
scheme and to those sections where the scheme rules
link Increases to the Government's pension Ncrease
orders This has given rise to a reduction in the scheme
labilties of around £36 0 milion

Following the 2004 actuanal valuation the Group
prepaid contributions for the period to 31 December
2010 In place of recommencing regular contributions
from 1 January 2011, the Group agreed (o pay
further advance contributions to the scheme totaling
£70 0 mihon for the period to 31 March 2015 Amounts
totalling £22 9 millon were pad in the period to

31 March 2011 and a further £47 1 mifion was pad

n Aprl 2011 These payments comprise employers’
contributions and the deficit recovery funding
assumed m the final determination

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme as at
31 December 2010 1s underway
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Our operating
performance

We use arange of KPls to measure non-financial
performance in the business and these indicators are
reviewed by the management team each month.
Performance for the year is reported in this section.
The definition, purpose and source of each KPI are
shown on pages 52 to 53.

These measures have been reviewed in the year, as
outlined in ‘our performance measures’ on page 12,
and a new balanced scorecard of KPIs has been
introduced for 2011/12.
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Customer

Putting customers first

Customer service 1s at the heart of the company

and the culture of getting things ‘nght first tme

every time’ 1s embedded in the business We keep
customers informed about our actwvities through
leaflets with bills and cur websites at www nwl co uk
and www eswater co uk The sites include information
about our services and now allow customers to ask
guestions and investigate work being carried out In
therr area If customers are directly affected by any
work, we give advance warning and explain the need
for the tirming of such work We alsc communicate
more broadly with local communities through pubhc
meetings and customer information events

Customer satisfaction

Wa measure the views of our customers with quarterly
tracking research alongside qualitative work in focus
groups This helps us to understand therr views on
service, value for mongy and other 1ssues as wall

as therr general perception of the company NWL
measures ts performance for domestc customers In
two key ways, customer research and performance
against standards

Customer research 1s carried out each quarter in the
regions served and the table below shows the key
results for overall satisfaction with service and value
for money

Target Performance

2010/11 2010/11
Overall service (%) N 89
Value for money (%) 87 85
Note
1 Satsfaction measured on a nat bagis (see appendix to the direclors repEM - busiNess review)
Customer service
The performance aganst standards of service is shown below
North (N} Toerget Pertormance
South (S) 2010/11 2010711
Properties at nisk of low pressure N 256 230
S 55 41
Properties subject to unplanned interruption of six hours or more N 1,700 1,573
S 1,100 700
Properties subject to hosepipe bans at any tme during the year N/S 0 0
Properties subject to sewer flooding (other causes) N 150 253
Properties at nsk of sewer flooding {once in ten years or twice in ten years) N 688 487
Billing contacts responded to (within five working days) (%) N 99 3 893
S 993 997
Written complaints responded to (within ten workang days) (%)’ N n/a 999
S n/a 99 8
Bills based on meter readings (%} N 999 99 87
S 999 99 83

Note

1 New SIM measures were introduced in 2010/11 which incorparate this KPI, theretora no separete target set
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Our operating performance
Customer continued

in addition, Ofwat introduced the SIM In the year,
which monitors both quantitative and qualitative
aspects of customer service This new mechamsm
financially iIncentivises the best performing companies
and penalises the worst, endeavouring to simulate
competiion and encourage excellent service
throughout the industry Qur am s to be the

leachng company for SIM

The quantitative aspect of SIM includes metrics for all
Iines busy and abandoned calls, unwanted calls, written
complamts and CCWater investigations, each of which
are worth a number of penalty points depending upon
the severity Results across all metncs improved during
the year, customer complaints continue to reduce and
our quantitative SIM score for 2010/11 was 211, a
significant improverment compared to 2009/10 when
our score equated to 331

The qualtative aspect of SIM takes the form of a survay,
which 1s conducted each gquarter across every water
company and asks customers who have made contact
with us about therr expenence QOur cumulative score
for the four quarterly surveys was 4 14 out of 5, an
improvement on the previous year's score of 410

The way we handle customer complaints 1s reviewed
annually by CCWater who assess cases against a range
of cntena During 2010/11, 96% of all cases reviewed
were assessed as goad We value the feedback
CCWater provide us and actively use ther suggestions
to further improve the customer expernencs

Affordability

We aim 1o provide accurate, clear and timely bills
which encourage prompt payment Customers
who deliberately avoid paying charges are actively
pursued In the current economic climate, we
know that affordability continues to be a genuine
concern for many customers and we continue to
be considerate of their circumstances, ensuring they
can choose suitable paymeant options and that our
recavery technigues are appropriate and effective
However, customers who deliberately avoid paying
charges are actively pursued and we are working
closely with Ofwat and Defra to seek changes to
legislation which will assist the industry to dentify
those responsible for charges more easily

The Flood and Water Management Act 2010
outlines how sewerage service providers may
operate concessions for surface water drainage
charges, to protect certain community groups

and premises from unaffordable charges We have
decided to introduce an intenim concessionary
charge for the chargmg year 1 Apnl 2011 to 31
March 2012 and wilt carry out consultation with
CCwater to determine the longer term future of
any concessions In the coming months

Business customers

The economic situation has had a significant impact
on some busingss sectors which are important in our
operating regions and NWL has baen working closely
with major customers in those sectors to mitigate the
impact where possible NWL has always trned to



work with s major customers In partnership and
the case study on page 27 highlights such work

at KP Foods While economic conditions remam
challenging, industrial demang has stabilised this
year following, for example, the development of the
former Artenius site by Lotte Chemical UK Limited
The agreement for the takeover of the Corus site
by S51 should help stabihse industrial demand
going forward

NWL 1s active in the business communities where it
operates as a member of the CBIl and Chambers of
Commerce By supporting these and smaller groups
NWL can help business growth and development in
the areas If serves as well as retaining contact with
organisations which represent customers Business
customer satisfaction 1s also tracked on a regular
basis and lavels of satisfaction are high

Leisure customers

NWL continues to develop its leisure facilities at all
strategic sites including investment in fishing facihties,
holiday accommaodation and supporting ‘access

for all’ Occupancy of the log cabins at Kielder was
85% and we have 5,814 fishing members registered
The combined activity of our reservorrs rates this
business the largest of its kind in the UK, with a high
customer satisfaction at all sites NWL s also an
active member of the Kielder Water & Forest Park
Devslopment Trust
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Strategy in action — Customer
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Working In
artnership

We always aim to exceed the expectations of our customers by
taking personal responsibility for delivenng and communicating
a good service and keeping promises We have many examples
of ‘nght first ime every time’, two of these are outlined below

Many of our domestic custormers have meters and pay bills based upon how much
water they use Having a meter can help save money, howaver, for those who have
larger famihes, big gardens or use lots of water, this can be more difficult

This was exactly the case for the Young family from Stockton-on-Tees Father of two
Stephen Young contacted us to discuss his metered bill and seek advice about ways
to reduce his charges Stephen already used water butts 10 store rainwater, however,
following our adwice, Stephen and his family made some smple changes including
turning off the tap white brushing therr taeth, taking shorter showers and using NWL's
water sfficiency pack containing a vanety of water saving devices

Commenting on the help and advice he receved, Stephen said "Getting in touch
with NWL1s easy | know my call will be answered straight away, which 1s amazing
these days that | will be able to speak to someone who cares and relates to my
concerns " Vikkl Anstey, our customer advisor who talked to Stephen, said “It's all
about listening to each customer's concerns and then making sure you meet therr
needs and go the extra mile to help them ™

We am to work In partnership with our major business customers as we know that
a key factor for them in their business is reliability and secunty of our services

Tees Valley crisp manufacturer KP Foods (KP) 1s a major customer of NWL's
Billingham sewage treatment works To improve KP's economic performance and
enhance the sustainabiiity of ts operations, KP proposed to construct a membrane
bioreactor to enable water to be treated and re-circulated at its plant NWL's account
manager worked with KP to ensure that the propoesed development did not
detrimentally impact on NWLs sewage treatment works compliance while providing
advice and support Both parties have benefited from the close, honest working
relationship which has resulted in a great deaf of trust and respect
— water consumption has been reduced meaning less abstraction, treatment and
pumping for NWL and lower water bills for KP, and
- the trade effluent discharge 15 cleaner and requires less treatmant, reducing the
cost of power and de-sludging for NWL, resulting in lower trade effluent discharge
costs for KP

NWL and KP have each increased therr competitiveness by improving therr efficiency
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Our operating performance

Competitiveness

Early in the year we instigated an
efficiency programme focused
on identifying and implementing
sustainable operating cost
efficiencies in order to achieve
our medium term goal of being
in the top efficiency band for
both water and sewerage,

as measured by Ofwat.

Efficiency programme

The efficiency programme has wentified around 100
projects and intiatives from across the whole business,
ranging from large scale strategic reviews to smaller
improvements at a local level Examples of some of the
changes underway include consolidating all chemical
analysis for our northern operating region at one
laboratory, the implementation of site-specific energy
managsment plans to reduce energy usage, Increastng
the capability of our website fo enable improved
customer self-service, investigating opportunities for
co-digestion of external waste streams at our advanced
anaserobic digestion plant at Bran Sands and insourcing
activities where it 1s more efficient and effective to

do so

These efficiencies are additional to the benefits already
secured through procuring our full energy requirements
to March 2015 and the headcount reductions resuiting
from severances and early retirements, for which
provision was made last year

Delivery of the programme 1s on schedule and, as a
result, we are ahead of the final determination profile
However, these benefits are partially offset by ihe
impact of the changes to the Carbon Reduction
Commitment Energy Efficency Scheme announced by
the Government in its Comprehensive Spending Review
in Cctober 2010, which 1s expected to increase energy
costs by around £3 0 millon next year with further
increases of up to £1 5 millon by 2014/15, and which
was not funded in the final determination

Other aspects of performance In relation to our
competitivengss theme are included in ‘our financial
performance’ an pages 16 to 21




Research and development

As part of its competitveness theme, NWL runs a

programme of research and development inked to

its operations, which includes the development of

technical solutions for water and waste water

management, collaborative research within the

sector and partnerships with academic and research

organisations and actively encourages innovation

This has supported the invention, development, trial

and/or implementation of

- advanced automatic control systems for waste
water treatment process,

- a device for reducing flooding and pollution,

~ microbial fuel cells and electrochemical cells,
which, respectively, generate electricity or
hydrogen from waste water,

- novel instruments for monitoring the quality of
waste water effluent,

- beneficial re-uses for water treatment sludge,

- low power de-watenng and thickening of water
treatment sludge,

— Internal Inspection of water distribution pipes
white In service,

— lining systems for extending the Ife expectancy
of water distnbution pipeas,

~ water efficient and rapid disinfection of water mans,

~ novel processes for dnnking water production and
waste water freatment,

- renewable energy production using biogas,

~ regeneration of browntield land using water
treatment by-products,

~ early warning system for leaks and bursts, and

— remote pipeling condition assessment

During the year, the Group invested £2 3 million
{2010 £21 million} in research and development

uoisalip IGoISBUR patUBADE SPURS URIg

Research carried out by London Economics for
Professor Martin Cave's 'Independent Review of
Competition and Innovation in Water Markets’ found
that, 1n terms of Innovation infrastructure, NWL was one
of the companies best equipped to promote innovation
in terms of the resources It dedicates
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Strategy in action - Competitiveness




World
irst at
anningfield

Aninitial stage of water treatment nvolves removing silts and algae
from raw reservoir water, a process which creates around two
million litres of a fernc (ron) based hquid sludge every day. Around
99 8% of this is water which, once separated, can be recycled
back to the reservorr for re-use In this case, innovation i1s clearly
linked to our competitiveness

Traditionally, sludge was discharged into lagoons storing the salids whilst allowing
clear water ‘o overflow back into the reservotr At Hanningfield, our largest water
treatment works, the last lagoon was near the end of its life and although 1t would
have been quicker and easier to have specified traditional mechanical treatment,

a considerable amount of work over three years was undertaken to prove that reed
beds could provids a sustanable and effective alternative for water sludge treatment
—a world first for a project of this scale

Natural England strongly supports the reed bed project at Hanningfield reservoir
because it will provide a sustanable, energy and carbon-efficient solution to the
long-term disposal of water treatment siudge It will also creata a significant reed bed
within a few hundred metres of Hanningfield reservorr which will be designated as a
site of spacial scientific interest that will be of use In its own nght for a vanety of
wildlife, including reed bed invertebrates, birds and foraging bats It will also provide
a regular water supply for a disused sludge lagoon within the siie of special scientific
mnterest which the company has recently restored very successfully as a wildiife-rich
mosaic of reed bed, open water, wet scrub and woodland
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Our operating performance

People

Employee policy

Each company within the Group has developed its
own employee polcies, reflecting the frameawork

set out In NWG's 'Our Code of Conduct’” These
policies are tailored to specific business cbjectives
and operating environments Each company ams

to recruit and retain the best people, with a dverse
range of skills, expensance and backgrounds, who are
committed to making the company successiul In
return, each company aims to provide opportunities
and training for employees to develop their skills and
capabilities to equip them to meet the challenges of
therr roles, while rewarding the contributions of both
teams and ndwviduals The CEQ has responsibility at
Board lgvel for human resources issues The Human
Resources Dirgctor, Sarah Salter, reports directly to
the CEO

Employees
Throughout the Group we employ 3,031 people, as
set out below

Average

number of
Group business unit smployees %%
NWL 2,875 95
Water and waste water contracts 132 4
Other 24 1
Total employees 3,031 100

NWG ensures its terms and conditions both attract

and retain the best people i the areas 1t serves NWL

employee turnover I1s refatively low at 5 8%, below the
UK water industry average of 9 4%

NWL's current lavel of sickness absence 1s 3 1%,
which s well below the norm for the sector

Target Performance

2010M1 201011

Employee turnover (%) g4 58
Lost time reportable accidents

(per 1,000 employees) 43 41

Sickness absence (%) 29 31

Notes
1 Notargst set industry averags provided for information

The active involvement and engagement of everyone
across the business 1s an important part of delivering
performance and NWL coniinues to seek the views of
employees through an annual employee engagement

survey This year's survey had the largest response rate

ever, at 75%, and the feedback covered working life,
training, communications, managers and the company
Al employees were invited to workshops o consider
the results and identify areas for improvement in therr
working practices and envionment, the outputs
contributing to the development of departmental action
plans In addition, 80% of respondents told us they

are proud to work for the company, 81% would
recommend working for the company and 77% believe
that NWL. is a great organisation to work for

For the first time NWL took part in the Sunday Times
Best Companies survey and achieved ‘one to watch’
status, an excellent achievernent on first time entry

NWL amployees also have access 1o a scheme which

provides a wide range of benefits Including tax efficient

benefits such as childcare vouchers, water services,
cars for personal use and discounted store vouchers
Currently 73% of employess participate in the scheme,
up from 72% last year



Equality and diversity

The Group operates an equal cpportunity policy
designed to ensure that no job applicant or employee
receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of
age, gender, marital status, disability, race, ethnic or
national ongin, rehgion or sexual orientation NWL
monitors its workforce profile against census and
sector data and ams {0 be recognised as an employer
of choice within the diverse communities 1t serves,

ensuring 1t takes fult advantage of the nch backgrounds

and abilities of current and potential employees

NWL welcomes employment apphcations from
people with disabilities and, where existing employees
develop disabilities, they are supported to remain

in employment, wherever practicable, by providing
appropriate adjustments to thewr roles and/cr effective
redepioyments Occupational health physicians assist
this process with professional medical advice

Consultation and engagement

Each Group company engages with 1ts employees
through a vansty of means appropnate to its working
envircnment The importance of an inclusive and
engaging management style 1s fully recognised

In 2010, NWL continued to bulld on its award-winning
approach by engaging with all employees over some
120 departmental workshops facibtated by senior
managers and 51 interactive roadshows facilitated
by the directors These were all structured ta outhne
our vision and values, encourage a dialogue on
improvements to working practces and environment
and to seek views on its peopte strategy This has
been further developed to include leadership events
held bi-annually engaging the most senior managers
in the continuous development of plans to enable the
achigvement of the vision

Training and development

All Group companies train and develop therr
employees to benefit both the company and the
ndwidual Annual appraisals are griven high prionty,
as I1s the dentification of training needs, i recognition
of the mportance of training and development In
achieving the Group's goals and policies In NWL,

a 360° feedback mechanism, which evaluates
performance against the company values, has been
introduced for all semor managers The results of the
feedback are discussed at annual appraisal meetings
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Our operating performance
People continued

Our people are the key to our business success

Our aim Is to build and maintain a culture which
values, encourages and recognisas outstanding
performance, where we share a commitment to our
objectives and to delivering our personal best From
corporate induction days and induction planning, to
indwidual coaching, accreditation of skills through
national vocational qualificatons, and management
and ieadership programmes, we provide the resources
needed to help employees reach therr full potential

We signed the Government’s Skills Pledge at the end
of 2007, publicly committing to develop 80% of the
workforce, around 2,600 employees, to at least
Naticnal Qualfication Framework (NQF) Level 2 - the
eguivalent of five GCSEs at grades A to C - by the end
of 2010 This was achieved by July 2010 with 90 2%
qualfied to NQF Level 2 or above National Vocational
Qualfications continue 10 be delivered in custamer
and operational areas In addition, we currently have
seven graduates on our Graduate Developmant
Programme and 29 apprentices

NWL continues to implement its Management
Development Framework which 1s structured (see
diagram on page 33) to cover the traning needs of
those who show the potential for management nght
through to development at director level As part of
this framework we are working in partnership with
Newcastle Business School to provide qualifications,
from a Diploma to a Masters degree, in leadership
and management In 2010, we introduced our

{ EADer programme, which 1s the next step in our
Management Development Framework, to some of
our operational departments Thes development
programme for supervisors, team leaders and works
managers Includes assessment agamnst NQF Levels 2,
3 and 5 management standards, as appropriate,
supported by format development and coaching

Recognising our employees’ academic achievements,
the fifth annual skills awards were celebrated this
yoar Attended by senior managers from around the
business, and with guest speaker Knss Akabusi, the
events were agan motivational and memorable

Communication

The Group uses a wide range of communication
methods Including magazines, brochures, leaflets,
newsletters, intranet, notice boards and regular team
meetings NWL 1ssues all employees with a series of
information booklets clearly explaining areas such as
the company's vision and values, terms, conditions
and benefits of employment, and occupational health
and wellbeing programmes

Disclosure {(Whistleblowing)

The Group sncourages open feedback and 1s
comrmutted to protecting employees who wish to voice
concerns about behaviour or decisions that they
believe to be legal or unsitical The Audit Committae
regularly reviews the disclosure paolicy

Health and safety

NWG places great emphasis on health and safety and
a safe working environment Employees are actively
encouraged to be involved in identifying and eliminating
hazards in the workplace This has resulted in a
significant reduction i accidents over recent yaars

A health and safety policy 1s maintained and
implemented at each subsidiary

Our emphasis on the Importance of health and safety
within NWL has resulted in major improvemeanis

to our safety record in recent years This year we
expenenced nine reportable accidents and incidents
per 1,000 employees, which continues the improving
trend achieved over the last seven years

We have estabished a medium term plan for taking
health and safety forward Iin the company to 2015 We
amm to further reduce the number of accidents by 10%
each year and tc maintain and improve the safety
culture in the company




NWL proactively supports and encourages
employees to strive for high standards of health

and wellbeing by prowiding a wide range of services,
support and rescurces relating to occupationat
health, with the Group's medical adwvisor providing
comprehensive occupaticnal health services, general
health promotion and stress management NWL
employees also have on and off-site access to
specialst advice and treatment to support recovery
from musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) We have
reduced sickness absence dug to MSD by 39% over
the year In 2010, we introduced NWL Support Part
of this service 1s an Employee Wellbeing Programme
which gives employees and therr immediate family
access to face to face or telephong counselling on

a range of subjects regardiess of whether or not the
Issues are work refated In addition, it also provides
a telephone based case management service for
employees who have either a stress related or mental
heaith condition We have reduced stress related
sickness absence by 16% 0 the first year

We continue to promote heaithy eating, hydration
and to discourage smeking in our workforce

and offer excellent health screening and medical
nsurance schemes Around 2,200 empleyees have
been through our health screening and fitness
standards programmes, both of which now include
Ifestyle advice elements

Quality

The company has successfully extended 1ts scope of
certification to the international occupational health
and safety management standard OHSAS 8001 2007
to include Scientific Services, thus now ensunng
company-wide coverage

piemy JEBA BU} IO 18A810Y BUNOA X85S BY) PAAIIIDS SNJOT SUYD

Empioyee Share Incentive Plan (SIP)

The directors believe that employee investment
strengthens the ties between the Group and its
employees More than a third of employees participate
in the SIP, and together have an interest in 0 6% of the
Issued share capital The scheme provides one free
matching share for every three shares bought by an
employee Shares for the SIP are purchased at market
price by the Trustee and dividends are paid in cash
drectly to participants There are no performance
conditions attached to the SIR but free shares not held
i trust for at least 12 months are forfeited Employees
participating in the SIP are giwven the oppertunity to
exercise therr voting nghts through the Trustes
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Growing

In water —
investing In
our people

As a company we are committed to investing in training and
development to ensure that our people are competent and safe
In therr current roles, to support them to develop skilis and
knowledge to help take the business forward and, where people
are career orientated, to help them develop for future roles. We
have many examples of our peopie in the business who have
developed their career withun NWL.

Tony Erskine, our customer manager, joined us aged 17 on the young person's
development programme, a youth training scheme, and began studying for a higher
national certificate qualification He 1s now in his final year of NWL's bespoke BA
(Hons) n Leadership and Management and will graduate in July

Tony sad “The BA course I1s the best thing that | have ever done It has been a real
eye opener and enabled me to learn new skills, get different perspectives and learn
from others It's besn a massive benefit to me as a manager and | believe makes me
a more effective leader It's been a lot of hard work but | have ganed a lot from it and
so wilt the company”

Chris Loftus, leakage assistant, was unemployed and not sure of what he wanted to
do with his life when he saw the poster advertising The Prince’s Trust Get into Water
pragramme In the window of his local Jobcentre He found his age and lack of
experience a real hindrance until he joined us on a three week course designed to
provide unemployed 16-25 year olds with the oppoertunity to learn about the water
industry and get some valuable hands-on work experience, before hopefully moving
Into employment He has now been with NWL for three years and has become a
young ambassador for the Princes Trust while receiving the Essex Young Achiever
of the Year Award

Kathryn Waugh, distribution operations controller, joined the accelerated graduate
development programme in 2001 following her degree in physical geography She
undertook a senes of strategic projects and business suppert placements to develop
her knowledge of business processes and gain a broad overview of the company
and its operations After further development roles in water and waste water works
management, she has now taken a senior role in operations Kathryn said “l find
working with people to make positive Improvements to the operations and maintenance
side of the business very rewarding | really enjoy my job and working for NWL "
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Our operating performance

Environment

Water qualty

The quality of water is critical to our customers and
samples are taken on a dailly basis for analysis under
regulations monitored by the DWI The guality in all
areas served remained high

North [N} Target Performance

South (S) 2010/11 2010/

DWI Mean Zonal N 99 85 99 95
Complhancs (%) S 99 95 99 94
DWI Operational N 99 65 99 84
Performance Index (%) s 99 98 99 97
Distribution N 99 70 98 70
Maintenance Index (%) S 99 85 8993

Compliance at water treatment works has improved
significantly in 2010 with fewer microbiological falures
than any previcus year This reflects the work being
undertaken to achisve internal medium term targets for
performance In addition, service raservolr maintenance
has been enhanced, with nspection rates now three
times higher than histoneal frequencies The am of this
work 1s to sustain a higher level of microbiological
compliance while ensuring the integnty of the asset
base for the long term

Work using new cleaning techniques to refurbish more
than 150 kilometres of the large diameter pipe network
15 well advanced The netwerk supplies drinking

water ta over half a milhon customers in south east
Northumberiand and parts of Tyneside The majonty
of the cleaning works have now been delivered and
the programme 1s due to be completed in June 2011,
achieving a significant reduction In customer
complamts of discoloured water Progress has been
maintained despite the unusually harsh winter

Water resources

Water resource avallability 15 a key 1ssue In our Essex
and Suffolk areas Work centinued throughout 2010
on increasing the capacity of Abberton reservor, near
Colchester, by 58% Good progress was made and
the project remans on programme

In early 2011, construction of two new pipelines to
bring water from Norfolk commenced The cne
rematning part of the overall Abberton Scheme that
requires permissions 1s the variation of abstraction
licences at Denver and Blackdyke, In Norfolk, and we
are working closely with the EA on progressing this
Once this scheme s operating, in 2014, we do not
expect to have to develop further major resources

In Essex for the next 25 years

In addition to improving the supply of water, we believe
it 15 Important to manage the demand for water so that
it does not exceed levels that can be supphed In a
sustainable way Metering has an important role to
play In this regard For several years we have been
installing water meters upcn change of occupier in
properties in the Essex area This 1s in addition to the
optional metering scheme avallable to all customers
Around 48% of domestic households in Essex and
60% In Suffolk are now metered In the north east,
wherg suppltes are more plentiful, 24% of households
are metered

New watar efficiency targets were introduced 1n
2010/11 to reduce per caplita consumption across
the company's domestic customers by one litre per
property per day These targets apply n all areas
served and the award-winmng work previously carried
out in Essex was extended to the rest of the company
New Initiatives have been developed, including an
innovative theatre production called ‘Little Green
Riding Hood' with Farme Factory Spotlight, which
took the water efficiency message to 36,500 school
children over the last year NWL met its water
efficiency targets early, before the end of the year




We continue 1o monitor the weather patterns and

the early part of 2011 has proved 1o be dry with little
rainfall The resource situation 1s still good with
adequate resources in storage to meet demand There
are no plans for restnictions although the company will
continue to use awareness campaigns to encourage
customears to control demand in dry periods

Qur assets, once again, proved very resilient dunng
the most severe December weather for more than

100 years in the north east of England [t proved very
challenging but we were able to maintain supplies to
customers largely due to the exemplary efforts of cur
employees who worked tirelessly in difficult conditions
The severe freeze and subsequent thaw, inevitably
resulted in a significant increase in burst pipes and
leakage both on our own network and customer
premises As a result, in our northern operating region,
the water lost over the winter period meant we, along
with other companies, did not meet our annual
leakage target In our southern region, conditions were
not quite s¢ severe and we achieved our target We
have recovered from the effects of the winter through
implementing an action plan which will position us well
toe meet the target in the following year

Waste water

NWLs excepticnal performance for sewage treatment
works continued with all numerically consented works
again remaining comphant for the year

Target Performance

{Northem cperating area onty} 2010/11 2010/11
Sewage treatment works (%) 100 100
Bathing waters Mandatory

Standard (%) 100 97
Pollution incidents (category 1,

2 and 3) 102 101

The advanced anaerobic digestion plant at Bran
Sands 1s now fully operational and generating the
expected volumes of biogas and electrnicity The
re-grganisation, to operate the plant at much lower
manning levels than previausly, has bsen successfully
implemented Construction 1s now undarway on a
simifar plant at Howdon, on Tyneside, to process the
remainder of NWL's studge

A total of 33 of the 34 bathing waters in the north

east passed the required mandatory standard and

28 met the more demanding guideling standard The
single mandatory falure was Saltburn and NWL 1s
carrying out a detaled investigation on whether any cf
our assets could be contributing o this and 18 working
with other agencies to determine how they may be
impacting on this bathing water

The number of properties experiencing Internal
flooding due to hydraulic overleading reduced
significantly in 2010/11 This can be attnbuted to a
combination of less frequent and intense summer
storms in 2010 and the cumulative effect of our sewer
flooding investment programme Enhanced resclution
rain radar has now been in place in the north east
since 2009 allowing us to dentfy severe weather
across the region

During 2010/11 we completed 43 schemes at a cost
of £17 5 millon that resulted in the removal of 178
properties from flooding registers Planning to identify
schemes for coming years forms a key part of our
investment programme and is welt advanced, with

a further 270 properties to be addressed in 2011/12
Addtionally, In line with our serviceability action

plan for sewer flooding, we have embarked on a
programme of increased mitigation This covers not
only properties where a scheme is not cost beneficial
but also properties where a solution may not be
implemented quickly
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Our operating performance

Environment continued

The number of properties flooded due to other causes
also reduced significantly m 2010/11 This reduction
has been influenced by Increased sewer cleansing
activity as well as better weather

Carbon management plan

The water industry 1s one of the largest users of
energy in the UK and we aim to play a full part in
suppert of Government'’s plans to reduce emissions
We have been working hard over recent years to
reduce our carbon footprint while preparing ourselves
for the future challenges of a change In climate and
tha weather events we may face as a consequence

NWL has published its carbon management plan to
meet its target of a 36% reduction 1n operational
emissions by 2020, from a 2008 base

The carbon management plan includes energy
efficiency, renewable energy generation and water
efficiency and supports our activities to help us adapt
to a changing climate It represents a sustanable
and responsible way forward for the business, our
customers and the environment The projects which
will help us to achieve our carbon reduction target
are outhned below
~ our £33 0 millon investment In thermal hydrolysis
advanced anaerobic digestion at Bran Sands,
which provides 50% {c 4 7 MW) of the energy
requirements of the site This enables waste water
sludge to generate methane o fuel gas engines
and produce green electneity A similar plant will
be constructed at Howdon, which 1s planned for
completien in 2013/14 Together these plants will
help meet our target of generating 20% of our
energy needs from renewable energy, as well
as reduce our overall energy demand,

- hydroelectric installations at five reservoirs including
the UK's largest man-made reservoir, Kielder Water
A recently commissioned £2 5 milion hydroelectnic
project at our Selset reservorr that will generate up
to 750 kdowatts of electricity — 4,000 megawatt
hours a year Renewable energy I1s also being
generated with hydroelectnc plants at Derwent,
Lartington and Wear Valley reservoirs in addition
to biogas combined heat and power plants at
Stressholme, Hexham and Aycliffe,

- Imiting tertiary ultraviolst disinfection outside the
bathing water season at five major works reduces
energy consumption and carbon emissions with no
detnmental effect on the marnne environment, and

— encouraging customers, through our ‘using water
wisely” campaign, to recognise that If they waste
water, they also waste energy {information and tools
are avallable for customers on our websites)

Through these projects, and by reviewing the efficiency
of our pumps across the business, we have reduced
the amount of energy used by almost 9% over the

last five years

NWL has successfully achieved the Carbon Trust
Standard for its efforts in reducing greenhouse gas
emissions The standard provides an objective
benchmark against which our commuitment and
success N addressing our chimate change impact
was assessed and 1$ significant as it demonstrates
progress aganst our ambitious carbon
management plan
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Changing weather patterns

The water cycle and the changing weather have a
direct influence on the provision of water and waste
water services NWL's employees are experienced In
managing the effects of too much or too Iittle rainfall,
but changing weather patterns will present a growing
challenge for the business

In past years, we have carrned out research into the
likely impact of clmate change on all our assets and
water resources and this has been incorporated in
our climate change pelicy as part of our corporate
responsibiity work This work 1s continuing, based on
the latest UKCPOS projections published in 2009 by
the UK Climate Impacts Programme

Ovaer the course of the past year we have incorporated
this work into our response to the new adaptation
reporting power granted to the Government by the
2008 Climate Change Act This work has highlighted
that increasing ranfall intensity I1s the most significant
short term threat that we will face as a result of the
changing climate This represents a serious challenge
if we are to manage successfully the higher level of risk
of sewer flooding that will result We havs already
begun to take actions that will better prepare us for
this challenge, including investment in weather radar,
remote menitoring of the sewer network and jont
waorking with other drainage agencies These will

all contribute to our better understanding and
management of the threat

More positively we have found that the anticipated
drier summers of the future are less of a concern for
NWL than for many other companies in our industry
The ongoing investment to increase the capacity of
Abberton reservoir plays a big part in this for our
Essex operating area Work is now underway on this
project that has been in development for over 15
years, a reflection of the long lead times for such
environmentaily sensitive schemes The presence

of Kielder Water helps protect the north east region
to an even greater extent Despite this, we anticipate
that we will need to monitor and formally update our
understanding of the threat from the changing
weather at regular intervals

Quality

NWL has maintained ts certification to the international
quality standard 1SO 8001 2008 and to the international
environmental standard 1SO 14001 2004 across all
areas of the business, Including operational sites and
office based teams
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Good
progress
for the
Abberton
cheme

Essex 1s the driest county in the UK. In a dry year demand already
outstrips supply and due to population nse this situation 1s
expected to get worse

After 17 years in the planning the £150 millon Abberton construction scheme to
help secure water supply to 15 milhon customers In Essex made good progress
in its first year

The reservarr, near Geolchester, will be enlarged by 58% with its footpnint extended
by 40%, and the increased capacity will be in service in 2014 Over the last year,
significant progress has been made and two important milestones have now been
reached Water 1s now flowing into the ressrvor via the newly completed reservorr
Inlet structure at Broadmeadows and work has begun on the canstruction of two
major raw water pipeline routes These 1 2 metre dameter, 16 kilometre leng, steel
pipelmes will transfer water from the River Stour at Wormingford to Abberton

Abberton 1s a site of international environmenial significance, designated under the
Ramsar convention on wetlands In designing our proposals, working closely with
Natural England, the RSPB and Essex Wildlife Trust, we have gone beyond what is
required to not only maintain the snvirecnmental significance of the site but to enhance
it The new reservorr will have existing concrete edging remeved, will includs more
marginal shallow waters, as well as a new re-sited visitor centre and an extensive
wetland area at the western end of the reservoir The new proposals will improve
biediversity as well as enhance the amenities for visitors
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Our operating performance

Communities

NWL supports the communities we serve In a number
of different ways We have been widely recognised as
leaders 10 our support for projects that make the areas
we serve better places m which to Iive, work or invest
This year the company has been re-accredited by
FTSE4Good and 1s awarting re-accreditation as a
Platinum Plus company by Business in the Community
The Queens Award for Industry 1s still in place as 1t 1s
awarded for a five year period This year, the company
was also recognised by Ethisphere, an American-
based international think-tank, as one of the 110 most
ethical companies In the world and was one of only
five UK-based companies

The support we give to our communities focusas on
five broad areas

Investment in our communities

This year the Group made charitable donations
totalling £152,000 In addition, and m lne with previous
years, we have contributed resources with a value
equivalent to at least 1% of our annual pre-tax profits
{through cash, employee time and expertise, or use of
our facilities) to projects which bengfit the communities
we serve Our employees fundraised £68,000 for
chanties this year

The 'Care for safety’ scheme, which encourages
employees to reduce accidents and associated lost
time, has tnggerad payments over £16,000 for our
charities nominated by employees (Great North Arr
Ambulance Service, Royal National Lifeboat Institution
{RNLD, Myelin Project, Zoe's Place, Macmillan Cancer
Support, St Cuthbert's Hospice and East Anglian
Children’s Hospice) Since it began in 2004 over
£326,000 has been raised for charity

Community Foeundations covering our areas of supply |
hold endowment funds totalling nearly £1 0 rmillion

contributed by NWL over the last 19 years These

are long term Investments with the iIncome from the

funds used to support community and environmental

initiatives Community groups are chosen by

committees of our own employees (44 recipients

this year)

In addition to cash donations, NWL seeks to support

many projects through in-kind giving and support

Through '‘Good Moves' we aim to put NWL estates

nto productive community use Working in partnership \
with artist groups CoExist and Metal, we have i
developed a temporary art project at our empty !
Southend complex to provide space for a temporary

gallery, studio and small creative business complex

We have focused on develeping affordable rural
housing to contribute to the sustainabihty and witality
of those communities, iIncluding support of the Prince
of Wales' Affordable Rural Housing Initiative since it
was launched 1n 2003 As part of this commitment
we are working with Hastoe Housing on a project

for 12 houses on land close to Hanningfield water
treatment works in Essex and these are due for
completion in 2011




The Kislder Partnership was created in 1994 and
consisted of private, public and voluntary sector
partners committed to the development of Kielder
Water & Forest Park as a tourism, leisure and
recreation destination Activity has focused on

delvering the Partnership’s vision —'Kielder Big Picture’

- including the use of the fabulous tracks and trails
developed in 2008/09

The 26 mile Lakeside Way, a multi-user track, 1s now
used by 45% of all visitors This trail was used for the
first Kielder Marathon in Qctober 2010, dubbed the
most beautiful in Britain, organised by Olympic athlete
Steve Cram This, combined with other activilies
including the development of mountain bike trals and
the increasingly popular Kielder Observatory, has
helped to increase visitor numbers between 2008 and
2010 by 9 4% to 306,250, creating an additional 66
direct and indirect jobs and boosting the spend in the
local economy by 20% to £15 5 milion

[n Decembar 2010, the structure of the Partnership
was formalised by forming a registered charnity
called the Kielder Water & Forest Park Davelopment
Trust which will continue to deliver the wision and

25 year investment plan for the area The website
www visitkielder com provides further details of

all faciities

Participation i our communities

As part of NWLUs in-kind gvng, we encourage
employees to volunteer ther tme, skills and expertise
through our Just an hour' volunteerng schems

We support our people to actively participate in

therr local communities by giving them work time to
volunteer in projects of their choice During the year
our people have helped hundrads of community
projects, completing tasks as varied as beach clean
ups, organising chanty balls and taking on ambitious
gardening and decorating challenges

For example, a group of emgloyeas voluntegred ther
time to support people with disabilities to participate
In an activity weekend organised by the charity
Leonard Cheshire Disability Together, volunteers and
servica users enjoyed outdoor activities including
abselling and taking a zip wire across a rver Further
highlights came from the Essex based employees
who collected over 1,000 boxas of food supplies as
part of tha Harvest for the Hungry campaign 2010
This important contributton helped the humanitanan
campaign 1o provide an essential lifeline to villages
and communities scattered across Eastern Europe

Currently 27% of employees participate in the Just
an hour’ volunteering scheme and last year gave over
7,600 hours to the community Over 870 different

organisations were given financial and in-kind support

during the year
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Our operating performance
Communities continued

Educating our communities about their
environment

Key partnerships have been developed by NWL to
help the conservation of biodiversity on our sites, o
faciitate public access and to develop conservation
education Qur contnbution includes funding project
officers and providing expertise to the organisat:ions
Our current partnerships mclude

— Northumberland Wildlife Trust {Kielder and Bakethin),
Durham Wildhfe Trust,

Essex Wildlife Trust (Hanningfiela),

Broads Authenty {Lound and Trinity Broads), and
Davy Down Trust (North Stifford, Essex)

i

A wide range of targeted educattonal materals are
available on cur websites for children and teachers
We promote the use of these matenals and celebrate
innovatwe approaches to environment and health
education via cur support of the Northumbrian Water
Schools Awards in the north east and Cash for
Schools Awards In Essex

We also lead on specific environmental education
mitiatives such as the innovative ‘Northumbrian Water
GLOBE' project This year the project, in collaboration
with The Climate Change Schools Project, ClimateNE,
EA and GLOBE UK, 1s supporting five schools to take
control of capturing and analysing local weather data,
patterns and extreme evenis (using weather stations
and traring provided by NWL) Ultimately, chidren
involved will become 'community scientists’ to drive
behavioural change at local levels

Supperting healthy communities

NWL continues to promote the health benefits of
drinking tap water and our ‘Water for heaith’ campaign
ams o encourage people to lead a healthy Iifestyle

To date, over £341,000 has been provided to fund free
mains-fed water coolers in schools and around 740
have been supplied in nearly 410 schools We also
continue to promote bottle-free water coolers as a
sustainable alternative to dottle-fed coolers Similarly,
we use our 'tap into’ inthative to donate bottled tap
water to community sporting events In order to
promote the Importance of rehydration dunng
exercise This year we donated 82,300 bottles

of tap water 1o events

Working with a wide and diverse range of sporting
partners 1s a natural extension of our ‘Water for
health’ campaign and we work with them to support
grassroots sporting activities to get people active

as well as educating them on healthy eating and
good hydration

Through our partnerships we have reached over

96,000 children and adulis We provide

- Iinks and networks to enable sporting partners
o get together to share ideas and resources,

- financial support of approximately £50,000 per
annum which then levered over £600,000 from
other sources,

- adwice and marketing support on pregramme
development,

- botiled tap water, sports bottles, water jugs or
mains-fed bottle-free coolers to reinforce the
importance of drinking tap water to rehydrate
during sporting activitiss, and

- help with fundraising and raising the profile of the
partnerships to attract additonal iInvestment




We have linked our 'Good moves' intiative and our
‘Water for health’ campaign te develop Healthworks
This 1s a unique project utiising one of our redundant
buldings to help tackle the poor long term health of
the residents in Easington, County Durham, by
granting a 99 year lease to County Durham Primary
Care Trust and working in partnership to develop
services for the local community In an area where
census records show one of the worst health
records in the country

Woe are reprasented on the steering group for
Healthworks and provide rasearch, marketing and
communications support The centre has receved
almost 20,000 visits to date and now provides over
58 health and community support services including
a GP led walk-in health centre open 8am to 8pm 365
days a year It acts as a community focal point where
service providers and community groups can come
together 10 address ssues that affect the quality

of Iife in their focal community

Supporting developing communities through
WaterAid

NWL has continued to raise funds and awareness for
the work of WaterAid which brings sustainable water
and sanitation solutions, as well as hygiene education,
to the poorest parts of Africa and Asia, as it has since
the charity was formed by the water industry in 1881

The employee fundraising committee has raised

more than £4 milhon, since 1997, with the help of the
company and last year focused its fundraising support
on specific projects in Ethiopia We support our
employees to become ambassadors for the chanty
and encourage annual supporter trips to see WaterAid
projects This year, Asset Manager Craig Holliday
visited Bangladesh and saw first hand how our
adopted international charity saves lives
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Strategy in action ~ Communities




performance
at Castle
View

Castle View Enterprise Academy, In Sunderland, completed its
first year of operations during the year

NWL 1s the lead sponsor and wanted to create a centre of excellence with a clear
focus on raising standards of academic performance to enable svery student to
achieve thar personal best in all areas of academy Iife within a safe, secure and
stable environment NWL formed a new trust board to govern the school, recruited
an inspirational head teacher and helped her to form a new leadership team, design
an engaging curriculum and implement a set of new polictes which would
fundamentally change and improve schoo! bfe for the students

During the first year, Castle View Enterpnse Academy students achieved 43% A*-Cs
n GCSEs English and Maths {up from 26% In the old Castle View School) and 86%
five or more GCSEs A™-Cs (up from 3%} Persistent absences decreased from 10%,
In the old Castle View school, to 6 3% In the new academy's first year of operation

In March 2011, the new academy undertook Ofsted assessment and from baing a
faling school previousty 1s now a school making good prograss

Indeed, sixteen students at Castle View Enterprise Academy have ganed amongst
the highest grades peossible in the January 2011 GCSE Mathematics examinations —
six months ahead of schedule Eight of the sixteen gained grade A™ and the other
eight gamed grade A

In addition to the excellent teaching in the academy and after school tutorials,

these more able students were also coached by ona of our graduate trainees,

Dawvid Bullin, who has a maths degree David has given his time under our employes
volunteering scheme, Just an hour, on Wednesdays after school and more recently
on Saturday maornings
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Our risks and

uncertainties

The NWG Board requires all
subsidiaries within the Group to
identify and assess the impact
of risks to their business using

a standard risk model. For each
risk identified, the model records
the uncontrolled magnitude and
likelihood of the risks occurring
as well as the controls in place
to mitigate those risks before
assessing the controlled magnitude.
The Board’s view of acceptable
risk is based on a balanced view
of all of the risks in the operating
environment. it aims to ensure
an appropriate balance between
risk aversion and opportunities.

The Board sets the tone for nsk management within the
Group and determines the appropnate risk appetite
The Board monitors the management of fundamental
rsks and approves major decisions affecting the
Group's nsk profile Senicr management implements
policies on nsk management and internal control

For NWL, the management team reviews the approach
to nsk management in detal every year and the Audit
Committee considers the outcome The management
tearn reviews the significant risks every month and a
full review of the model for emerging significant risks Is
carried out quarterly Any issues that anse from these
management team reviews are reported by the CEO
to the board

Apart from NWL, none of the subsichanes has rnsks
considered to be significant to the Group's short and
long term value

The system of internal control Incorparates rnisk
management It encompasses a number of elements
that together facilitate an effective and efficient
operation, enabling the company to respond to

a variety of nsks These elements include

Policies and procedures

Attached to fundamental rigsks are a series of policies
that underpin the internal control process Writien
procedures support the policies where approprate

Business planmng and budgeting

The business planring and budgeting process I1s ussd
o set objectives, agree action plans and allocate
resources Progress aganst meeting business plan
and budgst objectives 1s monitored regularly

Risk register

The nsk register identifies key nsks, each with a nsk
owner who 15 responsible for evaluating the nsk on

a regular basis As a way of ensunng that nsk
management 1s embedded into the business, the risk
owners have the management of these risks as a
personal KPI

Strategic risk model

Risks that are known but not yet well defined enough
for the kelihood and consequence to be reasonably
foreseen are included In a strategic nsk model




Audit Committee

The Audit Committes reports to the Board on internal
controls and alerts the Board to any emerging 1ssues

In addition, the Audit Committee oversees internal audit,
external audit and management, as required, n its
review of internal controis

Last year, the Audit Committee cormmissioned an
addiionat risk and assurance mapping report from

Ernst & Young, the objective of which was to provide
NWL management and the Audit Committee with

a view of the different assurance functions within

the company and the extent to which they provide
assurance that the control actvities are operating

An assurance map now forms a permanent part of
the process and, for each risk, highlights who provides
assurance that the control actvities are (in place and
operating effectively

Fisk dascription

Mitgation measurgs

Funding and iquichty nsk

The financial ratios, financial results, iquidity position and credit ratings are described in the
financial performance section on pages 16 to 21 [n additien, note 20 o the financial statements,
on pages 118 to 123, inciudes detalls on the Group's strategy and treasury operations for
managing its capital, its exposures to iquidity nsk, interest rate nsk, foreign cumency nsk and
counterparty nsk, and details of its financial instruments The Board reviews the treasury strategy
percdically and approves specific proposals

Unfavourable changes to
the regulatory structure,
as a result of the Water
Whrte Paper

We play aleading role in the policy debate, through Water UK, direct lobbying and forging positive
relationships with relevant parties We respend positively to consultation papers

Unfavourable changes to the
regulatory structure or pnce
setting mechanism by Ofwat

We play a leading role in consultation groups with Ofwat and other stakeholders We respond
positively to consultation papers

Impact of the transfer of
pnvate drans and sewers s
greater than anticipated

Aninternal project team has been established to understand and prepare the business for the
transter We maintain sound financial documentation to support a future clam for tanff increases in
order to recover additional costs bome We mantain close laison with the rest of the industry and
have had constructive dialogue with Ofwat regarding the process

Unexpected shift iIn chmate
change impact

We have processes In place to anticipate and plan for the mpact of clmate change While these
have long tme honzons, they are reviewed regularly to ensure that any changes are identfied early

Loss of supply due to failure
of strategic water mamn.
This covers catastrophic
failure that 1s greater than
the response capability

of the company

In most cases, duplicate mains and dversion of supplies would kmit supply conseguences
Comprehensive plans exst to provide a minimum emergency service 1o customers until reparrs are
completed, ncluding mutual aid arrangements with other water companies A proactive inspection
regime 1S in place along with longer term reviews of network resilience

Sewer flooding failures

A sewer flooding group, compnsing stakeholders from vanous teams, 1s responsible for managing
the process, flood reporting, network capacity studies and pnontisation of investmeant to reduce
nsk Significant additional capital expenditure has been nvested to address affected properties
The recently constructed rain radar station for the region 1s now operational and provides Improved
data However, controls are not yet sophisticated enough to predict or prevent consequences of
gevere ranfall

Pesticides lead to prescnbed
concentration or value
failure and possible
enforcement action

Undertakings have been agreed with the DWI to carry out certain actions to mitigate pestoide
1ssues (metaldehyde and clopyralid) While specific treatment processes, such as carbon dosing,
are undertaken at treatment works, proactive catchment management 1s also being camed out
This Involves working with farmers, reguiators and other stakeholders to advise on improved
storage and apphcation techniques for such pesticides This Is a more sustainable solution than
the alternative of constructing major new treatment processes

Loss of iIncome through
closure of large customers
or lower industrial volumes

it 18 not possible to drrectly influence indusinial volumes, however, our account managers liaise
closely with significant customers to provide support where possible

Incident at Bran

Sands waste water
treatment works causes
business interruption

We have a number of contracts to treat industnal waste streams at our Bran Sands works The
liability under each contract 1s capped except, In certain cases, where NWL 1s In willful breach

A site-specific management regme is In place ncorporating additional montonng and a greater
amourt of standby assets

Risk of increasing pension
contnbutions resutting
from increasing longevity
and the impact of
economic conditions

on investment returns

The defined benefit scheme was closed to new entrants, benefits restructured and employee
contnbutions increased in 2008 Advance contnbutions have been made to the scheme, Including
deficit funding allowed in the final determination The scheme Trustee determines nvestment policy
and monitors performance of nvestment managers Thennial actuanal valuations of the scheme
are camed out, with the latest currently underway

Health and safety
prosecution

Owr health and safety policy and safety management system define clear amangements and
responsibilities for implementation and management throughout the Company This 1s audited as
part of our guality and envirenmental management system Visible high level support for health and
safety 1s provided by the Board and management team Long term plans and targets are set to
promote continuous Improvement
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Appendix to the
directors’ report —
business review

Financial KPls

Gearing to RCV (NWG)

Definttion and calculation: The ratic of Group net
debt to a pro forma RCV, calculated as NWLs RCV
plus the level of debt associated with the Kielder
securitisation and the PFl contracts The NWL RCV
represents the total capital vaiue of the appointed water
and sewerage business on which Ofwat allows a rate
of return at price reviews

Purpose: The RCV generates most of the revenue
stream of the Group and regutatory gearing 15 an
important factor in credit ratings

Source of underlying data. NWLs RCV is calculated
by Ofwat and published each year Ofwat also
publishes anticipated values up to five years ahead,
based on its last price determination Group net debt
Is disclosed in the audiied financial staternents

Gearnng to RCV {(NWL)

Definition and calculation: The ratio of NWL net
debt to NWLs RCV The NWL RCV represents the total
capital value of the appointed water and sewerage
business on which Ofwat allows a rate of return at
prce reviews

Purpose: The RCV generates most of the revenue
stream of the Group and regulatory gearing 1s an
important factor in credit ratings

Source of undertying data: NWLUs BCV s calculated
by Ofwat and pubhshed each year Ofwat also
publishes anticipated values up to five years ahead,
based on its last price determination NWL's net debt
15 disclosed in the audited regulatory accounts

Cash interest cover (NWG and NWL)
Definition and calculation: Cash generated from
operations less tax divided by net interest paid
Purpose: Measures the ability of the Group or
company to service its debt

Source of underlying data. Audited

financal statements

Cash flow to net debt (NWG and NWL)
Defimtion and calculation: Cash generated from
operations less tax paid divided by net debt
Purpose- Indicates the Group's, or company's, abity
to reduce debt In the absence of need for additional
investment, without resorting 1o asset dispesal
Source of underlying data* Audited

financial statements

NWL non-financial KPls

Customer satisfaction

Definition and caiculation: Domestic customers’
satisfaction with overall service and overall valus for
money, expressed as satisfaction averaged over the
surveys carried out dunng the year Average satisfaction
1 based on a scale of 1 to 10 using the score of 8 and
above as satisfled Net scores are used to show true
satisfaction by taking into consideration those who
are dissatisfied who score betwsen 1 and 3

Purpose* To enable tracking of perception of
reputation, service and value for money over time
Source of underlying data: Independent surveys

of 500 customers (300 north, 200 south) chosen at
random, but representative of the customer base,
carned out each quarter - a total of 2,000 customers

Customer - levels of service

Definition and calculation: Customer service
standards are established by Ofwat and calculated
using source data in the company

Purpose* To monitor customer service performance
of NWL

Source of underlying data: information collected
by the company and submitted to Ofwat It s
independently certified

Employee turnover

Defimition and calculation® Number of leavers within
the year as a percentage of average headcount
Purpose® To track the employee turnover within the
business to ensure that it 1s within benchmark data
Source of underlying data. Current employees’
details are held within the human resources
management system — reports show leavers

against headcount

Lost time reportable accidents

Definition and calculation Injury accidents that are
reported to the Health & Safety Executive as required
by the Reporting of Injures, Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations 1995 Calculated as the
number of accidents reported In financtal year per
1,000 employees

Purpose* To monitor the safety periormance of NWL
over time

Source of underlying data- Completed NWL
accident/incident report forms  Employee numbers
are provided by the human resources depariment




Sickness absence

Defimtion and calculation. Sicknass absence days
as a percentage of total working days multipled by the
end of month headcount

Purpose. To track and trend stckness absence levels
across the crganisation

Source of underlying data: Statement of Fitness for
Work {fit note}, return to work interviews and weekly
returns by managers

Water quality

Definition and calculation. Compliance with drinking
water regulations as monitored by the DWi

Purpose. To monitor drinking water quality

Source of underlying data: Samples recorded by
NWL and audited by the DWI

Sewage treatment works

Defimtion and calculation: Percentage of population
equivalent served by non-compliant works failing
look-up table consents, as defined by the EA
Purpose, To monitor the performance of NWL's
sewage treatment works and thew impact on

the environment

Source of underlying data: Information recorded by
NWL and the EA and reported on by the latter

Bathing waters Mandatory Standard

Definthion and calculation: Percentage of bathing
waters complying with Mandatory Standards

Purpose’ To monitor the impact of NWL's coastal
treatment works on the environment

Source of underlying data. Information recorded and
reported by the EA

Pollution incidents

Defimtion and calculation: Number of category 1, 2
and 3 pollution incidents in the calendar year as defined
by the EA

Purpose: To monitor the performance of NWL's
sewerage system and its impact on the environmant
Source of undertying data, Information recorded and
reported to Ofwat by the EA
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Board directors’
biographies

1 Claude Lamoureux
Non-executive Director

Claude Lamoureux was appomted
to the boards of NWG and NWL
cn 1 December 2006 Claude
was, untl 1 December 2007,
President and CEQ of the Ontario
Teachers' Pension Plan Board
{OTPP) Previously he spent 25
years as a financial executive with
Metropolitan Life in Canada and
the US He is a Director of Xstrata
plz, Industrial Alkiance Insurance
and Financial Services Ing , Maple
Leaf Foods Inc, Atnum Innovations
Inc, The Learning Partnership and
the York University Foundation
QTPP holds 27% of the 1ssued
share caprtal of NWG and Claude
1s therefore, not regarded as an
Independent Biractor Claude will
retire from the boards of NWG

and NWL on 28 Juty 2011

2 Paul Rew {from

1 October 2010)

Independent Non executive
Diractor

Paul Rew was appointed to

the boards of NWG and NWL
on 1 October 2010 Paulis

a member of the Audit and
Nemination Commitiees and of
NWI_s Corporate Responsibility
Cemmittee Paul a chartered
accountant, was a partner in

PricewaternouseCoopers LLP
(PwC) from 1987 until March
2010 and was lead partner

for a diverse range of FTSE

100 chents and for PwC's UK
energy, utimes and mining sector
practice Most recently, he was
PwC's sustainability and clmate
changa assurance leader and
renewables leader He s a Non-
executive Director of both the
Met Office and the Sustanable
Developmeant Cormmission and
chairs their Audit Commuttees

3 Martin Négre

Independent Non executive
Director

Martin N&gre was appoinied to
the Board In May 2003 and to the
beard of NWL in January 2006
and is a mamber of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nominatign
Committees He was, between
April 2000 and Apni 2001, the
CEQ of the farmer Northumbnan
Water Group ple and the chief
corporate representative of its
parent company, Suez, in the UK
He currently chairs Ecofin Global
Utiiies Hedge Fund Limited
Ecofin Special Situations Utilities
Fund Ecofin North American
Hedge Fund and Ecofin China
Powaer & Infrastructura Fund His
other directorships inglude Ecofin

Water & Power Opportunities
pic Hansen Transmissions
International NV, Bolux Utiites
(Sicav Luxembourg), Mercunius
Utiities (Liechtenstein) EFMI
Funds pic and Ecofin Giobal
Long/Short Fund Al the above
funds are focused on utilities In
2005 he became a Director of
Promethean plc, an AIM-listed
Investment company and sits on
the supervisory board of Barnque
Jean-Philippe Hottinguer & C*

4 Simon Lyster {from

1 April 2011)

Independent Non executive
Director

Simen Lyster was appointed to
the Board of NWG on $ Apnl 2011
having joined the board of NWL
n September 2006 15 a member
of the Nomination Committee
and chairs NWLs Corporate
Responsibiity Committee Simon
15 & lawyer by training, qualfied
in both the UK and the USA and
has been Chiet Executive of LEAD
International since 2005 Before
Jjoining LEAD (which he will lsave
during July 2011} Simon was
Director General of The Wildlife
Trusts ona of the |argest nature
conservation organlsauons n

tha UK, far seven yvears Before
that Simon workad for World

wildife Fund (WWF) for nine
years, where he was responsible
for WWF's global policy work on
international conventions Simon
s a Trusiee of Conservation
Internatonal - UK, the World
Land Trust and the Kilverstone
Wildife Conservation Trust

5 Margaret Fay CBE

(from ¥ June 2010}

Independent Non-executive
Director

Margarst Fay was appontad to
the boards of NWG and NWL on

1 June 2010 and i1s @ member of
the Remuneration and Nomination

Committees She i also a member

of NWL's Corporate Responsibiity
Committee Margaret was formerly
Managing Director of Tyne Tees
Telewision until she tock early
ratirement n December 2003

to become Chairrman of One
North £ast, a position she held
until August 2010 She 1s Daputy
Chairman of The Sage Gateshead,
a Governor of the University of
Sunderland Patron of Tees Valley
Community Foundation and the
Prince of Wales' Ambassador

for the north east of Engtand
Margaret was awarded an QBE
for services to broadcasting in
2004 and, in 2010 a CBE for
sarvices to regional development




& Heidi Mottram OBE

Chief Executive Officer

Herdi Mottram was appointed to
the boards of NWG and NWL on

1 March 2010 and became CEQ
cn 1 Apnl 2010 Beidi is a member
of the Normination Committee and
NWL's Corporate Responsibility
Committee Heid was Commercial
Director for Arriva Trains Northern
from January 2004, before joiring
Serco-NedRalways In November
2004 as Managing Directar
Northern Ral Limited She was
named Rail Busingss Manager

of the Year in 2009 and was
awarded an OBE for services

to the rail industry in 2010

7 Sir Derek Wanless

Chairman

Sir Derek Wanless was appointed
to the Board as an Independent
Non-exacutive Director in
December 2003 He joned the
board of NWL in January 2006
and, in July 2006, becams
Chairman of NWG and NWL

Sir Darek chars the Nomination
Committee and 1s a member of
tha Remuneration Committee

He becama a director of Nationa!
Waestminstar Bank in 1991 and its
Group Chief Executive in 1992
Ha ratired from that position

In 1998 Sir Derek 15 currenily

Chairman of Legal and General
plc's Longevity Science Acvisory
Panet and a member of the Board
for Actuarial Standards at the
Financial Reportng Council

8 Chris Green

Finance Diractor

Chns Green was appainted

10 the boards of NWL in Apnil
2000 and NWG in May 2003
Chris gqualified as a chartered
accountant and after ten years

in the accounting profession he
joined the former Northumbrian
Water Group pic in January

1990 He was initrally involved In
the Group's diversified business
activities before being appointed
as Group Finance Director in
1997 Chns is Charr of Trustees
for the Northumbria Calvert Trust,
a chanty devoted to providing
outgdoor actwities for the disabled,
and 1s Deputy Chair of Governors
at the University of Sunderland

9 Alex Scott-Barrett
Independent Non executive
Director

Alex Scott Barrett was appointed
to tha Board of NWG in Saptember
2006 having joined the board

of NWL in November 2005

He chairs the Remuneration
Committee and is & member

of the Audit ang Nomination
Committees Alex qualfied as

a chartered accountantin 1981
and joined Cazenove acity
corporate stockbroker, in 1982
He worked initially as an analyst
and transferred to the corporate
finance department In 1986,
becoming a partrer in 1988

In 1906 he hecame a director
of the firm s fund management
division and from 2000 to

2003 was the Chief Oparating
Officer of that division Alex Isft
Cazanove 1n 2003 He is & Non-
exacutive Director of Lighthouse
Group plc and 15 a Trustee of
'Arche and Help for Heroes

10 Sir Patrick Brown

Senior Independent
Non-executive Director

Sir Patnck Brown was appointed
to the Beoard in May 2003 and

to the board of NWL n January
2006 S Patnck chairs the Audit
Committes and 1s a member of
the Normination and Remuneration
Committees He held vanous
postions in the Department of
Transport and the Department

of the Environment, bacoming
Second Permanent Secretary and
Chief Executive of the Property
Services Agency In 1890 He

was Permanent Secretary for

10

the Department of Transport from
1981 to 1997 Sir Patrick becama
a Non-executive Dirgctor of the

Go Ahead Group plc in 1999

and its Charman in 2002 He s
also Chairman of the Adviscry
Committes of Alexander Proudfoot
UK and a Non-executive Direcicr
of Gamelot UK Lettenes Limited

11 Martin Parker (not pictured)
Generat Counssl and

Company Secretary

Martin Parker was appointed

as Company Secretary of NWG

in May 2002 Martin joined the
former Narthumbrian Water Group
pic In 1990 cencentrating on
acquisitions overseas projects
and gontracts with industrial
customers, before being appointed
Head of Group Legal Services

1 1998 and Genaral Counsel

and Company Secretary ¢t NWL
in 2000 Martin s Secretary of

all the Board committees

S5

aouewaach - yodai siojoang

LLOZ SWOWRIRIS [eRoueLr; pue Lodel Rty oid anols) IS, LRUGLUINULON

¥ G0 Banu A




95

aouewanoh ~ podas siopang

110g SIUSLRIES [EICUBUY PUR POdal enuly od dnaus) JBlepn UeuduIngion

00 Bl manan

Statutory disclosures

Directors’ report - business review and governance

In accordance with 8417 of the Companies Act 2008, the directors’ report ~ business review, on pages 1 to 53,
contamns a review of the performance of the Group's business during the year and the position at the end of the
year with analysis using KPIs A description of the Group’s future prospects, research and development, the
principal nsks and uncertamties facing the business and details of the Group’s use of financial nstruments are also
contained within the business review

Pages 54 to 70 of this section of the directors’ report contain the Board of directors' biographies, tagether with
such other statutory disclosures, as required by s418 and s418 of the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 7 to the
Large and Medium sized Companies and Group's (Accounts and Reperts) Regulations 2008, as are not already
referred to In the business review section of the report The corporate governance statement explains how the
Company has applied the principies of the Combined Code dunng the year and also complies with the
requirements of Disclosure & Transparency Rule 7 2

Principal activities
The principal activities cf the Group duning the year were the provision of water and waste water services

Political

During the year, the Group has worked with politicians of all major parties, officials and opinion formers This work
has included making representations on issues which NWL feels are important to our custormers and communities
such as competition, the review of regulators, the Water White Paper, adoption of private sewers, "Water for health’,
clmate change, the Water Framework Directive and other legislative 1ssues which could affect our customers

We do not support any political party and we do not, directly or through any subsichary, make what are commaonly
regarded as donations to any political party or other polifical organisation However, the wide definition of
donations 1n the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000 covers activities which form part of the
necessary relatonship between the Group and politicat parties and political organisations These activities include
attending party conferences, as these provide the best opportunity to meet a range of stakeholders, both national
and local, to explain our activities, as well as local meetings with MPs, MEPs and therr agents The costs
associated with these actmities during 2010/11 were as follows

Name of political party £
Conssrvative 6,845
Labour 8,208
Liberal Democrats 3,312
Total 18,365

Shareholder autherity to permit the Company to continue with these activities until the 2012 AGM will be sought at
this year's AGM




Creditors

The Company's policy Is to agree payment terms with suppliers and to pay on time according to those agreed
terms The Company's policy 1s to make payment not mara than 30 days after receipt of a vald inveoice, except as
otherwise agreed The ratio, expressed in days, between the amount invoiced by its suppliers during the year and
the amount owed to is trade creditors at 31 March 2011, was 30 days (2010 21 days)

Directors’ remuneration and interests
Information about directors’ remuneration and their interests in the shares of the Company 1s contained in the
directors’ remuneraton report

Indemmnification of directors

The Company has in place directors’ and officers’ ingurance and, on 28 November 2005, entered into a deed of
indemnity to grant the directors further protection against lability to thrd parties, subject to the conditions set out
in the Companies Act Such quahfying third party indemnity provision remains in force as at the date of approving
the directors' report

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP has indicated its wilingness to continue In office and a resolution proposing its re-appointment
as auditors will be put to shareholders at the AGM

Directors’ declaration

As required under s418 of the Companies Act 2006, so far as each current director I1s aware, there 1S ne relevant
audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware and each director has taken all the steps that he
or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit Information
and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

Going concern

The Group has sufficient funding and facilittes in place to meet its requirements to March 2014 The directors
believe that the Group 1s well placed to manags its business rnsks successfully and, accordingly, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis In preparing the annual report and financial statements
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Corporate governance
statement

The Board believes best practice in corporate governance 1S an irnportant tool in helping it meet its responsibilities
The Board considers that, during the year and up to the date of this report, it has complied with the main principles
and provisions of the Combined Code 2008 {the Code) The Code Is availlable to downlead from the Financial
Reporting Councii’s (FRC) website at www frc org uk/corporate/ukcgeode cfm or, alternatively, printed copies can
be obtained free of charge from FRC publications, tel 020 8247 1264, emall customer services@cch co uk and
online at www frcpublications com

This statement, together with the directors’ remuneration report, describes how the Company has apphed the
principles of the Cede during the year The board of NWL also mantains high standards of corporate governance
and endeavours to comply with the Code, wherever practicable

tn June 2010, the FRC introduced a new UK Corparate Governance Code, which will apply to the Company's
financial year ending 31 March 2012 The Board has considered the requirements of the new code and believes
that the Company 1s well posittoned to achieve compliance Some of the main principles, such as the annual
re-election of all directors, have already been implernented

The Board has a code of ethics, ‘Our Code of Conduct’ which is available on the Company's website, covening
its relationships with customers, employess, supplers, local communities, shareholders, other iInvestors
and regulators

Board composition

As at 31 March 2011, the directors of the Company were Sir Dersk Wanless, Sir Patnck Brown, Heidi Mottram,
Chns Green, Claude Lamoureux, Martin Negre, Alex Scott-Barrett, Margaret Fay and Paul Rew, who all served
throughout the year, except for Margaret Fay and Paul Rew who were appointed on 1 June and 1 October
2010, respectively

Simon Lyster, who has been a Non-executive Director of NWL since 26 September 2006, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of NWG on 1 April 2011

in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the Articles), Paul Rew and Simon Lyster, having been
appointed as directors by the Board since the last AGM, will be eligible for election at this year’s AGM Al other
directors holding office on the day of the notice convening the AGM will retire from office and offer themselves
for re-election, with the exception of Claude Lamoureux who will retire from office at the end of this year's AGM

NWLs Instrument of Appointment {(usually catled its ‘Licence’) requires NWL to have at least thres ndependent
directors with an understanding of the interests of customers and a connection with the areas in which the company
operates Untl 31 March 2011, these roles were held by Anita Frew, Alastar Balis and Simon Lyster, none of whom
were directors of NWG Prior to the retirement of Anita Frew and Alastair Balls from the NWL board an 31 March
2011, NWL and Ofwat agreed that the independent directars of NWL, for the purposes of the Licence, may also

be non-executive directors of NWG Ofwat considered that, given NWG's focus on the core business, such cross-
directorships would not creata a confict of Interest Ofwat will review its position on this if the nature of NWG's
business changes signficantly The directors in question must still, of course, demonstrate the necessary experience
and understanding Ofwat agreed that Margaret Fay and Alex Scott-Barrett would be suitable for these roles, in
addition 1o Simon Lyster Anita Frew and Alastarr Balls have, therefore, not been replaced on the NWL board

Apart from streamlining the work of the two main boards, which now have common non-executive membership,
this reduction in the number of non-executive directors brings a significant saving in fees and expenses




Beoard responsibilities and processes

The Board sets and mptements the Company's stralegy and ensures compliance with Group policies and legal
and regulatory obligations The Group's vision, valugs and strategy are set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s
review Board agendas are proposed by the CEQ and Company Secretary, with input from NWL's management
team, for approval by the Chairman

The Company has adopted terms of reference which set out the matters reserved to the Board for approval and
matters which are, or can be, delegated to the committees and management The Cempany has also adopted
financial approval rules which set out the authonsation processes and financial Iimits to be appled to financial
transactions within the Company NWL has adopted its own version of these guidelines Standing or Executive
Committees can take decisions not delegated to specific committees between Board meetings All directors
recewve netice of Standing Committee meestings and may participate If they wish Decisions taken by the
Standing or Executive Committees are reported at the next Board meeting

The following table sets out the attendance of directors at Board and committee meetings during 2010/11

Board Nomnaton Rermunarsbon Aucdt
Number of meetings 6 4 3 3
Sir Derek Wanless 6 4 3 3
Sir Patnck Brown 5 4 2 3
Margaret Fay? 5 3 2 -
Chris Green 6 - - 3
Claude Lamoureux 4 1 - -
Heid! Mottram 6 4 3! 3t
Martin Négre 6 4 3 1
Paul Rew? 4 2 - 2
Alex Scott-Barrett 6 4 3 3
Jenny Willams* 1 1 - 1

Notes

1 Notamember but attendad at the invitation of the Committee chairman
2 Apponted to the Board on 1 June 2010

3 Appointed to the Board on 1 October 2010

4 Retired from the Board cn 20 Juty 2010

The NWG Board meets at least every two months, usually mmediately following meetings of the NWL board

As NWL 15 so significant within the Group, it may be helpful to provide an insight as to how the NWL board works
Typically, the CEQ provides an overview of perfarmance since her last report, tughlighting 1ssues to which the
board needs to pay particular attention She also reports on regulatory and other developments affecting the
sector NWL's performance 1s captured by means of a balanced scorecard which shows performance aganst a
senes of KPIs Achievement against this scorecard will also be a key slement of NWG and NWL drrectors’ bonuses
In 2011/12 and future years The CEQ's overvtew also contains detalled reports on finance, regulation, operations
and human rescurces Reports are provided from chairmen of committees which have met since the fast board
meeting Health and safety performance 1s addressed at each mesting The NWL board considers papers seeking
approval of contracts worth over £2 0 milion and capital projects {which may i time require a series of contracts)
over £5 0 millon Papers seeking investment approval are required to contain sections on sustanability and risk
For example, a paper seeking (nvestment approval for a scheme to alieviate sewer flooding would need to
demonstrate that the solution proposed I1s sustainable
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Corporate governance statement
continued

As well as the reports described above, the NWL board receives nsk reports and approves budgets, financial
plans, reports to Ofwat, accounts, dwvidends payable and a range of other matters The NWL board also sets tme
aside during its meetings to consider forward-looking strategy, and meets on separate strategy days to develop
that work The papers submitted to the board are used as the basis for discussion, rather than as an end In
themselves The Chawman ensures that, wherever possible, the board avoids becoming too immersed it detall
and that the mestings are used to generate ideas and to constructively challenge the management Non-executive
directors readily question the assumptiens of the management team and bring new perspectives from therr
experience elsewhere

Non-executive directors are encouraged to meet employees in order te gain a closer understanding of the
1Issues they face On 30 March 2011, six of NWG's non-executive directors (and the CEQ) held an open forum
with employees at NWL's offices at Hanningfield, in Essex This event was successful and will be repeated

at other venues

The NWG Board works 1n a very simidar way The members of the NWG Beard all sit on the NWL board, and
therefore the NWG Board does not need to become too involved in NWLU's operational issues The NWG Board's
focus 1s strategic t sets the future direction of all Group companigs, with a particular emphasis on the medium
and long term, including funding

The NWG Board also oversees the nan-NWL businesses, and particularly the PF! contracts in Scotland, the
operating contracts in Iretand, AquaGib and Agrer

During the year, the non-executive directars met formally once without the executive directors and are in regular
contact with each other throughout the year The non-executive directors also met once without the Chairman
but did not consider additional formal meetings to be necessary

Authonsation of directors’ conflicts of interest

Drectors have a statutory duty, under s175 of the Companies Act 20086, to avoid a situation in which they have, or
could have, a conflict of iInterest with the Company's interests However, there 1s no breach of this duty if the Board
has authonsed the matter in question The Articles permit directors (other than the director having the interest in
question) to authorise any situabion giving nse to a known or potential conflict A register of the interests which have
been authorised 1s maintained by the Cornpany Secretary and I1s avallable at every Board meeting The Company
will follow emerging best practice in ine with the General Counsel 100's guidance paper

Board balance and independence

Ten directors served dunng the year — the Chairman, two executive directors, the Senior Independent Non-
executive Director and six other non-executive directors Sir Derek Wanless 1s the non-executive Charman The
executive directors are Heidh Mottram {CEQ) and Chns Green (Finance Director) Sir Patrick Brown 1s the Semor
Independent Non-executive Director and the other independent non-executive directors who served during the
year were Margaret Fay, Martin Négre, Paul Rew, Alex Scott-Barrett and Jenny Willams Claude Lamoureux s also
a Nan-executive Director but ts not independeant as he was, until 1 December 2007, President and CEQ of OTPP,
which helds 27% of the 1ssued share capital of the Company Jenny Wilhams retired from the boards of NWG and
NWL on 29 July 2010

The Company complies with the Code's requirement that half of the directors, excluding the Chawrman, are
Independent non-executive directors Tha Chairman was mdependent on appontment Biographical detalls of the
directors appear on pages 54 and 55 and details of their service contracts are in the directors’ remuneration report

The Chairman and CEQ have clearly defined written responsibilities which have been agreed by the Board

The Charman leads the Board and creates the conditions for overall Beard and indwidual director effectiveness,
both Inside and outside the boardroom The CEQO 1s respensible for runring the Company’s busingss on a day
to day basis




Sir Patrick Brown, as Senior Independent Non-executive Director, is avarable to shareholders who wish to raise
any concerns and leads the non-executive directors in therr evaluation of the Charrman's performance

The non-executive directors bring to the Board many years of business experience as well as financial expertise
and the abiity and withngness to challenge and support the executive directors

The General Counset and Company Secretary, Martin Parker, assists the Board to ensure that good corporate
governance comphliance 1s achieved He s also Company Secretary of NWL and 1s secretary to all Board committees

The NWG Board supports the findings of Lord Dawvies’ recent review, ‘Women on Boards' Over the coming
months the Board will review its procedure for the appointment of directors (including the mpact of the approach
taken to management development at a less senior level} and consider which of the Davies recommendations
should be adopted, whether cr not they become formally binding on companies Following this year's AGM,

if Heidh Mottram and Margaret Fay are re-elected, two (22%) of the nine directors will be female

Information and professional development

Al directors have access to Independent professional advice to assist them in the performance of ther duties,

at the Company’s expense, and to the Company Secretary for advice and assistance The Chairman, with the
assistance of the Company Secretary, monitors the induction and training requirements of directors  All new
directors receve an induction information pack and are encouraged to make site visits and to arrange meetings
with managers Since joining the Company in June 2010, Margaret Fay has vistted Birtley sewage treatment works
(STW), Lumley water traatment works (WTW) and Bran Sands STW Since joning in October 2010, Paul Rew has
visited Bran Sands STW, Lumley WTW, Kielder, Hanningfield and Abberton reservoirs and the Pity Me customer
contact centre

Managers from within the Group subrrut papers or give presentations at Board meetings Water industry
representatives meat the NWL board to discuss current issues

The Company Secretary ensures that directors are kept mformed and that information flows effectively within the

Group by

- keeping in regutar contact wath directors,

- sending Board papers to directors before each Board meeting,

- sending brefing packs to directors in the months when Board meetings are not held, and

- providing a directors’ team room intranet site containing Board and committee papers, minutes, analysts’
reports and reference and regulatory documents, to which all directors have access

Directors attend conferences and seminars where this will help them in the performance of their duties

Performance evaluation

A full evaluation of the performance of the Board and its committees was conducted dunng the year by an external
consultant, who observed board meetings of NWG and NWL, and a meeting of the Audit Committee Each
director completed a detalled questionnaire prior to a one-to-one meeting with the consultant The guestionnaire
was designed 1o address strategic Issues and succession planning, as well as the approach of the Board to
operatonal and financial matters, the role of the non-executive directors and the quality of nformation received by
the Board The performance of NWLUs board and its committees was evaluated at the same time The Chairrman
used the evaluation to assist with his evaluation of each director

The results of the external evaluation were generally very positive and a nurmber of actions were agreed, with a
view to further improving the performance of the boards Although the Board discussions are already lively and
vigorous, the consuliant encouraged directors to be even more challenging in therr approach
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Corporate governance statement
continued

In relation to Board papers, it was agreed that some could be a little more incisive and state theirr main points
more clearly

As well as commenting on the contributrons from the directors and the processes adopted at Board and
committee mestings, the consultant made certan practical observatons The consultant felt, for example, that
a meeting of the Audit Committiee was hampered by the fact that some people (who wera not members of the
Committee) participated by video conference It was agreed that this was not helpful and the scheduls of
meetings was immediately adjusted to avoid the need for this in future

It was agreed that the Board's tme would be more tightly focused on strategic 1ssues, so that maximum value
15 added

The Board has also considered the FRC's ‘Guidance on Board Effectiveness’, published in March 2011 The
directors consider that the work of both the NWG and NWL boards and the roles played by the Chairman, the
Senior Independent Non-executive Director and the other directors are consistent with both the practical content
and underlying philosophy of the Guidance

The Gharrman's comments on the evaluatton of the directors seeking electicn and annual re-election at the AGM
ars provided in the Notice of Mesting The comments of the Senior Independent Non-executive Director on the
evaluatron of the Chairman are also provided in the Notice

External appointments

Executive directors have generally only accepted non-executive positrons cutside the Group where this would
benefit either the Group or the local community These positions have tended to be with educational institutions,
economic regeneration groups or similar bodies The Board has agreed that executive directors of the Company
who are appointed to non-executive directorships of a more commercial nature may retain the fees, subject to
obtamning the Chairman’s consent before an appointment 1s accepted Only one such external appomtrnent per
director will generally be permitted

Board committees

The Board has Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees to assist it in the performance of its duties
The Board sets the terms of reference of the committees and receives regular reporis from therr charmen at
Board meetings The terms of reference of committees are avadable on the Company's website or from the
Company Secretary

Remuneration Committee
The work of the Remuneration Committes, and detaills of the directors’ remuneration, are set out in the directors’
remuneration report

Noemination Committee

The main duty of the Nomination Cemmittee 1s to identify and nominate candidates to fill Board vacancies for
approval by the Board The Commuttee also reviews succession planning for the Board, NWL board and senior
appointments and will make recommendations to the Board when appropnate The Committes’s usual policy
1S to use external recruitment consultants or to advertise in order to iIdentify suitable candidates




During the year, the Committee recommended to the NWG and NWL boards the appointments of Margaret Fay
and Paul Rew, as additional independent non-axecutive directors The Committee felt that an addiional non-
executive with strong business and pobitical contacts, especially in the north east, would be a valuable addition

to the boards Margaret Fay was regarded by the Committee as an ideal candidate for this role and she was,
therefore, approached by the Company to discuss the opportunity Paul Rew was appointed for his first class
finance skills and expenence and particular expertise in sustainability The Committee considered that these
attributes and Paul Rew’s all-round understanding of busingss made him an excellent addition to the two principat
boards Leading executive search consultants assisted the Committee with Paul Rew’s appomtment Simon Lyster,
a Non-executive Director of NWL since 26 September 2006, was apponted to the NWG Board on 1 Apnil 2011
Simon Lyster brings very significant expenence of sustamability issues, as well as excellent analytical skills and a
first-hand understanding of NWL's Essex operating area

The Commuttee also considared extensions to the appointments of non-executive directors on the NWG and NWL
boards whose contracts for services expired dunng the year Non-executive directors are appointed for a term of
one year and all directors are subject to annual re-election at the AGM

The members of the Nomination Committee are now Sir Derek Wanless (Chairman), Sir Patnck Brown, Margaret
Fay, Heid Mottram, Martin Negre, Paul Rew, Alex Scott-Barrett and Smon Lyster, and the membership s
compliant with the Code

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee membaers during the year were Sir Patrick Brown (Charman), Martin Négre, Alex Scett-
Barrett, Paul Rew {from 1 October 2010) and Jenny Wilhams {until 29 July 2010) Paul Rew and Alex Scott-Barrett
are chartered accountants and the Board 15 satisfisd that they both have recent and relevant financial experience
It 1s proposed that Paul Rew will take over as Charman of the Audit Commuttee on 28 July 2011, following the
AGM Paul Rew was a senicr partner with PwC until March 2010 The Committee’s membership complies with
the Code The Charrman and executive directors are invited to Audit Comrmittee meetings, with the permission
of 1s Chairman, but have no nght of attendance Managers from within the Group are invited to Audit Commitiee
meetings to discuss 1ssues relating o ther areas of the business Dunng the year, the Commuittee met with both
the external Audit Partner and Internal Audit Manager to discuss audit busingss, without the executive directors
being present The Commitiee remains satisfied that the internal audit function 1s able to operate with
Independence and I1s not under any praessure from the executive management of the Company to produce
particular resulis

The Committee members recewve regular briefings from the external auditors to enable them to keep up to date
on financial reporting standards

The purpose of the Audit Committee 1s to assist both executive and non-executive directors of NWG {0 discharge

therr iIndividual and ceollective responsibilities 1n relation to

- ensuring the financial and accounting systems of NWG and its subsidianes are providing accurate and up to
date information on their current position,

- ensuring NWG's published financral statements represent a true and farr reflection of this position, and

- assessing the scope and effectiveness of the Group's risk management systems and the integrity of its internal
financial controls
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Corporate governance statement
continued

During the year its work included

- monitoring the integnty of the financal statements of the Company,

- reviewing the Company's internal controls {both financial and information systems) by considering reports of
both the internal and external auditors, directing questions to management and reviewing the financial risks and
controls information provided to them on an annual basis,

— monitonng and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audst function by reviewing the scope of the annual
audit plan, the results of those audits and maonitoring the completion of actions identified durning the audis,

- moenitoring and reviewing the performance and effectiveness of the external auditors, in particular, by reviewing
the scope and costs of the audit process,

- reviewing the external auditors’ ndependence by monitoring the extent of the prowvision of non-audit services
and recewing reports from the external auditors,

~ monitoring the potential impact and management of significant nsks to the business using a risk methodclogy
{meeting the recommendations of the 2005 Turnbull Review Group guidance) which sets out and rates all
identified nsks, including operational, external, financial, environmental, social and governance risks,

- reviewing the Committee's terms of reference,

- reviewing the Group's financial approval rules,

- reviewing the Group's tax strategy, |

- reviewing NWLs contract terms,

- reviewing the Group's accounting and treasury policies, and

- reviewing the Company's intenm management statements, hali-yearly and prelminary results announcements
and final published annual report and financial statements

The Committee has now assumed responsibility for the practical work being done to ensure that the Group's
procedures designed to prevent brbery are adeguate (having regard to the provisions of the Bribery Act 2010 and
the official guidance published in relation to that Act) This builds on significant work done by the NWG Board, with
advice from the Company Secretary and Internal Audit Manager, to assess the bribery nsk faced by the Group,
clanfy policies and map the procedures to be put in place

Given the importance of NWL to the Group's business, the Commitiee works closely with the Audit Committee of
NWL In particular, both commitiees review significant regulatory reports for Ofwat and regularly review NWL's debt
recovery strategy and performance In addition, mestings wers held with the Ofwat Reporter during the year to
discuss the June Return process

The Audit Committee Charrman reports to the Board following each meeting of the Commitiee and Committee
minutes are circulated to the Board

External audrntors
Ernst & Young LLP have been the Group's auditors since 2003 The audit engagement partner 1s subject to
change every five years and was last changed in 2008

Non-audit services

The Committee has approved a procedure for the approval of non-audit services to safeguard the cbjectivity and
independence of the extarnal auditors, which complies with the requiremeants of the Auditing Practices Board's
revised Ethical Standard No 5 The external auditors are not permitted to provide bookkeeping, financial information
systems design and implementation, or internal audit cutsourcing services Permitted services reguire prior approval,
either from the Audit Committee Chairman, if under £50,000, or from the Audit Commitiee, If over £50,000 The
Company requires the auditors to report annually detalls of all non-audit services provided A breakdown of the

cost of audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors 1s set out In note 4 to the financial statements




Cn 25 May 2011, Emnst & Young LLP confirmed to the Audit Committes, in accordance with ISA 260 (Commumication
of audit matters to those charged with governance), that they have considered thewr relationship with the Company
and that, in therr professional judgement, the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staffis

not impared

Review of internal control
The Board believes that, as explained below, there are effective systems in place to identify and manage significant
nsks and that it receves sufficient information to enable it to assess these nsks

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness The system 1 designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives Regular reviews of the effectiveness of the internal control system are carned out in accordance with
the 2005 Turnbull Review Group guidance The actions necessary to address weaknesses and otherwise improve
the system of internal control are communicated to management internal audit monitors implementatton of these
actions and reports back to the Audit Committee This process has been in place throughout the year and up to
the date of approval of the 2010/11 annual report and financial statements There are inherent Imitations i any
system of internal control and even the most effective system can only provide a reascnacle, and not absolute,
assurance agamst materral mis-statement or loss

The use of our standard accounting manual by finance teams throughout the Group ensures that transactions and
balances are recognised and measured In accordance with prescribed accounting policies and that information 1s
appropnately reviewed and reconciled as part of the reporting process The use of a standard reporting pack by all
entities In the Group ensures that infarmation 1 gathered and presented 1n a consistent way that facilitates the
production of the consolidated financial statements

The Board has reviewed the effectivenass of the Group's system of internal control, as follows, during the year

The internal audit team manages a process whereby all of the financial contrals within the Group are identified

and certfied by the relevant manager as having operated for the full year As part of a pregramme of wark, whitch
is agreed with the Audit Committee, these controis are testad throughout the year A report detaling any areas of
concern 1s produced after each audit As part of the same process all of the key business nsks are identified Each
risk (s assessed on an unmanaged basis, the controls in place to mitigate the nisks are detaled and the nsk 1s then
re-assessed after these controls

Internal audit’s findings and recommendations are presented to the Audit Committee along with agreed actions
Internal audit updates progress against any agreed actions until the control weakness Is resolved

Organisational structure

The trading subsidianes have their own boards of directors {the Subsidiary Boards) which are responsible for the
operational and financial control of their own businesses The Subsidiary Boards report to the executive directors
and to the Company's Board on matters including major strategic, financial, organisational, comphance and
regulatory 1ssues

The NWL management team manages the major business of the Group and consists of Heidi Mottram (CEO),
Chnis Green {Finance Director), Graham Neave {Operations Direclor and on NWL board), Cen Jones (Regulation
& Scientific Services Director and en NWL board), John Devall (Water Director], fan Donald (Customer Services
Director), Sarah Salter (HR Director from 4 January 2011}, Colin Price (Technical Director) and Henry Wilson
(Wastewater Director) NWLs former HR Director, Diane Morton, resigned on 30 September 2010 The NWL
management team meets monthly to consider and discuss progress against annual and monthly financial and
operational targets | prepares an annual budget and business plan for consideration and approval by the NWL
board NWL operates a balanced scorecard which monitors progress against KPls and which covers all areas
of operation of the business
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Corporate governance statement
continued

The Board 18 able to monitor the impact of environmental, social and governance matters on the Group's bustness,
to assess the impact of significant nsks on the business and te evaluate methods of managing these nsks through
reports it receives from the Subsidiary Boards and the Audit Committee The environmental risks considered 1o be
signfficant by the Board are descnbed on page 51, together with a summary of how NWL 1s managing these nsks

For a number of years, the Subsichary Boards have performed a full annual business nsk analysis to meet the
recommendations of the 2005 Turnbull Review Group guidance This methodology is descnbed above in relation
o the work of the Audit Commuttee The results of the nsk reviews are reported in detail to the Audit Committee
and a summary is reported to the Company’s directors Accompanying the risk mode! 1S a detalled review of each
company's iniernal financial controls along with either confirmation that the controls have operated throughout the
year or detalls of any exceptions Action points ansing from these reviews are followed up as part of the internal
audit process

Some subsidiaries, such as NWL, consider nsks more frequently The executive directors consider significant
nisks In a structured way on a monthly basis, assessing the likelhood and potential Impact of the relevant risks
both before and after nsk management measures have been put in place Further detalls about how risks and
uncertainties facing the Group are assessed and managed are included in the directors’ report — business
review on pages 50 and 51

On a monthly basig, the executive directors compare the actual operational and financial performance of each
business with 1ts plan and budget Targets are set 10 measure performance and regular forecasts are made

Information and reporting system

Each Subsidiary Board holds a copy of the Company’s financial approval rules and terms of reference, which
contain full details of the procedures for distnbution of nfermation and financial reporting Each Subsidiary Board
has developed financial control systems appropriate to its activities

Budgets and business planning

The Group prepares detaited medium term business plans and annual budgets which are reviewed by the
executive directors and submitted to the Board for approval Business plans and budgets includs an assessmenit
of the key risks and success factors facing each business unit

The approval of the Board 1s required for major investments, including those in new markets, and large capital
expenditure programmes The treasury strategy, which 1$ approved by the Board, requires that investments are
imited to certain money market and treasury instruments, and that the Group’s expaosure 10 any single bank,
bullding soctety or market 1s controlled, with maximum deposis allowed with any single counterparty The Group's
invesiment strategy ams to fix interest rates for part of the Group’s borrowings and invastments for periods
determined by the forecast cash flow of the indmdual businesses This manages the exposure to the risk of
changes in short term Interest rates Foreign currency exposure 18 also managed as part of the treasury strategy
approved by the Board




Investor relations

The Company welcomes constructive commurnication with all its shareholders Qur main communication with
shareholders 1s through the publication of the annual report and financial statements, half-yearly financial report,
interim management statements and through information on the Company’s website In addition, the executive
directors hava regular contact with the Company's large institutional investors, as well as giving presentations to
analysts and stockbrokers During the year, the executive drectors held 36 mestings with a range of institutional
investors Investor feedback reports from investor meetings, prepared by the Company's advisers, are considered
at Board meetings and analysts’ notes on the Company are made avallable to all directors on the Board's intranet
tearmn room The Board believes that these methods of investor feedback provide the Senor independent Non-
executive Director and the other non-executive directors with a balanced understanding of the 1ssues and
concerns of major shareholders The Senior Independent Non-executive Director I1s avallable to shareholders
who wish to raise any matters of concern and the Chairman welcomes contact with any shareholders who have
matters they wish to discuss The Company has not receved any requests from institulional shareholders to
meet with non-executive directors

All shareholders are encouraged to contact the Company with guenes or suggestions A welcome letter s sent
to all new non-corporate shareholders, which includes information on services available to shareholders

AGM

Sharehelders are encouraged to attend the Company’s AGM at which they can meet and question the directors
The Company will make a presentation at the AGM to hughlight the key business developments and events during
the year The full Board 1s expected to be avallable at the AGM to answer shareholders’ guestions Voting at the
AGM will be on a show of hands but the proxy votes cast on each resclution will he displayed after each resolution
has been voted on If the voting on a show of hands produces a different result from that which would have been
achieved on a poll, the Charrman will call a poll so that the result of the voting on that resclution reflects the wishes
of the majonty of shareholders The proxy votes cast at each AGM are disclosed on our wehsite The notice
convening the AGM, to be held on 28 July 2011, has been sent to shareholders together with an explanation

of the business to be conducted at the mesting and a form of proxy

Information pursuant to the Takeovers Directive
Structure of the Company’s share capital
As at 31 March 2011, the Company had 518,623,845 ordinary 10 pence shares admitted to trading

Rights and obhigations attaching to the shares

The nghts attaching to the shares in the Company are set out In the Articles and may be changed with the
approval of the shareholders Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, shares may be 1ssued with or have
attached thereto such preferred, deferred, gualified or other nghts or such restrictions, whether in regard to
dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the Company may by ordinary resolution deterrmine or, if there
has not been any such determination, as the Board may determine

Sharehelders are entitied to requisition a general meeting of the Company and to attend, vote and speak at
general meetings, n accordance with the Companies Acts and the Articles Shareholders have the right to
appoint proxies
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Corporate governance statement
continued

Restrictions on the transfer of shares

Any shareholder may transfer a certificated share, as defined in the Articles, by an instrument of transfer in the

usual form or in such other form as the Board may approve However, the transfer of an uncertificated share, as

defined in the Articles, need not be in writing and shall comply with any rules adopted by the Board under Article

137 The Board may, however, In its absolute discretion and without assigning any reascn, decline to register any

transfer of any share that 1s not a fully paid up share or on which the Company has a llien, provided that such

discretion may not be exercised in such a way as to prevent dealings in the shares from taking place on an open

and proper basis The Board may also decline to register any transfer unless

- In the case of a certificated share, the instrument of transfer, duly stamped, 1s lodged with the Company
accompanied by the certificate for the shares to which (f relates and such other evidence as the Board may
reasonably require to show the nght of the transferor to make the transfer,

- In the case of a certificated share, the instrument of transfer 1s in respect of only one class of share, and

— In the case of a transfer to jont holders of a certificated or uncertificated share, the number of joint hotders to
whom the share 1s to be transferred does not exceed four

If the share to be transferred I1s an uncertificated share, the Board may refuse to register a transfer if the
Uncertificated Securities Regutations 2001 allow 1t to do so

Addrtionally, where a member or other person on whom a Disclosura Notice has been served {pursuant 10 5793
of the Companies Act 2006} and has not, within the period specified, supplied to the Company the information

required m respect of any shares, the Board may impose a sanction declining to register any transfer of shares,
other than a sale to a bona fide unconnected third party

Significant shareholdings
Details of sharehclders with sigruficant holdings in the Company’s issued share capital are set out below

Number of Number of
shares at % share shares at % sharg
313 2011 caprtal 3152018 capital
Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan Board 138,776,864 26,76 138,776,864 2676
Piciet Asset Management Ltd 38,770,495 748 40,787 412 7 86
Artemis Investment Management LLP Below 3% - 15,654,522 302

Legal & General Invastment Management Ltd (UK) 16,319,467 315 15,573,103 300

The holdings include, where applicable, the aggregate of investment management clients’ interasts within the
respective asset management companies and may have since changed without triggering a further notshcation

Restrictions on voting nghts

In agcordance with the Articles, ne member shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be entitled to be
present or to vote, erther personally or by proxy, unless all calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect
of shares in the Company have been pad

Additionally, where a member or other person on whom a Disclosure Notice (pursuant to s793 of the Companies
Act 2006) has been served and has not, within the period specified, supplied to the Company the nformation
required in respect of any shares, the Board may impose a sanction preventing the member from attending and
voting at any general meeting




Shares required to fulfit vested awards made under the Northumbnan Water Group ple Employee Trust are
acquired through Narthumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited In ine with Asscciation of British Insurers
{ABI) Guidelines, dwvidends and voting rights are waived on these shares At 31 March 2011, the Employee Trust
held a total of 765,962 shares

The deadline for delivering either written or electronic proxy voting forms 1s 48 hours before the appointed time of
the meeting

Appomtment and replacement of directors

The Company may, by ordinary resolution, appoint any person to be a director The Board may also appoint
directors, either to fill casual vacancies or as an addition to the Board, but any director so appointed shall held
office only until the next AGM and shall then be ehgible for election Paul Rew and Simon Lyster, who were
appointed to the Board since the tast AGM, will be eligible for election at this year's AGM Addihionally, the Articles
provide for the annual re-election of all directors Detalls of all the directors seeking re-election at this year's AGM
are set out In the Notice of Meeting

The main duty of the Nomination Commuttee 1s to identfy and nominate candidates to fill Board vacancies for
approval by the Board The work of the Nomination Committee 1s descnbed above

The Company may, by special resolution, or by ordinary resolution of which special notice has been given in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts, remove any director before the expiration of his period
of office and may, by ordinary resolution, appoint another person in his place Any person 50 appointed shall be
subject to retirement at the same time as If he had become a director on the day on which the director in whose
place he Is appointed was last appointed a director

Amendments to the Company’s Articles
The Company may amend its Articles by passing a special resolution of its members

Powers of the Board

The Articles provide that the business of the Company shall be managed by the Board, which may exercise all

such powers of the Company as are not required {by the Companies Acts or the Articles) to be exarcised by the

Company In general meeting Subsect to the Companies Acts, the Articles and any directions given by special

resolution, the Board may, inter alia

- establish local or divisional boards or agencies to manage any of the Company's affars and appoint any
persons to be members of such local or divisional boards, or agents, and fix their remuneration,

- appoint attorney(s) for such purposes and with such powaers, authories and discretions, and for such period
and subject to such terms and conditions, as it may think fit,

- delegate its powers to any director,

- sign, draw, accept, endorse or otherwise execute all chegues, promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange and
other instruments and all receipts for moneys paid to the Company In such manner as the Board shall from time
to time determine, and

- exercise all of the powers of the Company to grant and pay pensions, annuites, gratuities, superannuation or
other allowances and benefits in favour of any person

Allotment of shares

Subject to the provision of the Companies Acts, the Articles and any authorising resclutions passed in general
meeting, the shares of the Company shall be at the disposal of the Board, which may offer, allot, grant options
over or atherwise dispose of them to such persons, at such times, for such consideration and upon such terms
and conditions as the Board may determine The directors will again be seeking authority from shareholders at
this year's AGM for the directors to allot shares during the ensuing year atthough, at presant, the Company has
no ntention of doing so
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Corporate governance statement
continued

Purchase of own shares

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and the Articles and to any confirmation or consent required by
law, the Company may from time to time purchase its own shares The Company will again be sesking authonty
from shareholders at this year’s AGM to purchase its own shares during the ensiing year although, at present,
the Company has no intention of doing so

Significant agreements

As at 31 March 2011, NWL had £344 7 millon of loans provided by the EIB and the apphcable terms include
change of control clauses If, after consultation with NWL, the EIB s of the opirmion that a change of control has
had, or s likely 1o have, a matenal adverse effect, then the EIB could give 30 days notice of requesting early
repayment of the loans plus, In certain circumstances, a premium depending on prevalling market interest rates

By order of the Board
A/\,F oAl

Martin Parker
General Counsel and Company Secretary
31 May 2011

Northumbrian Water Group plc
Registered office Northumbria House, Abbey Road, Pity Me, Durham, DH1 5FJ
Registered in England and Wales No 4760441




Directors’ remuneration
report

In this report, which wili be submitted for approval at the AGM on 28 July 2011, we describe how the Chairman,
exacutive and non-executive directors are remunerated Those parts of the remuneration report which are subject
to audit by Ernst & Young LLP are marked ‘audited’

The Remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Board {the Commuttes) determines the remuneration and terms of
employment of the Chairman of the Company, executive directors of NWG and NWL and a further six senior
managers, In accordance with a remuneration policy approved by the Board The terms of reference of the
Commuittee are published on cur website at www nwg co uk {in the ‘about us corporate governance’ section)
or a copy can be requested from the Company Secretary

The Committee 1s always available to engage with major shareholders and ther representatives to discuss
remuneration matters

Remuneration Committee members

The Committes members are Alex Scott-Barrett {Cormmittee Chairman), Sir Patrick Brown, Martin Negre
and Margaret Fay, who are all considered by the Company to be independent, and Sir Derek Waniess The
membership of the Commuttee was, therefore, comphant with the Code throughout the year Martin Parker,
the Company Secretary, 1s secretary to the Committeg

External advice

The Committes continued to receive advice during the year from its appomnted advisers, Hewitt New Bridge Street
{HNBS), and also from the CEC (although never about her own remuneration} The Human Resources Director,
Sarah Salter, who joined the Group on 4 January 2011, afso attends Committes meetings to provide expert advice
HNBS was paid £33,398 for these services in 2010/11 and continues to assist the Committee in maintaining best
practice in relation 1o remuneration HNBS did not provide any other services to the Company during the year

The Committee’s work over the past year

The Committee met three tmes dunng the year with 100% attendance by all members, except far Sir Patrick

Brown who was not present at the March 2011 mesting and Margaret Fay who did not join the Committee untl

June 2010, to

- agree bonus payments for 2009/10,

- set performance targets for executive directors and senior managers,

— agree salaries for 2011/12,

- determinge the vesting percentage to be appled to the LTIP awards made on 13 December 2007 which
vested on 13 December 2010,

- grant LTIP awards on 8 December 2010 {to vest, subject to performance and continued service, on
8 December 2013),

- considar the mpact of changes to the tax treatment of pensions, and

- review the pension contributtons payable in respect of executive members of the Company's defined
contribution pension scheme

Following the year end, the Committee wrote to its largest shareholders and the major representative bodies to
consult on a number of changes to executive remuneration arrangements for 2011/12 In summary, these changes
wers to introduce an executive tier to the defined contribution pension scheme, expand the range of annual bonus
metrics to include a balanced scorecard, increase maximum bonus potentsal for executive directors from 70% to
100% of base salary and mtroduce bonus deferral and clawback Further detalls of the changes are set out below
No changes wera made to long term incentive provisions

As the Committee works closely with NWL's remuneration committes, Comrmittee papers and minutes are
circulated to alt NWG and NWL non-executive directors, who can give ther views direct to the Committee
Chairman and can attend meetings if they wish
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Remuneration policy

The Committee considers the principles and provisions of the Code when setting its policy and behieves it 1s fully
comphant The palicy of the Company I1s to provide remuneration that 1s sufficient to attract, retain and motivate
directors of the quabty required to run the Company successfully, while paying farrly Although HNBS provides
the Committee with detaled comparative data on other companies in the utiities sector and more widely, the
Commitiee uses this data with caution given the lack of direct comparators and to avoid remuneration being
ratcheted up as a resuit of benchmarking exercises

Consistent with its fair pay policy, when considering the remuneration packages of senior executives and directors,
the Commuttee takes into account the pay and employment conditions of other employees in the Group However,
It does not consider that a formulaic approach to the pay differentials between directors and other employees
would, of itself, be helpful It recogrises, however, that excessive pay differentials would be dvisive and would
undermine the Group's core value of working as ‘one team' The Committse 1s determined to ensure that
executive's remuneration continues to be set at a level which 1s reasonable and appropriate The drrectors

have been awarded the same 3 71% increase Iin their basic pay as nearly all other employees for 2011/12

The Committee also cansiders environmental, soctal, risk management and governance 1ssues when setting
remuneration terms

The remuneration policy of the Committee I1s that

- the setting of base salanes s largely influenced by individual contributions and internal relatwvities rather
than external comparators (although for 2010/11 and 2011/12 the Committee was influenced by general
eccnomic conditions;),

- the annual bonus plan recognises the interests of all of the Company’s stakeholders (Including shareholders,
customers and employees) rather than being focused solely on profit, and

- management shares mn the longer term value created for the Company’s investors and the serviceability
of the Company’s regulated assets

Elements of remuneration

The remuneration of the executive directors comprises

- basic salary,

- benefits (including pension and participation in the Company’s SIF),
- a performance related annual bonus, and

— annual LTIP awards

In addition to reviewing each constituent element, the Committes reviews the remuneration packages as a whole to
ensure that they remain appropriate in terms of structure and quantum The chart below shows the composition of
the CEC's remuneration (as a percentage of basic salary} both at ‘target’” and ‘maximum’ levels of performance
Maximum performance assumes the achreverment of maximum bonus and full vesting of LTIP awards




Basic salary and benefits
Basic salary 1s reviewed annually based on individual contributions and internal relativities The Committee also has
regard to market practice In other quoted water companies and similar sized companies more generally

Current basic salanes, together with the previous year's salaries, are set out below

As st As at As at

142011 142010 142009

Heidi Mottram £331,872 £320,000 rn/a
Chris Green £236,459 £228,000 £225,000

For 2011/12, salares for senior executives have been increased by 3 71% This 1s the same as for nearly all
other employees

Benefits provided to the executive directors comprise membership of pension schemaes (as detalled below),
car allowance and healthcare

Pensions
The main features of the Northumbrian Water Pension Scheme are set cut in note 24 teo the financial statements
Basic salary 1s the only pensionable element of the executive directors’ remuneration packages

The executive directors' pensions were modified with effect from 1 January 2008, in line with the changes
proposed for the pension scheme as a whole, and the executive pension arrangements were closed to new
entrants on that date In 2010/11, Heidi Mottram received an employer’s contribution of 8% of satary to the defined
contribution section of the Northumbnan Water Pension Scheme and made an employee contribution of 5% The
employer's contribution of 8% was the same as was available to any other employee making a 5% contribution
during 2010/11 Following consuttation with the Company’s largest shareholders and magjor representative bodies,
the employer contributions on behalf of executive memkbers of the defined contribution scheme have been
increased from 8% to 15% of salary, with employee contributions increased from 5% to 8%, from 1 Apnl 2011

This was thought necessary In order to make the remuneration packages available for sentor recruits market
competitive Heidh Mottram 1s the only executive director of the Company in the defined contribution scheme

Annual bonus
The annual bonus plan has been designed to reflect the interests of all of the Company's stakeholders
The maximum annual bonus potental for the executive directors for 2010/11 was 70% of salary
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Actual performance against the 2010/11 targets was as follows

Maximum  Chns Green fsﬂc;r';:r.(:\I

bonus  actual bonus  actual bonus

Bonus memnc (% of salary) (% of salary) (% of salary)

Prcfit before tax (PBT)! 40 39 39

Overall perfarmance assessment (OPA) rating? 5 2 2

Percentage tme lost through sickness?® 5 - -

Bespoke personal targets® 20 20 20

Total 70 61 61
Notes

1 The PBT bonus Ia based on actual PBT parformance comparad to the budget PBT sat by the Board at the begnning of the year FBT has been chosan bacauss it is &
primary tinancial measure for tha Company, for which the exacutive directars are accountable The calculation of PBT performance 1s adjusied 10 exglude the impact of
any variance between the actual and budget intarest charge on index inked bonds 18sued by Northumbrien Water Finance pic which cepends entrely on RPlin July of
sach year and is therelore outside of management contrel

2 Thedrectors remuneration report for 2009/10 stated that the bonus matnes 1o be used n 2010/11 would be the same es In the previous year Theretora although
Otwat no longer publishes an OPA rating the Committee has estimated NWLs OPA score for 2010711 on the sama bas# as before as 362 This has been placedina
range for bonus purposes of 351 to 426 beng the pubhshed range of performance ecross the 10 water and sewerage compantes in 2009/10

3 The year end percentage of iime lost through sickness was 3 1%, against a rangs tor bonus purposes of 2 7% 10 2 99%

4 10 2010/11, Heidi Mottram s personal targets reflated principally to mantaining key financial ratos end measures ensunng that good relabonships were mantained with
major nvestors and analysts, increasing cperating &nd capital mamntenance efficiencies, identdying business development opportunities ensuring that nvestment needs
were properly quantified refreshing the nsk model and preparing a high level strategic sk metnx Chns Green s personal targets were focusad mainly on mamntaining
key financial ratios and measures mantaining good relatonships with major investors and analysts ensuring treasury management achieved an approprate balanca
between nsk and raward revigwing and developing strategy in refation to market reform and compstition sdentifying business development opporiunilies eénsuning that
Invesiment neads were properly quantfied refreshing the nsk model prepanng a high level strategic nsk matrix and wentitying further opportunitlas tompact the cast
base and irvastmant programme of NWL

Following consultation with the Company's largest shareholders, the range of annual bonus metncs has been
expanded to include a batanced scorecard to align annual incentive pay more closely with stakeholders' wider
Interests for 2011/12 In addition to the introduction of the balanced scorecard, the maximum annual bonus
potentiai for the executive directars in 2011/12 will be increased from 70% to 100% of salary and will be
apportioned as follows

Bomus meinc {% of salary)
PBT 36
Balanced scorecard measures 44
Bespoke personal targets 20
Total 100

The new metncs are firmly inked to the Company's strategic goals (customer, competitiveness, pecple, environment
and communtties) The PBT performance metric reflects ‘competitiveness’, along with an assessment of capital
efficiency, while the other elements of the balanced scorecard are linked to the other strategic goals The ‘customer’
goal underpins targets based on customer satisfaction, unplanned interruptions and water quality The ‘people’ goal
s reflected in targets for employee engagement and lost time reportable accidents The ‘environment’ goal targets
comprise leakage, sewage treatment performance and pollution incidents, while 'communities’ targets are based on
external recognition of the Group's corperate social responsibility achievement Defirutions of these measures are
outlined on pages 12 and 13




The PBT element of the bonus will be scored on a shiding scale around the target figure A smple pass/fal
measure wiil apply to the other targets and most of the targets have been set at levels which would require
significant improvements over the 2010/11 actual results The Remuneration Committee considers the overall
bonus metrics to be appreciably more stretching than before, and that they reflect operational performance and
delivery to customers tn a more structured way A similar approach has been adoptad in relation to executives
below board level and serior managers, albelt at varying tevels of bonus cpportunity

Bespoke personal targets have been set for Heidi Mottram and Chns Green for 2011/12 For Heidi Mottram these
include maintaining key financial ratics in line with the NWG and NWL approved budgets, mantaining good
relationships with Investors and analysts, delivenng the operating efficiency plans for 2011/12 (and keeping the
remainder of the plans for 2014/15 on track) and progressing the Group's strategy on advanced anaerobic
digestion, co-digestion and renewable energy Chris Green's targets include maintaining key financial ratios,
maintaining good relationships with investors and analysts, refreshing the risk model and preparing a high level
strategic risk matrix and work ¢n current cost depreciation and its impact on return on capital smployed

Bonus deferral
Following the increase in bonus potential, the Company has introduced bonus deferral for executive directors OFf
the total bonus awarded, 70% will be payable in cash and 30% will be payable in shares, deferred for three years

Bonus and LTIP clawback

As part of the changes introduced for 2011/12, the Committee has introduced a clawback provision which will
apply in the event that results on which bonuses are pa:d, or LTIPs are awarded, are subsequently found to be
Inaccurate or there has been relevant misconduct on the part of the employee

LTIP

Under the LTIP, executive directors and senior managers may receive, at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committes, annual condittonal awards of shares in the Company worth up to 100% of annual salary at grant,
although only the executive directors of NWG participate at the 100% level All awards have three year pre-vesting
performance conditions

Conditional awards made on 8 December 2010 to Heidi Mottram and Chnis Graen were

Number of Value of
conditonal awards
awards grantedasa

granted % of salary'

Held Mottram 96,212 99%

Chris Green 68,651 99%

Note
1 Based on a closing share price on 7 December 2010 of 328 & pence
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Details of the pre-vesting performance conditions for awards made during 2010 are

Performance metnc  Weighting Descnption Calbration

Total 50% Relative TSR against the FTSE 250 30% of this part of an award {| e 15% of the
shareholder exciuding mvestment trusts and companies  total award) will vest for median performance
return (TSR) In the following sectors banks, financial increasing on a straight line se that 100%

services, life insurance, non-iife insurance, {1 e 50% of the total award) vests for upper
real estate investment and services and guartite performance

real estate nvestment trusts, ol and gas

producers and ol equipment and services

In addition, awards will anly vest if the

Committee 1s satisfied that the Company's

TSR performance 1s consistent with the

underlying business performance of

the Company
Return 20% Average absolute ROCE for NWL over the  30% of this part of an award (1 e 6% of the
on capital three financial years starting from 1 April total award) will vest for average three-year
employed immediately precading grant date ROCE of 6 3%, ncreasing on a straight line
(RCCE) so that 50% (1e 10% of the total award) will
vest for average three year ROCE of 6 45%
and on a straight ine so that 100% {ie 20%
of the total award) will vest for an average
ROCE of 6 75%
Serviceability 20% Ofwat serviceability targets for the four 50% of this part of an award { e 10% of the
asset classes (e water non-Infrastructure,  total award) will vest for ‘stable’ assessments
water infrastructure, sewerage non- in three out of the four asset classes 100%

nfrastructure and sewerage Infrastructure)  of this part of an award (e 20% of the total
in the final year of the relevant three year award) will vest for ‘stable’ assessments in

performance penod Serviceabllity 1s all four asset classes No awards would vest
measured by Cfwat based on a number under this part of an award for less than three
of indicators which include asset ‘stable’ assessments

performance indicators, water quality
compliance, environmental complance
and consumer service

Customer 10% Results of NWUs independently run 30% of this part of an award (le 3% of
customer satisfaction index, measured the total award} will vest for a customer
as the average score for the surveys satisfaction ndex of 83%, Increasing on a
camed out during the retevant three straight Iine so that 100% of this part of an
year performance pencd award (1e 10% of the total award) vests for a

custorner satisfaction mdex of 93% or above

The Committee s satisfied that the above metrics and targets remamn appropriate for the following reasons

— a significant part of the award based on TSR ensures alignment with investors,

— the use of an absolute ROCE target for part of the awards ensures that reward 15 drrectly Inked to the
management’s delivery of the business plan,

— the serviceability 1argets recognise that the maintenance of NWL's reguiated assets is critical to the longer term
returns for shareholders, and

— customer satisfaction 1s a key objective for NWL and customers are mportant stakeholders




In the event of a change of control, the Committes would determing the extent to which the performance
conditicns had been met and the proportion of the performance period that had elapsed in deciding whether
or not any vesting of awards would take place

The LTIP award granted on 13 December 2007 became availlable to vest on 13 December 2010 The Committee
instructed HNBS to assess the level of vesting of this award HNBS reported that 48 84% of the award was
avallable to vest {being 97 68% of the award relating to the Company’s TSR performance aganst the FTSE 250
Index and 0% of the award relating to the Company’s ROCE performance against the other water companias)
Pricr to vesting, the Committee satisfied #seif that the recorded TSR performance was a genuine reflaction of
the Company's underlying performance Details of the number of awards which lapsed and those which were
exercised by the directors of the Company are shown in table 3

Full detatis of past award levels and performance condittons are shown in table 2

Share ownership guidelines

The NWG Board has introduced a guideline requesting NWG directors to build up {over a maximum of five years)
shares in the Company with a value egual 1o one year’s basic salary {(in the case of the exacutive directors) or one
year's fees (in the case of non-executive directors)

Responsible investment

The Commritee 1s aware of Guideline 3 2 of the ABl Guidelines on Respensible Investment Disclosure and is
satigfied that neither the executive directors’ annual bonus targets nor the LTIP perfarmance conditions are likely,
inadvertently, to motivate irresponsible behaviour

Non-executive directors’ fees

The Company's remuneration policy I1s that the Chairman and the non-executive directars should receive & fixed
fee for ther normal duties Reflecting the added responsibilities and time commitment, chairing the Remuneration
and Audit Commitiees attracts an additional fee over the non-executive directors’ standard base fee

Fees payable dunng 2010/11 and the Company's policy from 1 April 2G11 {in ine with the approach taken in
respect of the salares of NWG executives) are

2011742 2010/11

£ £

Chairman 165,434 159,516
Non-executive director base fee 38,601 37,220
Audit Committee chainng fee 11,029 10,634
Remuneration Committee chairing fee 5514 5317

The Charman and the non-executive directors do not receive benefits In kind and do not participata in bonus,
pension or share schemes operated by the Company Further details of non-executive directors' remuneration
are set out In table 1

Directors’ interests in LTIP awards
The directors' conditional interests in the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company, awarded in accordance with
the terms of the LTIP as at 31 March 2011, are set out in table 3

ucHelaunusy

1102 SRIBWSIBIS [BroURW) PUR L0Ca [enulry 2jd dnoss) R UBUqUnyuIoN

N 00 Bmu mman



8L

uonessunwsy

1 LOZ SRIBLUSIEIS [ETUBUY PUB BOCR) Enuly ofd dnout Jaiea, LBUguInuyUIon

N 00 Baaus s

Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Ordinary 10 pence shares required to fulfil LTIP awards which have vested may be provided by the Northumbrian
Water Group plc Employee Trust, through Northumbriar Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited The Trustees are
Sir Patrick Brown, Martin Negre and Kate Alsop Anita Frew and Alastar Balls stood down as Trustees when they
retred as non-executive directors of NWL on 31 March 2011 At that datse, the Trust held a total of 765,362 ordinary
1C pence shares This represents 0 1% of the Company’s total 1Issued share capital, so 1s substantially less than the
5% imit on shares that can be held in trust In ine with the ABi Guidelines, dividends are waived on these shares
and the voting rights attached to these shares will not be exercised at the AGM

Share dilution

The Company's share plans contain dilution mits that comply with the ABI Guidelines Shares for both the LTIP
and SIP schemes are provided by purchase on the market There has, therefore, been no dilution to date and
there 1s no commitment to 1ssue new shares in relation to either scheme

Performance graph

The graph below shows a comparison between the TSR for the Company’s shares for the five year period to
31 March 2011, and the TSR for the comparnies compnsing the FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts)
over the same period This iIndex has baen selected as the Company 1s a constifuent of the FTSE 250

200 4

172

20 A

0 T T 1 T T
1 Apr 06 31 Mar 07 31-Mar 08 31 Mar-03 31 Mar 10 31 Marn

- NWG —@~ FTSE 250 {excluding investment trusts)

Nete
This graph shows tha value by 31 March 2011 of £100 invested in NWG on 1 April 2006 compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE 250 index (excluding
invastment {rusts) over the same pernod

Source Thomson DataStream

Service contracts

All non-executive directors are appainted for a term of 12 months with a six menth notice perod for the Company
and the director The executive directors have service contracts with 12 maonths notice penods and which expire
when the directors reach normal retrement age No special arrangements apply If there s a change of control The
contracts do not contain any iquidated damages clauses or provide explicitly for termination payments If a contract
18 to be terminated, the Committee will determine the compensation to be paid There is no automatc entitlement to
bonus payments and LTIP vesting 1s at the discretion of the Committee The Committee will apply such mitigation to
any contractual obligations as 1t considers farr and reascnable, taking into account the best practice provisions of the
Code Detalls of the contracts of the executive and non-executive directors who served during the year are shown in
table 4




Terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive directors are avallable for inspection at the Company's
registered office dunng normal business hours and at the AGM The terms of appontment set out the expected
time commitment for each non-executive director

External appointments of executive directors

The Board's position on external appointments 1s described in full in the corperate governance statement but,

In summary, the Board has agreed that executive directors of the Company who are appointed to non-executive
directorships which pay a fee may retain the fees, subject to obtaining the Chairman’s consent before an
appointment I1s accepted Only one such external appointment per director will generally be permitted Heids
Mottram 1s a Board member of Yorkshire Forward for which she i1s pad and retains an annual fee of £8,666

Directors’ interests in shares
The directors’ beneficial interests in the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company, as at 31 March 2011, are set
out in table 6

Directors’ interests in shares under the SIP

The Company SIP is open to UK employees with more than three months service Further detalls of the SIP are
set out in the directors’ report — business review Durning the vear, the executive directors had the opportunity to
participate in the SIP and ther interests n the ardinary 10 pence shares of the Company, purchased and held in
accordance with the terms of the SIP, are set out In table 7

This directors’ remuneration report has been produced in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and
Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium sized Comparnies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regutations 2008
It was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 1t will
be put to the shareholders for approval at the Company's AGM

tﬂjkﬁp—&wﬁ"

Alex Scott-Barrett
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
31 May 2011
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

These tables form the part of the directors' remuneration report which are audited (except for tables 2 and 4 which

do not require auditing)

Table 1
Directors’ emoluments {audited)

The emoluments of the directors of the Company for ther services as dirsctors of the Company and (where

relevant) its subsidiaries, are set out below, rounded to the nearest thousand pounds

Total forthe  Total for the
year ended  year snded
Fees  Basic satary Benafits' Bornus? J13a2onm 3132010
£000 2000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive directors
John Cuthbert - - - - - 429
Heid! Mottram - 320 11 195 526 38
Chns Green - 228 12 138 379 323
Non-executive directors
Sir Derek Wanless 160 - - - 160 158
Sir Patrick Brown?® 48 - - - 48 47
Margaret Fay 31 - - - 3 -
Claude Lamoureux 37 - - - a7 37
Martin Negre 37 - - - 37 42
Alex Scott-Barrett* 43 - - - 43 37
Paul Rew 19 - - - 19 -
Jenny Wilkams 12 - - - 12 37
Total remuneration 387 548 23 334 1,292 1,148
Notes

1 The remungration of éach executive direclor nchudes non-cash benalits compnsing the provision of car allowances and healthcure
2 The annual benus is payable in June 2011 for performance dunng the year endad 31 March 2011

3 Inctudes additonal fas pard s Chawrnan of the Audit Committeg

4 Inctudes additional tea paid as Charran of the Remuneration Committes




Table 2

Summary of LTIP performance conditions {unaudited)

LTIP award made 13 December 2007 ard 15 Dacember 2008

Maximum award

100% of salary permitted and actual grants to executive directors
related to shares worth 100% of salary

Performance conditions

(1) 50% of award depends on NWLUs return on capital employed relative to
that of the other water and sewerage companies of England and Wales

(2) 50% of award depends on the Company's TSR performance agamnst
the FTSE 250 Index, excluding investrment trusts

Vesting schedules

(1) 30% vests at median performance At upper quartile or above, all
of this element of the award will vest Between median and upper
quartile, straight line pro-rating will apply Where the return on capstal
employed performance 1s below the medan, none of this element of
the award will vest

{2) 30% vests at median performance with straight ine pro-rating of TSR
performance against the members of the FTSE 250 Index, excluding
nvastmant trusts, to 100% for upper quartle performance Where
the Company’s TSR performance s below the median, none of this
element of the award will vest

LT'P award made 4 January 2010 and 8 December 2010

Maximum award

100% of salary permitted and actual grants to executive directors
related to shares worth 100% of salary

Performance conditions and
vesting schedules

Please refer back to the remuneration report for performance conditions
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Table 3

Directors’ interests in LTIP awards (audited)
As at 31 March 2011, the directors had the following conditional interests in the ordinary 10 pence shares of the
Company, awarded in accordance with the terms of the LTIP

Awards Awards Awards
hetd at the Awarded lapsed vasted Awards
start of during dunng dunng held as ot
Award datg the year the year the year thayesr 313201
Heidi Mottram 812 2010° - 96,212 - - 96,212
Totais - 96,212 - - 96,212
Chns Green 1312 2007' 61,6820 - 31,525 30,005 -
1512 2008* 78,850 - - - 18,650
412010" 83,240 - - - 83,240
812 2010° - 68,551 - -~ 68,551
Totals 223,510 68,551 31,525 30,095 230,441

Notas

1

2
3

The market value of the shares on ine date of the award was 334 0 pence per share The three year performance period ran from 1 October 2007 to
30 September 2010

Shares vested on 13 December 2010 and the closing price on that date was 332 6 pence per share

The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 251 5 pence per share The three year performance penod runs from 1 October 2008 to
30 September 2011

The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 272 5 penca per share The three year partormance penod runs from 1 October 2009 to
30 September 2012

The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 328 7 pence per share The three yaar performance paned runs from 1 October 2010 1o
30 September 2013

The cost ot conditional awards 1s charged to the income statement ovar the three year performance perlod to which thay relate after takang account
of the probability of parformance critaria baing mat Inthe year £0 1 milllon was charged to the ncoma statement (2010 £0 4 mulion}

Details of the performance conditions are shown at table 2

The market price of the shares on 31 March 2011 was 332 2 pence per share Dunng the yaar the highast market pnce was 364 0 pence per share
and tha lowest market price was 245 1 pence par share

Aggregate gross gamns made by divectors on exercise of awards at date of vesting was £99 915 (2010 £103 855)

Table 4
Directors’ service contracts (unaudited)
Details, as at 31 May 2011, of the contracts of the directors who served during the year are shown below

irvual Contract Unexpired Natice parod
appostment start date term® by either party Current contract end dato

Executive directors?
Heird Mottram 132010 132010 Notfixedterm 12 months Normal retirement age (65)
Chris Green 2352003 2352003 Notfixedterm 12 months Normal retirement age (65)
Non-executive directors’
Sir Derek Wanless 1122003 1122010 6 months 6 manths 3011 2011
Sir Patrick Brown 1252003 1252011 11 months 6 months 1152012
Margaret Fay 162010 162010 - 6 months 3152011
Claude Lamoureaux 1122006 1122010 2 months 6 months 28 720N
Martin Negre 1252003 1252011 11 months 6 months 1152012
Alex Scott-Barrett 2692006 2692010 4 months 6 months 259 2011
Paul Rew 1102010 1102010 4 months 6 months 309 2011
Nuotas
1 Cakulated as at 35 May 2011 and rounded 10 noarest whota month
2 Tha service contracts of the executive drectors do not contain prowsions retating to compensation for tarmination In the evant of termination by the Company the

Remuneration Commiitea wowtd make recommendations 1o the Board an whal payments 1f any should be made to the drector depanding on the crcumsiances of the

termuination taking nio account the Code which discourages payment for fallure The Company would alsq expact diractors to seek to mitigate ther loss
3 Contracts da not provide for compensation for 1053 of office in excess of fees accrued




Table 5

Directors’ pensions and pension benefits (audited)

The accrued defined benefit pensions and corresponding transfer values for the executive directors are set
out below

Defined contribution scheme

Emplkoyes Employer
connbutions  contnbutions
dunng the during the

year yaar

2000 £000

Heidi Mottram - 43 6

Defined benefit scheme

Transfer
valua of nat

Increase Transtar Transfer Total change

Increase n acerued valua of value ot n transfar

Accrued Accrued In¢rease inaccrued  pension lass acorued accrued value less

pensonat  pensionat wnaccrued  penson net diracions pension 8t pension at directors'

3132010 313a2om pension ofinflation  contnbutions 142010 313 2011 contrihutions

£000 000 2000 £000 £000 2000 £000 £000

Chnis Graen 1043 1107 64 09 189 21114 22813 168 9

Notes

1 The dwectors participald in a salary sacrifice arrangement and, therefore paid ne coninbutions io the schemes dunng the year

2 Accrued penstons shown are the amounts that would be paid annually at the nermal retirerment age based on service to the end of the year

3 Voluntary contributions paid by tha dirgctors and resuling benefils are not shown

4 The change in transfer value reflects fluctuations in the transfer valua due to faclors beyond the control of the Company and directors such as changes in stock
market conditions

§ The transter valuas have been calculated in kne with the relevant legislation and using actuarial assumptions agreed by the Trustea

Table 6

Directors’ interests in shares (audited)

The directors had the following beneficial or family interests in the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company as at
31 March 2011

Number
of shares Number Numbsr
heid at the of shares of shares
start of held ns at held as at
1he year 13201 3152004

Sir Derek Wanless 65,000 65,000 65,000
Chris Green 169,339" 199,434° 199,434
Sir Patrnick Brown 43,000 43,0000 43,000
Claude Lamoureux 25000 25,000 25,000
Martin Negre 70,000 20,000 20,000
Alex Scott-Barrett 20,000 20,000 20,000
Jenny Willams#* 6,000 - -
Notes

1 At 1 Aprl 2010, 139 338 of these shares werg beneficially owned by Mrs G Green and 10 000 were beneficially swned by each of Miss P J Green, Mr M F Green and
Mr J M Green

2 AL3! March 2011 139 434 of these shargs were beneficially owned by Mrs G Green and 20 000 were benehicially owned by each of Miss P J Grean Mr M F Green and
Mr J M Green

3 At 33 March 2011, the 43,000 shares ware baneficlally ewrad by Lady Brown

4 Jenny Willams retired from the Board on 2€ July 2010

£8
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Table 7
Directors’ interests in shares under the SIP (audited)

The directors who held office as at 31 March 2011 had the following interests in the crdinary 10 pence shares of

the Company, purchased and held in accordance with the terms of the SIP

Number of
SIPshares  Number of Number of
heldatthe SIP shares SIP shares
start of held as at held as at
the year' a3t 3 2011 3152011
Heich Mottram - 606 606
Chnis Green 5,653 6,312 6,936
Notas

1 Thase figures include the shares pa«d for by the participant and the ‘r¢e shares granted by tne Company
2 Asummary of the SIP can be found in the directors report — business review



Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation
to the Group financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual repeort and the Group financial statements in accardance
with applicable United Kingdom law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union

The directors are required to prepare Group financial statements for each financial year Under Company Law, the
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they present farly the financial
position of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that pertod In preparing those
Group financial statements the directors are required to

- select sutable accounting policies in accordance with 1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors and then apply them consistently,

— present Information, Including accounting policies, N a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

- provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific requirements in IFRS 1s insufficient to enable users
to understand the iImpact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group's financial
position and financial performance,

- state that the Group has complied with IFRSs, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

- make jJudgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

The direciors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Group's transactions and disclose with reascnable accuracy at any time the financial postion of the Group and
enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and, hence, for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Responsibility statements

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge

- the financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give a true and
far view of the assets, liabiliies, financial position and profit of the Company and the undertakings included in
the consclidation taken as a whole, and

- the directors’ report and business review includes a farr review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the conseclidation taken as a whols,
together with a description of the principal nsks and uncertainties that they face

By order of the Board

a

Derek Wanless
Chairman

?}e:{il Mottram

Chief Executive Officer
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Report of the auditors on the
Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Northumbrian Water Group plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of Northumbrian Water Group plc for the year ended 31 March
2011 which comprise the consofidated income statement, consclidated statement of comprehensive incomse,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated balance sheet, consohdated cash flow and the related
notes 1to 28 The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied 1n therr preparation 1s apphcable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are reguired to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and

the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibiities set out on page 85, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and farr view Our responsibility 1s to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Audritors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit mvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error This Includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's
crcumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addrtion,
we read all the financial and non-financial iInfermation in the annual report to iIdentify matenal Inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements |f we become aware of any apparent material misstaternents or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the Group financial statements

- give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's affarrs as at 31 March 2011 and of its profit for the year
then ended,

- bhave been properly prepared In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion

- the information given in the directors'’ report for the financeal year for which the financial statements are prepared

1s consistent with the Group financial statements, and

~ the information given In the corporate governance statement set out on pages 58 to 70 with respect to internal
control and nsk management systems in relation to financial reperting processes and about share capital
structures 1s consistent with the financial statements




Matters on which we are required te report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required tc report to you If, In our opinion

— certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made,

~ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or
~ a corporate governance statement has not been praepared by the Company

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

— the directors' statement, set out on page 57, In relation to going concern, and

- the part of the corporate governance statement on pages 58 to 70 relating to the Company’s compliance with
the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review

Other matter

We have reported separately on the parent Company financial statements of Northumbnan Water Group plc for the
year ended 31 March 2011 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that 1s described as
having been audited

).
’6\\9"" L’ad Aﬁ l—__'-——_f___
Debbie O’Hanlon (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor
Newcastle upon Tyne
31 May 2011
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Yeor to Year to
3 3201 3132010
Nates £m £m
Continuing eperations
Revenue 2 73841 7047
Operating costs 3 (433.9) {4289
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 2 304.2 2758
Finance costs payable & {178.8) (1437
Finance income receivable 6 549 372
Share of profit after tax of jointly controlled entities 0.7 0o
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2 1810 1702
— current taxation 7 (33.1) {37 8)
— deferred taxation 30.5 9 5)
Profit for the year 178.4 1229
Attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent Company 1783 1225
Non-controlling interests 0.1 04
178.4 1229
Basic earnings per share atiributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent Company 8 3444p 2367p
Diuted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent Company s 3438p 28362p
Adjusted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent Company 8 28.50p 2367p
Adjusted diluted earnings per share attnbutable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent Company 8 2545p 2362p
Ordinary final dividend proposed per share a 957p 885
Dividend paid per share 9 13.57p 1289




Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Yesar to

Yaar to

313201 2132010
Notes £m £m
Profit for the year 1784 1229
Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gaing 24 74.0 11
Gamns/losses) on cash flow hedges taken to equity 2.6 08
Translation differences 0.2 03
Tax on items charged or credited to equity (23.1) 1)
Total other comprehensive gan/{loss) 53.7 o1
Total comprehensive income for the year 2321 122 8
Attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent Company 2320 1224
Non-controlling interests 0.1 04
2321 1228
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Share Cash flow

Non-

Equuity share premium hedge Treasury Currency Retainad Total controlling
capital raserve 1858rve shares transiation eamings equity Interests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m tm £m
At 1 Apnl 2009 519 4465 (7 6) 23 10 (2345 2550 24 2574
Profit for the year - - - - - 1225 1225 04 1229
Other comprehensive
ncoma - - (086 - (0 3) o8 Q1) - on
Total comprehensive
income and expense for
the year - - (06 - 03 1233 1224 04 1228
Share-based payment - - - - - 04 04 - 04
Exercise of LTIP awards - - - 03 - 03 - - -
Equity dmdends paid - - - - - {66 7) 66 7) - 66 7)
At 1 April 2010 8619 4465 82 (20 o7 (1778 3111 28 3139
Profit for the year - - - - - 1783 1783 01 1784
Other comprehensive
Income - - 16 - 02 519 537 - 537
Total comprehensive
Income and expense for
the year - - 16 - 02 2302 2320 01 2321
Share-based payment - - - - - C1 01 - 01
Exercise of LTIP awards - - - 03 - 03 - - -
Deferred tax related to
share-based payment - - - - - 01 01 - 01
Acquisiion of non-
controlling interest In
subsidiaries - - - - - 086 06 o8 -
Equity dividends paid - - - - - {703 (70 3) - (70 3)
At 31 March 2011 519 4465 (6.6) {1.7) 0.9 {17.4) 4736 23 4759




Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 March 2011

Year to
Year to 3132010
313201 restated
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwil 10 36 36
Other intangible assets 10 64.2 64 2
Property, plant and equipment n 36268 35189
Investments In jointly controlled entities 12 40 41
Financial assets 120 129
Amounts recewvable relating to consortium relief 1.7 17
3,7123 3,6054
Current assets
Inventories 13 3.3 33
Trade and other raceivables 14 153.9 136 4
Short term cash deposits 15 1.4 158
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1417 174 8
3003 3303
Total assets 40126 39357
Non-current habilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 72,2958 24339
Provisions 19 24 22
Deferred income tax llabiities 7 598.7 606 1
Pension hability 24 46.0 133 1
Other payables 68 78
Grants and deferred iIncome 255.1 2335
3,204.8 34166
Current habilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings v 1837 33 1
Provisions 18 0.2 02
Trade and other payables s 1556 15612
Interest rate swaps 20 9.8 125
Income tax payable 26 82
3319 2052
Total habiities 3,536.7 36218
Net assets 4759 3138
Capital and reserves
Issued capital 2 5.9 519
Share prermium reserve 4465 4465
Cash flow hedge reserve (6 6) 82
Treasury shares (1.7 (20)
Currency translation 09 07
Retained earnings (17.4) (177 8)
Equity shareholders’ funds 4736 3111
Non-controlling interests 23 28
Total capital and reserves 475.9 3139

Note
1 The prior year balance sheet has been rastated to reflect the impact of IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

@ird on 31 May 2011 an d gryits behalf by
erek Wanléss Heith Mottram

Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Yearto Year to
313 2011 3132010
MNotes £m £m
Operating activities
Reconciliation of profit before interest to net cash flows from
operating activities
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 304.2 2758
Depreciation 1116 1058
Other non-cash charges and credits (8.9) (57)
Net credit for provisions, less payments 0.2 03
Difference between pension contribulions pard and amounts recogrised in the
Income statement 11.5 103
Increase In INventories - {©1)
Increase In trade and other recevables {14.7) {50
Increase in trade and other payables 5.2 04
Cash generated from operations 4091 3809
Advanced contributions in respect of retirement benefits {22.4) -
Interest paid {116.1} (1148)
Income taxes pard (38.7) (357)
Net cash flows from operating activities 2319 2304
Investing activities
Interest receved 4.7 88
Capital grants received 132 101
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1.3 03
Dwidends received from jointly controlled entities 08 06
Short term cash dsposits 14.4 144 8
Matunty of Investments 11 14
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (202.9) (2208
Net cash flows from investing activities (167 4) (54 6)
Financing activities
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (70.3) 667
Repayment of borrowings (19.5) (209)
Payment of principal under hire purchase contracts and finance leases (7.3} 72
Acquisition of externally held loan stock issued by a subsidiary (0.4} -
Net cash flows from financing activities (97.5) (948
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash eguivalents (33.0) 810
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year s 1733 923
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 1403 1733
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 140,3 1733
Shart term cash deposits 15 1.4 158
Total cash, cash equivalents and short term cash deposits 141.7 189 1




Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

The consoidated financial statements have been prepared In accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European
Union as it applies to the financial statements of the Groug for the year ended 31 March 2011 and in accordance
with the Gompanies Act 2006

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Group will have
adeguate funding to meet its habilittes as they fall due in the foreseeable future As at 31 March 2011 the Group
had net current llabiities of £31 6 million (2010 net current assets of £125 1 millon) The directors have reviewed
cash flow requirements and are confident that they will be able to meet these from funds available and new
financing faciites Accordingly, the directors believe 1t 1s appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis

The directors consider the following accounting policies to be relevant in relation to the Group's financial
statements The financal statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 were authonised for 1ssue
by the Board of directors on 31 May 2011 and the balance sheest was signed on the Board’s behalf by Sir Derek
Wanless (Chairman) and Heid Mottram [Chief Executive Cfiicen

The Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations during the year

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised)

- |AS 27 Consoldated and Separate Financial Statements (Amendment)

- IAS 32 Financial Instruments Classification of Rights Issues (Amendment)

- 1AS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement — Elgible hedged items (Amendment)
- IFRIC 17 Distnibutions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

- IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

- Improvements to IFRS 2009

The adoption of IAS 27 Consoldated and Separate Financial Statements {Amendment) has required the
reclassification of minorty interests as non-controlling interests Also, any transactions with non-controling
interests that do not result in gaining or losing control will be accounted for as equity transactions

{FRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers was adopted in the penod IFRIC 18 15 effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 31 October 2009, applicable to transactions effected on or after 1 July 2009 This
has required the prior year balance sheet to be restated resuliing in the balances of property, plant and squpment,
and grants and deferred income, each increasing by £14 0 mibon at 31 March 2010 The impact on profit for both
the current penod and prior perniods 1s £nil

The adoption of the other standards and interpretations listed above do not have a material impact on the Group
The gwdance provided in the Urgent Issues Task Force Draft Abstract Accounting Implications of the
Replacement of the Retall Prices Index with the Consumer Prices Index for Retirement Benefits has also been

appled in the penod

Northumbrnan Water Group plc 1s a public imited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales
The Company's ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange

The Group financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest one hundred
thousand pounds {£0 1 million) except whera otherwise nchcated
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

1. Accounting policies continued

(b} Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiary undertakings The results of
subsidiaries acquired during the penod are included from the date of therr acquisiton The results of subsichanes
disposed of dunng the penod are included to the date of ther disposal Inter-segment sales and profits are
eliminated fully on consolidation Where, for commercial reasons, the accounting reference date of a subsidiary

18 a date other than that of the Company, management accounts made up to the Company’s accounting reference
date have been used In accordance with SIC 12 '‘Consolidation — Special Purpose Entiies’, the financial
statements of two comparies are ¢consolidated as special purpose entities, with effect from 12 May 2004,

the date of the transaction which utilised these entities

Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies used under relevant local GAAP in the
individuai financial statements of the Company, subsidiaries and jomntly controlled entities into line with those used
by the Group under IFRS

Non-cantrolling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets In subsidiaries that 1s not held
by the Group and 15 presented within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from parent
shareholders’ equity

(c) Associates and jointly controlled entities

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities in the Group financial statements are accounted for using
the equity methoed of accouniing where the Group exercises significant influence over the associate Significant
influence 1s generally presumed to exist where the Group's effective ownership 1s 20% or more The Group's share
of the post tax profits less losses of associates and jointly controlled entities 1s included in the consalidated income
staternent and the carrying value in the balance sheet comprises the Group's share of their net assets/liabilities
less distributions receved anc any mparment losses Goodwill ansing on the acquisiion of associates and jointly
controlled entities, representing the excess of the cost of Investment compared to the Group's share of net fair
value of the associate's identifiable assets, habilities and contingent habibties, 1s included in the carrying amount of
the associate and 1s not amortised Financial statements of jaintly controlled entiies and associates are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Group Where necessary, adjustments are made 1o bring the accounting
policies used into hne with those of the Group to take Into account far values assigned at the date of acquisition
and 1o reflect impairment losses where approprate Adjustments are also made to the Group’s financial statements
to elminate the Group's share of unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its jointly
controlled entities and associates

(d) Goodwill

Goodwill anising on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and businesses represents the excess of the far
value of the consideration given over the far value of the identifiable assets and habiites acquired Following initial
recognition, goodwill 1s measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses Prior to 1 April 2004, goodwill
was amorhsed over its estimated useful life, such amortisation ceased on 31 March 2004 Goodwilll relating to
acquisitions since 1 Apri 2004 1s not amortised Goodwill 1s reviewsd for mpairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in crcumstances indicate that the carrying valus may be mpared For the purposes of
imparrment testing, goodwill 1s allocated to the related cash-genarating units monitored by management

Where the recoverabls amount of the cash-generating unit 1s less than its carrying amount, including goodwilt,

an imparrment loss 1s recognised in the Income statement The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-
generating unit 1s taken into account when determining the gain or 10ss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation
withun it




1. Acecounting policies continued

{e) Intangible assets other than goodwill

Other intangible fixed assets represent the right to receve iIncome under the operating agreement with the
Environment Agency in respect of the Kielder Water transfer scheme The value of this intangible asset has been
assessed with reference to the net menies raised in accordance with the Kielder securtisation on 12 May 2004
The term of the operating agreement i1s In perpetuity and, accordingly, no amortisation 1s provided The value of
this intangible 1s assessed for imparrment on an annual basis in accordance with 1AS 36 ‘Impairment of Asssts’

Expenditure on internally developed intangible assets, excluding development costs, 1s taken to the income
statement in the year in which it 1s incurred Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried
initially at cost An intangible asset acquired as part of a business combination 1s recognised cutside goodwill if
the asset 1s separable or arises from contractual or other legal nghts and its farr value can be measured reliably
Development expenditure 1$ recogrnised as an intangible asset only after its technical feasibility and commercial
viability can be demonstrated, the avallability of adequate technical and financial resources and an intention to
complete the project have been confirmed and the correlation between development costs and future revenues
has been established

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including assets in the course of construction, comprise infrastructure assets
{(peing mains and sewers, mpounding and pumped raw water storage reservorrs, dams, sludge pipelines and
sea outfalls) and other assets (iIncluding properties, overground plant and equipment)

Property, plant and equipment are included at cost less accumulated depreciaiion and any provision for
impairment Cost comprises the aggregate amount paid and the farr value of any cther consideration given to
acquire the asset and includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended

Freehold land 1s not depreciated Other assets are depreciated evenly over ther estimated economic lives, which
are principally as follows freehold bulldings, 30-60 years, operational structures, plant and machinery, 4-92 years,
infrastructure assets 13-200 years {see below), and fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment, 4-10 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for imparment if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable and are wntten down immedhately 1o their
recoverable amount Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and, where adjustments are required,
these are made prospechively

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated untl commissioned

Infrastructure assets
In the regulated water services business, infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems being mains and
sewers, reservors, dams and sea outfalls

Infrastructure assets were measured at a date prior to transition to IFRS (23 May 2003) at therr farr value, which
was adopted as deemed histonical cost on transition to IFRS The assets and labilities were measured at fair value
as a result of the acquisition on 23 May 2003

Expenditure on infrastructure assets which enhances the asset base 1s treated as fixed asset additions while
maintenance expenditure which does not enhance the asset base 1S charged as an operating cost
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

1. Accounting policies continued
Infrastructure assets are depreciatad evenly to therr estimated residual values over ther estimated economic lives,
which are principally as follows

Dams and impounding reservoirs 150 years
Water mains 100 years
Sea outfalls 60 years
Sewers 200 years
Dedicated pipelines 4-20 years

(g) Financial assets

Financial assets comprise loans to third parties recoverable in more than one year and include cash held on

long term deposit as a guaranteed investment contract relating to the Kielder securiisation These assets are
recognised at cost and are measured annually based on the ability of the borrower to repay Any impairment 1S
taken to the income statement in the period In which it anses Loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired

(h) Foreign currencies and foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are Inttially recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange
rate rukng at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and liabihties denominated in foreign currencies are
re-translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date The functional and
presentational currency of Northumbrian Water Group plc 1s United Kingdom sterling (£) Assets and habilities

of subsidianes and jointly controlled entities in foreign currencies are transtated into sterling at rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the financial period and the results of foreign subsidianes are translated at the average rate
of exchange for the penod Differences on exchange ansing from the re-translation of the cpening net investment
Iin subsidiary companies and jointly controlled entities, and from the transiation of the results of those companies
at average rate, are taken to equity Al other foreign exchange differences are taken to the income statement in
the pencd in which they arse

Unrealised gains and losses ansing from changes in foreign currency exchange rates are not cash flows However,
the effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivatents held or due 1n a fereign currency 1s reported

tin the cash flow statement in order to reconcile cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the
penod This amount 1s presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities,
where material, and includes the differences, if any, had those cash flows been reported at end of penod
exchange rates

{i} Inventones

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost comprises direct materials and, where
applicable, direct labour costs, as well as an element of overheads that have been incurred In bringing the
inventories to ther present locations and condition

(i) Revenues

Provision of services

Revenue, which excludes value added tax, represents the fair value of the income recevable in the ardinary course
of business for services provided Revenue is recognised 1o the extent that it 18 probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be relably measured




1. Accounting policies continued

Revenus 1s not recegnised untif the services have been provided to the customer Revenue for services relates

to the year, excluding any amounts paid in advance Revenue for measured water and waste water charges
includes amounts billed plus an estimation of the amounts unbilled at the year end The accrual Is estimated using
a defined methodology based upon dally average water consumption, which i1s calculated based upon historical
billing information

Dwvidends
Revenue 1s recognised when the shareholders’ nght o recewe the revenue is established

(k) Grants and contributions

Grants are recognised at therr fair value where there 1s reasonable assurance that the grant will be receved and
all attaching conditions will be complied with Revenue grants are credited to the income statement in the pernod
to which they relate Capital grants and contributions relating to property, plant and equipment are treated as
deferred income and amortised to the income statement over the expected useful economic lives of the related
assets Deferred income relating to assets adopted from customers, recognised in accordance with IFRIC 18,

13 amortised to the Income statement over the expected useful economic lives of the related asssts

(I} Leases

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements which transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the Group, the assets are treated as If they had been purchased at therr farr value or, if lower, at the
present value of the mimimum lease payments Rentals or leasing payments are treated as consisting of a capital
element and finance charges, the capital element reducing the outstanding llabiity and the finance charges being
charged to the income statement over the period of the leasing contract at a constant rate on the reducing
outstanding habilty

Rentals under operating leases (where the lessor retains a significant propertion of the nisks and rewards
of ownership) ars expensed in the Income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term

{m) Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Defined benefit scheme

The cost of providing benelits under the defined benefit scheme 1s determined using the projected umit credit
method, which attnibutes entitlement to benefits to the current penod (to determine current service cost) and to

the current and prior periods (to determine the present value of defined benefit obligation) and 1s based on
actuaral advice Past service costs are recognised in the income statement on a straight ine basis aver the vesting
period or mmediately if the benefits have vested When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already
accrued) or a curtalment {reducing future obligabons as a result of a matenal reduction in the scheme membership
or a reduction in future entitlement) occurs, the obhgation and related plan assets are re-measured using current
actuarial assumptions and the resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement duning the period in which
the settlement or curtalment occurs

The interest element of the defined benefit cost represents the change In present value of scheme obligations
resuiting from the passage of time, and 15 determined by applying the discount rate to the opening praesent value
of the benefit obligation, taking into account material changes in the obligation during the year The expected
return on plan assets 15 based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term market returns
on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect on the fair value of plan assets of contributions receved and benefits
paid during the year

The service cost 1s disclosed (n employment costs and the expected interest Income and interest cost on
obligations are disclosed within finance costs payable/{income recevable)

Actuarial gans and losses on experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recogrised
in fullin the perod In which they occur in the consolidated statement of comprehensive ncome
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

1. Accounting policies continued

Defined contnbution scheme

The Group also operatas a defined contribution scheme Obligations for contributions to the scheme are
recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periad In which they anse

(n) Share-based payments

The cost of equity-setiled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the far value at the date at
which they are granted and 1s recognised as an expense cver the vesting penod, which ends on the date on which
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award Farr value 1s determined by an external valuer using the
Monte-Carle simulation model In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account s taken of any vesting conditions,
other than conditions linked to the pnice of the shares of the Company {market conditions) or those not related to
performance or service {non-vesting conditions)

No expense I1s recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting 1s conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition 1s satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied

Al each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense Is calculated, representing the extent to which
the vesting penod has expired, management's best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of vesting conditions
and the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market
or non-vesting condition, be treated as vesting as described above This inctudes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the contrel of the Group or the employee are not met The movement in cumulative expense
since the previous balance sheet date 1s recognised In the iIncome statement, with a correspanding entry in equity

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award 1s designated as replacing a cancelled

or settled award, the cost based on the onginal award terms continues to be recognised over the ongmal vesting
penod In addition, an expense 1s recogrsed over the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental fair
value of any modification, based on the difference between the farr value of the onginal award and the far value of
the modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification No reduction 1s recognised if this difference
1S negative

{0) Taxes

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from, or paid to, the taxation authorities The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amounts are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax
Deferred tax 1s provided using the hability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes

Deferred tax labilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except

— where the deferred tax hability anses from the initial recognitton of goodwill or of an asset or iabilty in a
transaction that 1s not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss, and

~ In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidianes, associates and interests
In jointly controfled entities, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 1t
Is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse In the foreseeable future




1. Accounting polhicies continued

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits

and unused tax losses, to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will be available agamnst which the

deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utihsed except

- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or lability in a transaction that 1s not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, and

- n respect of deductble temporary differences associated with investments in subsidianes, associates and
Interests in jointly controlted entities, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that
the termporary differences will reverse In the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utiised

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets I1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that
it 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utlised Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance shest date and are recognised 1o
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recoversd

Deferred tax assets and habilites are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset 1s realised or the iability 1s settled, based on tax rates {and tax laws) that have been enacted, or substantively
enacted, at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s recognised in the Income statement unless 1t relates to items accounted for outside profit or loss, in
which case It 1s recognised in correlation with the underlying transaction either in other comprebensive income or
directly in equity

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax habilities are offset, If a legally enforceable nght exists to set off current
tax assets aganst current tax labilties and the dsferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authonty

Value added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except

- where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services (s not recoverable from the taxation
authonty, in which case the value added tax s recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable, and

- recelvables and payables

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable 1o, the taxation authority 15 included as part of
receivables or payables in the balance sheet

(p) Derivative financial instruments
The Group utilises interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements and forward exchange contracts as derivative
financial instruments

A denvative instrument 1s considered to be used for hedging purposes when 1t alters the risk profile of an
underlying exposure of the Group in ine with the Group's nsk management policies Interest rate swap agreements
are used to manage interest rate exposures Dernvative financial instruments are stated at their fair value
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

1. Accounting policies continued

Under IAS 39, derwvative financial instruments are always measured at far value, with hedge accounting employed
n respect of those dervatives fulfiling the stringent requirements for hedge accounting as prescribed under IAS
39 In summary, these critenia relate to inital designation and documentation of the hedge relationship, prospective
testing of the relationship to demonstrate the expectation that the hedge will be highly effective throughout its iife
and subsequent retrospective testing of the hedge to verify effectiveness

The far value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for
contracts with similar maturity profiles The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s determined by reference to market
values for similar instruments

Hedging transactions undertaken by the Company are classified as either farr value hedges when they hedge the
exposure to changes in the far value of a recognised asset or iabibty, or cash flow hedges where they hedge
exposure to vanability in currency cash flows that 1s either attributable to a particular nsk associated with a
recognised asset or fiability or a forecast transaction

In relation to far value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-
measuring the hedging instrument at far value 1s recognised immediately in profit or loss Any gain or loss on the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and
recognised in the Income staternent Where the adjustment is to the carrying amount of a hedged interest bearing
financial nstrument, the adjustment 1s amortised to the net profit and loss such that it s fully amortised by matunty

in relation to cash flow hedges to hedge firm currency commitmeants which meet the conditions for hedge
accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging nstrument that 1s determined o be an effective hedge
is recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion Is recognised In the iIncome statement

When the hedged firm commitment results in the recognmiticn of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability
then, at the time the asset or hability 1s recognised, the associated gains or losses that had previocusly been
recognised in equity are included In the snihal measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the
asset or lability For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recogrised In equity are transferred to
the Income statement in the same penods in which the hedged firm commitment affects the net profit and loss

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gamns or losses arising from changes in fair value are
taken directly to the iIncome statement

Hedge accounting I1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or s scld, terminated or exercised, or no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting At that point in tme, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
recognised n equity 1s kept In equity until the forecast transaction occurs |f a hedged transaction 1s no longer
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised In equity is transferred to the income staterment

{(q) Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially stated at the arount of the net proceeds, being farr value of the consideration
received net of iIssue costs associated with the borrowing Finance costs (including 1ssue costs) are taken to the
mcome statement over the term of the debt at a constant rate on the balance sheet carrying amount The carrying
amount 1s increased by the finance charges amortised and reduced by payments made in respect of the
accounting period The carrying amount of index inked borrowings increases annually in line with the July RPI,
with the accretion being charged to the iIncome statement as finance costs payable Other borrowing costs are
recogrused as an expense when ncurred




1. Accounting policies continusd

Loans and borrowings acquired at acquisition are rastated 1o farr value The adjustment arising on acquisition
Is amortised to the income statement on the basis of the matunty profile of each instrument Realised gains
and losses that occur from the early termination of loans and borrowings are taken to the income statement
In that perod

Net debt 1s the sum of all current and non-current habilites less cash and cash equivalents, short term cash
deposits, financial nvestments and loans recewvable

(r) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred Borrowing costs that are directly attnbutable to the
acquisition or construction of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial ime to prepare for its intended use
are capitalised while the asset 1s baing constructed as part of the cost of that asset

Capitalisation ceases when the asset 1s substantally ready for its intended use or sale If active development 1s
interrupted for an extended period, capitalisation 1s suspended When construction occurs piecemeat and use
of sach part ceases upon substantial completion of that part, a weighted average cost of borrowings 1s used

The Group capitalises borrowing costs for all eligible assets when construction commenced on or after
1 Aprl 2009, and continues to expense borrowing costs relating to construction projects that commenced
prior to that date

(s) Loans and receivables

Loans and recetvables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
In an active market, do not qualify as trading assets and have not been designated as either fair value through
profit and loss or available for sale Gains and losses are recognised inincome when the nvestments are de-
recegnised or impaired, as well as through the amorusation process

(t) Cash and cash eguivalents and short term cash deposits

Cash and cash eguivalents disclosed in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term
depeosits with a maturity on acquisition of three months or less, which are held for the purpose of mesting short
term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes Cash equivalents are readily convertible
e a known amount of cash and subject to an msignificant nsk of changes in value

Short term cash deposits disclosed in the balance sheet comprise cash deposited with a matunty of greater than
three months on acquisition, a fixed interest rate and which do not constitute cash equivalents under IAS 7
‘Statement of Cash Flows’

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow staterment, cash and cash equivalents are as defined above,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts

(u) Trade and other receivables

Trade recevables are recognised and carmed at onginal Invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable
amounts Invoices for unmeasured water and waste water charges are due on fixed dates, other recewvables
generally have 30 day payment terms An estimate for doubtiul debts is made when collection of the fuli amount
Is no longer probable Bad debts are wntten off when identified Trade and other recevables do not carry

any Interest
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

SIUWSIEIS RISUBULY

1. Accounting policies continued

(v) Investments

Investments are mitially recorded at the far value of the consideration given mcluding the acquisition charges
associated with the investment Subsequent to initial recognition, they are valued at ariginal cost less

any tmpairment

{w) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, It 1s probable that an outflow of resources will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation

{x) Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 1s an Indication that an asset may be impared If any
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset 1s required, the Group makes an estimate
of the asset's recoverable amount An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s farr value less costs to sell and its value in use and I1s determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash Inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets Where
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds :ts recoverable amount, the asset 1s considered imparred and 1s written
down 10 1ts recoverable amount In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 1o therr
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the nsks specific to the asset Impairment losses on continuing operations are recogrised In the income
statement In those expense categories cansistent with the function of the impared asset

LLOZ SUalSes [enueu pur podal eruuy od dnols) JSIBAR LBUGLUNGUION

An assessment 1s made at each reporting date as to whether there 1s any indication that previously recognised
Impairment [0ss8s may no longer exist or may have decreased If such indication exists the recoverable amount 1s
estmated A previously recognised impairment oss 1s reversed only if there has been a change In the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last Impairment loss was recognised |f that 1s the
case the carrying amount of the asset 1s increased to its recoverable amount That increased amount cannot
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no mparment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years Such reversal Is recognised in the Nncome statement untess the asset 1s
carrted at revalued amaunt, in which case the reversal 1s treated as a revaluation increase After such a raversal the
depreciation charge 1s adjusted n future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual
value, on a systematic basis aver its remaning useful life

{v) De-recognition of financiat assets and habilities
A financial asset or lability 1s generally de-recognised when the contract that gives nise to it 1s settled, sold,
cancelled or expires

Where an existing inancial llability 1s replaced by another from the same lender on substantially differant terms,

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
de-recognition of the onginal liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference in the respective
carrying amounts together with any costs or fees Incurred are recognised in the Income statement

N 00 Baru maam



1. Accounting policies continued

(z) Accounting standards

During the year, the International Accounting Standards Board and International Financial Reporting Interpretation
Committee {IFRIC) have 1ssued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of
these financial staterments

Eftacive for accounting

penods beginning

International Accounting Standards IASAFRS} on or after
IFRS 1 Amendment to IFRS 1 - Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures 17 2010
IFRS 7 Amendment to IFRS 7 — Financial Instrument Disclosures 17 2011
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement 112013
IFRS10 Consolidated Financial Statements 112013
IFRS11 Jont Arrangements 112013
IFRS12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 112013
IFRS13 Farr Value Measurerment 112013
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised) 112011
Improvements to IFRS 2010 172010,17 2011
Effactrve for accounting

penads begnring

IFRIC an or after
IFRIC 14 Amendment Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 112011
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Frinancial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 172010

Given the recent publication of IFRS 10,11,12 and 13, the directors are still evaluating the mpact of these standards
on the Group's financial statements in the period of intial application

(aa) Key assumptions

The directors consider that the key assumptions applied at the balance sheet date, which may have a significant

nsk of causing a materal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and labihes within the next financial

year are

- those assumptions used in arrving at the pension asset/lability under IAS 19 These key assumptions and ther
possible impact are disclosed In note 24, '‘Pensions and other post-retirement benefits’,

- the bad debt prowision which s calculated by applying a range of percentages to debt of different ages These
percentages also vary between different categories of debt Higher percentages are applied to thase categories
of debt which are considered to be of greatsr risk and also to debt of greater age The value of the bad debt
proviston s sensitive 1o the specific percentages applied, and

- the asset lives assigned to property, plant and equipment, details of which can be found in note 1{f)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

2. Segmental analysis

For management purposes, the Group 1s organised into business units according to the nature of its products and
services and has three reporiable operating segments The trading of the business s principally carned out wathin
the UK Profit 1s measurad at profit on ordinary actvities before interest

Northumbrian Water Limited

NWL 1s one of the ten regulated water and sewerage businesses In England and Wales NWL operates in the north
east of England, where 1t traces as Northumbrnian Water, and in the south east of England, where it trades as
Essex & Suffolk Water NWL alsc has non-regulated activities closely related to its principal regulated activity

Water and waste water contracts
NWG owns a number of special purpose companies for specihc water and waste water contracts in Scottand,
Ireland and Gibraltar

Other
Agrer provides overseas aid funded project work in developing countries through a number of funding agencies
Central unallocated costs and provisions are also included in this segment

Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions
with third parties Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between business
segments Those transfers are eliminated on conschidation

Revenue

Northurnbnan Water and
Water  waste watar

Lirmited contracts Cther Total
€m £m £m £m
Year ended 31 March 2011
Segment revenue 689.4 40.0 141 7435
Inter-segment revenue - - (5.4) (5.4)
Revenue from external customers 689.4 40,0 8.7 738.1
Year ended 31 March 2010
Segment revenue 657 8 383 148 7109
Inter-segment revenue - - 62 62)
Revenue from external customers 657 8 383 86 7047




2. Segmental analysis continued
Profit on ordinary activities before interest

Nerthumtnan Water and
Water  waste water
Limited contracts Qther Tata'
£m £m £m £m
Year ended 31 March 2011
Segment profit on ordinary activities before interest 297.6 95 (2.9) 304.2
Net finance costs {123.9)
Share of profit from jointly controlled entities 0.7
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1810
Taxation (2.6)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 178.4
Year encded 31 March 2010
Segment profit on ordinary activities before interest 2689 102 33 2758
Net finance costs (106 5)
Share of profit from jointly controlled entities 09
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1702
Taxation 47 3)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1229
Assets and habilities
Water and waste
Northurmbean Water Lirnited water contracis Other Total
3132010 3132010
3132011 restatad 3132011 3132010 3132011 N300 313201 restated
£m £m Em £m £m £m £m om
Segment assets 3,706 35176 1236 1306 1794 2875 4,0126 39357
Segment habilities 4223 4585 180 229 3,094 31404 35367 36218
Other comprises taxation, interest and net debt
Water and waste
Nerthumbrian Watar Limited water conirects Totat
313 2010 3132010
313 20M restated 3132001 3132010 313 2011 restated
£m £Em £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment additions 2196 2309 0.3 54 2199 2363
Depreciation 105.8 895 5.8 60 1116 1055

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets fromm Customers was adopted in the period This has required the prior year segment
assets and property, plant and equipment additions to be restated by £14 0 million for transactions effected on or

after 1 July 2009

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers from the UK was £714 8 million (2010 £680 0 million) Revenue from other

countries was £23 3 milhon (2010 £24 7 mithon)

Non-current assets for operations in the UK were £3,7007 million (2010 £3,592 1 million) Non-current assets for
operations In other countries were £11 6 millon (2010 £13 3 million)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

3. Operating costs

Year to Year o
3320 313200
£m £m
Matenals and consumables 25.6 237
Manpower costs (see note 5) 1106 1114
Own work capitalised 287 (270}
Depreciation of property, plant and egupment 1116 1055
Prcfit on disposal of property, plant and equipmsnt {0.9) 02
Amortisation of capital grants {4.6} 50
Costs of research and development 23 21
Operating lease payments 12 12
Bad debt charge 17.8 196
Other operating costs 199.0 1976
Operating costs 4339 4289
4 Auditors’ remuneration
Year to Yoar to
313 2011 3132010
£m £m
Audit of the financial staternents’ 0.3 03
Other fees to auditors
Other services 0.1 -
Note
1 £97 000 of this relates to the Company (2010 £85 000)
5. Employee information
The total employment costs of all employees {including directors) of the Group were
Year to Year o
313201 313a2mo
£m £m
Wages and salaries 87.6 87 1
Restructuring cost - wages and salares - 09
Restructuring cost - defined benefit pension service cost (see note 24) - 48
Social security costs 7.3 73
Defined benefit pension service cost (see note 24) 13.9 a7
Other pension costs 18 16
Total employment costs 1106 i114
Total employment costs were charged as follows
Capital schemes and infrastructure renewals 254 231
Manpower costs 85.2 883
110.6 111 4

included in wages and salanes 1s a total expense of share-based payments of £0 4 milion (2010 £0 7 milion)

which arises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments




5. Employee information continued
The average monthly number of employees of the Group during the year was

Yeor to Year 1o

33201 3132010

Number Number

Northumbrnan Water Limitaed 2,875 2,830
Water and waste water contracts 132 1561
Other 24 24
3,031 3,105

The infermation required by Schedule 5 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups {Accounts

and Reports) Regulations 2008 s contained in the directors’ remuneration report under drectors’ emoluments,
directors' pensions and benefits, directors’ interests in shares and debentures, directors’ interests in LTIP awards
and directors’ interests in shares under the Share Incentive Plan

6 Finance costs payable/{income receivable)

Yeat to Year to
313201 3132010
fm £m
Finance costs payable on debentures, bank and other loans and overdrafts 1129 1147
Amortisation of discount, fees, loan 1ssue costs and other financing items (4.4) 4 5)
Agcretion on index linked bonds 21.9 (6 6)
Interest cost on pension plan obligations 43.3 36 1
Finance costs payable on hire purchase contracts and finance leases 5.1 40
Total finance costs payable 1788 1437
Expected return on pension plan assets {45 5) (31 6)
Finance iIncome recevable (1.9) 56)
Acquisition of CES loan stock (4.6) -
Finance lease termination discount 29) -
Net finance costs payable 1239 106 5

During the penod, the Group acquired the subordinated loan stock issued by CES from an external party This was
acquired at below bock value leading to a gain of £4 6 millon In addition, the Group transferred a finance lease to
a new counterparty with a termination discount valusd at £2 9 million
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

7. Taxation
{(a) Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Year o Year to
3132011 313200
£m £m
Current tax
Current Income tax charge at 28% 423 389
Income tax recycled from equity on cash flow hedges 0.1 -
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (9.5) 13
UK corporation tax 329 376
Overseas tax 0.2 02
Total current tax 33.1 378
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences in the year at 26% (2010 28%) 90 9?2
Effect of changes in tax rates and laws
— Impact of reduction In rate of UK corpeoration tax {46.3) -
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 6.8 03
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge {30.5) 95
Tax charge in the income statement 2.6 473

The rate of UK corporation tax was reduced from 28% to 27% by the Finance {(No 2) Act 2010 with effect from
1 Apnil 2011 The rate was further reduced to 26%, with effect from the same date, on the passing of a resolution
under the Provisional Collection of Taxes Act 1968 on 23 March 2011 at which pomt the new rate was

substantively enacted As a result, deferred tax was re-measured at the rate at which timing differences are

expected to reverse Adjustments in respect of prior penods arise from revisions to UK tax returns

{b) Tax refating to items charged or credited outside of profit or loss

Year to Year to
313201 3132010
£m £m
Current tax
Current tax recycled to mcome statement on cash flow hedges 0.1} -
Deferred tax
Actuanal gains and losses on penston schemes 19.4 03
Interest rate swaps 0.7 02
Impact of reduction in rate of UK corperation tax 31 -
Tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income 231 01
Deferred tax
Share based payment 01) -
Tax credit in the statement of changes in equity 01) -




7. Taxation continued
(c) Reconciliation of the total tax charge

Year to Year to
313201 3132010
£m £m
Accounting prafit before tax 181.0 1702
Accounting profit mult:phed by standard rate of corporation tax (28%) 507 47 7
Effects of

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.1 18
Depreciaticn in respect of non-qualifying tems 1.1 09
Nen-taxable income and enhanced tax reliefs - (05
Non-taxable amortisation of financing items {1.4) {(18)
Adjustmant to tax charge in respect of prior pernods (27) (10
Other 02 1)
496 47 3

Effect of changes in tax rates and laws
- Impact of rate reduction on opening deferred tax {46.3) -
- Impact of rate reduction on movement in deferred tax o7 -
Total tax expense reported in the Income statemsnt 26 473

The effective tax rate for the year to 31 March 2011 was 1 4% (2010 27 8%) The decrease of 26 4% 15 mainly due
to the impacts of the recuction In the rate of UK corporation tax and prior year items In the absence of the rate
change and prior year items, the effective rate would have been 28 5%

{d) Deferred tax
The movements in deferred tax labilities/(assets) are as follows

Accslerated Retirement Far values

tax Ceferred beneft  nterest rata Business
depreciaton ncems Tax iosses obhgatons swaps combingtens Other Total
£m em tm £m £m £m £m m
At 1 Apnl 2009 6714 (58 9) &1 {34 2) 33 113 153 5965
Charge/{credit} in the iIncome
statement 155 (13 {06 42 - (0 4) 05 95
Charge/{credit) In other
comprehensive Income - - - 03 0 2) - - 01
At 1 Aprit 2010 686 9 (60 2) 57 (38 1) (35) 109 158 6061
Charge/{credit) in the income
statement (43 5) 138 02 04 - {10) 04 (30 5)
Charge in other comprehensive
Income - - - 221 10 - 01 282
Reported in equity on share-based
payment - - - - - - 01 1)
At 31 March 2011 643.4 {46.4) {55 (16.4) {2.5) 9.9 16.2 598.7

The Group has tax losses of £70 millon (2010 £71 milion) which have arnisen in its Gibraltar subsichary for which

a deferred tax asset has not been recognised as they may not be used to offset taxable profits elsewhere i+ the
Group and It 1s not expected that the subsidiary will utiise significant amounts in the foreseeable future The losses
are, however, avallable for offset against future taxable profits ansing in the subsidiary without time hmit
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

7. Taxation continued

{e) Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Government has stated its intention to reduce the UK rate of corporation tax to 23% by 1 Aprl 2014 Had that
rate appled in 2010/11 the closing deferred tax llabiity would have been reduced by £69 1 milion to £529 6 mullion
and the current year's corporation tax charge would have been reduced by £7 8 million to £34 7 million

The Group expects to continue to incur high levels of capital expenditure during NWLs 2010-15 regulatory period
and be able to clam tax reliefs in excess of depreciation However, it 1s expected that capital allowances will be
claimed at a slower rate in future because Finance (No 3} 81l 2011 contamns clauses to reduce rates from 20% to
18% (general plant pool) and from 10% to 8% {special rate pool) with effect from 1 Apnl 2012

8 Earnmings per share

Basic EPS 1s calculated by dwviding the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue dunng the year Treasury shares held are excluded from the
weighted average number of shares for basic EPS

The weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 18 calculated by adding the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be tssued
on the conversion of all the dilutive potentiat ordinary shares inte crdinary shares

Welghted Weighted
average Everage
number Earnings number Earnings
Profit of ghares per shara Profit of shares per share
313 2011 313201 313 2014 3132010 3132010 3132010
£m million pence £m milhon pence
Basic EPS 1783 5178 3444 1225 5176 2367
Diluted EPS 1783 5186 3438 1225 5186 2362

The directors consider that EPS adjusted for the volatiity inherent in some deferred tax tems gives a better
ndication of the Group’s underlying perfarmance In previous years, an adjustment had been made for total
deferred tax However, the directors have concluded that the ongoing deferred tax charge forms part of underlying
performance and it 1S more appropnate to only adjust for significant non-recurnng deferred tax items For the
current period, the deferred tax credit relating to the corporation tax rate reduction has been adjusted and the prior
year adjusted EPS has been restated with no element of deferred tax removed The deferred tax charge now
inciuded in adjusted EPS for the current penod 1s £15 8 mullion {2010 £9 5 millon) and has an impact on the
adjusted EPS of 2 80 pence (2010 1 84 pence per sharg)

Weighted Weighted
average avarage Earrungs
number Eamings Profit rumber per share
Profit of shares per sharo 3132010 of sharas 313 2010
3132011 313 2011 313z2om restated 3132010 restated
£im milllon pence £m milion pence
Basic EPS 1783 5178 34.44 1225 5176 2367
Deferred tax - effect of changes in tax rates {46.3) (8.94) - -
Adjusted EPS 1320 5178 2550 1225 5176 2367
Diluted adjusted EPS 1320 5186 2545 1225 5186 2362




9. Dividends paid and proposed

Yeor to Year to
332010 32010
£m £m
Declared and paid during the year
Equity dividends on ordinary shares
Final dividend for 2009/10 8 85 pence (2008/09 8 50 pence) 458 440
Interm dividend for 2010/11 4 72 pence (2009/10 4 39 pence) 245 227
Dividends pad 70.3 667
Proposed for approval by shareholders at the AGM
Final dvidend for 2010/11 9 57 pence {2009/10 8 85 pence) 49.6 458
10. intangible assets
Goodwill QOther Total
£m tm £m
Cost
At 1 Apnil 2009, 1 Apnil 2010 and 31 March 2011 38 642 680
imparrment
At 1 Apnl 2009, 1 Apnil 2010 and 31 March 2011 (0.2) - {0.2)
Net book value at 31 March 2011 36 64.2 67.8
Net book value at 1 Apnl 2009 and 31 March 2010 36 B4 2 67 8

As from 1 Apnl 2004, the date of transttion to IFRS, goodwill is no lenger amortised but 1s now subject to an annual
impairment review

Goodwil has been allocated to the water and waste water cash-generating unit and the other intangible asset has
been allocated to the Northumbran Water Limited cash-generating unit, which are also the operating segments

The other ntangible asset represents the right in perpetuity to receive income under the operating agreement

with the Environment Agency in respect of the Kielder Walter transfer scheme and, therefore, the direclors consider
the asset has an indefinite tife Accordingly, future cash flows, which increase in ine with inflation, have been
discounted at a rata of 6 44% in perpetuity This represents a long term nominal gilt yield and an assumed credit
spread This calculation satisfied the Group that the carrying value at 31 March 2011 had not been impared
Furthermore, it 1s improbable that the discount rate would increase to such a level thal the carrying value would

be impaired
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

11. Property, ptant and equipment

Operatonat Fixtures

struclures filtngs  Assatsnthe
Fresholdland  Infrastructure plant and toals and course of
and buldings assals machnery  ggupment  construction Total
&m £m tm tm £m &m

Cost
At 1 Apnl 2009 953 11,7029 21250 1809 1705 427486
Additions (restated) - 187 16 03 2157 2363
Schemes commissioned 69 967 1329 383 (274 8) -
Reclassifications 134 - 20 (11 4) - -
Disposals - {6 6) 82 - - 9 8)
At 1 April 2010 (restated) 1156 18117 22543 2081 1114 4,501 1
Additions - 145 12 04 2038 2199
Schemes commissioned 37 763 737 131 (166 8) -
Reclassifications 28 - {2 5) 03 - -
Disposals (0 5) (6 8) (2 4) - - ©7)
At 31 March 2011 1216 1,8957 23243 2213 1484 4,711.3
Depreciation
At 1 Apnit 2009 340 837 6407 1280 - 8864
Charge for the year 19 228 718 g0 - 1065
Reclassifications 01 - - on - -
Disposals - 66) 31N - - 97
At 1 Apnl 2010 3B0 999 7094 1369 - 9822
Charge for the year 22 252 728 114 - 1116
Reclassifications - - {03 03 - -
Disposals - {68 {25 - - 93
At 31 March 2011 382 1183 7794 1486 - 1,0845
Net book value at 31 March 2011 834 1,7774 1,5449 72.7 1484 36268
Net book value at 31 March 2010 {restated) 796 17118 15449 712 1114 35189
Net book value at 1 April 2009 613 16192 14843 529 1705 33882

Operaticnal structures, plant and machinery include an element of land and bulldings dedicated to those assets
The Group has applied IAS 23 Borrowing Cests (Revised) in the year and has capitalised £19 million for the year to
31 March 2011 (2010 £1 2 milion) The capitahisation rate used to deterrmine the amount of borrowing costs ehgible
for captalisation was 5 96% {2010 5 96%) IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers was adopted in the
period This has required prior year additions to be restated by £14 0 millton for transactions effected on or after

1 July 2009

The net baok value of property, plant and equipment held under hire purchase contracts and finance leases was
as follows

132 3132010

£m £m
Infrastructure assets 47.3 47 8
Operational structures, plant and machinery 2290 236

69 3 714




12. Investments

313 2011 3132010
£m £m
Investments in jointly controlled entities 4.0 41

{a) Investments in jointly controlled entities

The Group, through Northumbnan Services Limited, holds 50% of the nominal value of issued ordinary £1 shares
in Vehicle Lease and Service Limited {VL.8), the Group’s principa! jointly controlled entity VLS was incorporated in

England and Wales and undertakes the business of hining, leasing and servicing of vehicles and piant

The Group, through Agrer, also holds a 50% interest in Agreco, a jointly controlled entity incorporated in Belgium

VLS Agrece VLS Agreco

Nn3azm Ii3z2on 3132010 3132010

£m £m £ £

Revenue 6.7 3.2 69 31
Operating costs (5.7) (2.9) {59 25
Profit on crdinary activities before interest 1.0 0.3 10 06
Finance costs payable {0.5) - {06) -
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 0.5 0.3 04 06
Current taxation 0.1) - 1) _
Profit for the year 0.4 03 03 06
Non-current assets 8.4 - 79 -
Current assets 7.7 1.4 79 36
Share of gross assets 16.1 14 158 36
Current habilities 4.9) {0.8) (4 8) (2 8)
Non-current labilities (7.8) - 79 -
Share of gross habilities (12.7) {0.8) (12 5) (2 8)
Share of net assets 3.4 0.6 33 08
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

12. Investments continued
(b) The Group’'s interests in principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2011 were as follows:

Propartion
of nominal
value of Issued
Country of ncorparabon or sharas held by
Nama of undertaking registration and operation Descnpbon of shares heid Geonwp (%) Busingss gctvity
Northumbrnian Services England and Wales  Ordinary shares of €1 100 Holding of mvestments and
Limited loans
Northumbnan Water England and Wales  Ordinary shares of £1 100 Water and sewerage services
Limited
Northumbrian Water England and Wales  Ordinary shares of £1 100 Holding of finance
Finance plc mnstruments
Caledonian Environmental  Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Services plc
Caledonian Environmental  Scotland Crdinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Levenmouth Treatment
Services Limited
Ayr Environmental Services  Scotland Ordinary shares of €1 75 Waste water services
Limited
Ayr Environmental Services  Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Operations Limited
AguaGib Limited Gibraltar Ordinary shares of £1 67 Water and sewerage services
Northumbrian Water England and Wales  Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Projects Limited
SA Agrer NV Belgium Ordinary shares of £1 100 Aid funded project work

In 2010/11 the Group increased its shareholding in both Caledonian Environmental Services plc and Catedonian
Environmental Levenmouth Treatment Services Limited from 75% to 100%

All subsidianes listed above are indirectly held The directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary
and associated undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length The abovs information relates to those
subsidiary and associated undertakings or groups of undertakings whose results or financial position, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the figures of the Group A full list of the Company’s subsidiaries 1s
attached to the Company's latest annual return filed at Companies House

13. Inventories

313 2011 3132010
£m £m

Stores 33 33




14 Trade and other receivables

31320m 3132010
£m £m
Trade recevables 78.2 722
Amounts owed by jointly controlled entities 0.6 05
Prepayments and accrued income 60.3 534
Financtal assets 3.8 11
Other recervables 110 92
153.9 1364
As at 31 March 2011, trade recervables at nominal vaiue of £44 5 million (2010 £371 millon) were impaired
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows
£m
At 1 Apnl 2009 N7
Charge for the year 196
Utihsed (14 2)
At 1 Apnl 2010 37 1
Charge for the year 17 8
Utihsed (10 4)
At 31 March 2011 445
At 31 March, the analysis of trade receivables overdue but not impaired 15 as follows
03 312 12 24 24-36 36-48 »45
months monis months menths months manths Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
201 0.6 268 12.4 6.4 25 - 48 7
2010 05 249 118 58 27 06 46 3

15. Cash and cash equivalents and short term deposits

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash eguivalents comprise the following at

31 March

31320Mm 3200

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 76 7 66 1
Cash equivalent deposits 65.0 1087
141.7 174 8
Bank overdrafts (14) (15)
Cash and cash equivatents 1403 1733
3132011 3132010

£m Em

Short term cash deposits >3 months 14 11
Short term cash deposits <3 months - 147
Short term cash deposits 1.4 158

Short term cash deposits of £nil 2010 £14 7 milion), with & maturity of less than three months, represent amounts

on deposit at fixed rates with the Northumbrian Water Pension Scheme
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

16. Trade and other payables

3132011 213 2010
£m £m
Trade payables 165 110
Other payables 178 194
Interest payable 39.1 397
Accruals and deferred income 822 811
1556 1512
17. Interest bearing loans and borrowings
313 2011 3132010
£m £m
Current
Bank overdrafts 14 15
Current instalments due on borrowings {principal £150 4 million, 2010 £18 7 million) 155.1 246
Current obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts {(see note 18) 7.2 70
163.7 331
Non-current
Non-current obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (principal
£103 5 mulion, 2010 £104 1 million) (see note 18) 1035 1041
Non-current iInstalments on borrowings (principal £2,166 9 million, 2010 £2,300 2 million) 2,192.3 23298
22958 24339
Borrowings comprise the following
Loans {principal £5271 mihon, 2010 £546 6 milion) 5300 5505
Subordinated loan stock (principal £1 9 million, 2010 £6 8 midhon) 19 68
Eurobeonds - due 11 October 2017 bearing interest rate of 8 0% {princpal £300 0 milkon,
2010 £300 ¢ milion) 307.5 3086
Eurobonds — due 6 February 2023 bearing interest rate of 8 875% (principal £350 O milion,
2010 £350 0 million) 3840 3868
Eurobonds - due 29 April 2033 bearing interest rate of 5 625% (principal £350 0 million,
2010 £350 0 milion) 3464 3463
Eurobonds — due 23 January 2034 bearing interest rate of 5 87526% (principal £248 0 million,
2010 £248 0 milion) 2414 2411
Eurobonds — due 31 March 2037 bearing miterest rate of 6 627% (principal £61 5 million,
2010 £61 6 million) 58.9 589
index inked Eurobonds - due 15 July 2036 bearnng interest rate of 2 033%
{principal £177 6 mithon, 2010 £169 5 milien) 176.6 168 5
index inked Eurcbonds — due 30 January 2041 beanng interest rate of 1 6274%
{principal £69 8 million, 2010 £66 6 milkon) 69.7 665
Index inked Eurohonds — due 16 July 2049 bearng interest rate of 17118%
{principal £115 7 mifhon, 2010 £110 4 million) 115.5 1102
Index inked Eurobonds - due 16 July 2053 bearing interast rate of 1 7484%
{principal £115 7 muiion, 2010 £110 4 million) 115.5 1102
23474 23544
Less current instalments due on bank loans {principal £150 4 milion, 2010 £18 7 milion) (155.1} (246
2,192,3 232938




17. Interest bearing loans and borrowings continued

The difference between the prnncipal value of £2,166 9 millon {2010 £2,300 2 milhon) and the carrying vatue of
£2,192 3 million {2010 £2,329 8 mullion) are unamortised 1ssue costs of £14 1 millron {2010 £14 7 millon} and a
credit of £39 5 million (2010 £44 3 milhen) in excess of the oniginal loan proceeds to reflect the farr value of loans

owed by subsidiares acquired in 2003

The Eurobonds - due 23 January 2034 are secured on the income receivable under the Kielder Water transfer

scheme for the penod to 23 January 2034

The value of the capital and interest elements of the index linked Eurobonds are inked to movements in the UK RPI

{see note 1(q)

18. Obhgations under hire purchase contracts and finance leases

313 201

3132010

£m £m
Amounts due
Not later than one year 72 70
After one year but not more than five years 235 236
Later than five years 1516 1546
1823 1851
Less finance charges allocated to future penods (71.6) (740
Present value of mimmum lease payments 110.7 1111
Disclosed as due
Not later than one year 7.2 70
After more than one year 103.5 1041
110.7 1111

Lease commitments

The Group has entered into non-cancelfable operating leases in respect of land and buildngs, plant, machinery
and motor vehicles The future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

3z 132010

£m £m

Not later than one year 07 08
After one year but not more than five years 24 26
After five years 26.6 267
29,7 30 1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

19. Provisions

£m
At 1 Apnl 2010
Current 02
Non-current 22
At 1 April 2010 24
Ansing during the year 04
Utiilsed 02
At 31 March 2011 26
Analysed as
Current Q2
Non-current 24
26

The provision represents outstanding discretionary pension liabiities The discretionary pension liabilities have
been calculated by an independent actuary, using the same actuanal assumptions as apphed to the defined
benefit pension scheme {see note 24), and are expected to be paid over the remaining lives, which 1 approximately
11 years

20 Financial instruments

(a) Group strategy

The level of capital expenditure which the Group 1s obliged to incur 1s such that it cannot be wholly financed by

internally generated sources As a result, the Group must rely upon raising addrtional finance on a regular basis,
to be principally used to fund the long term assets required in its regulated business The Group's strategy 1s to
finance such investment by raising medium to long term debt, to provide a balance sheet match with long term

assets and to fix a major proportion of interest rates

(b) Treasury operations

The man purpose of the Group's treasury funchon I1s 10 assess the Group's angoing capital regquirement and to
raise funding on a timely basis, taking advantage of any favourable market opportunities It also invests any surplus
funds the Group may have, based upon its forecast requirements and in accordance with the Group’s treasury
policy On occasions, dervatives are used as part of this process but the Group's policies prohibit their use

for speculation

(c) Risks anising from the Group’s financial instruments

The main nsks ansing from the Group's financial instruments are hquidity risk, interest rate nsk and foreign currency
rsk The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summanised below

All treasury activities are conducted in accordance with these policies

(d) Liquidity nsk

As regards day to day Iiquidity, the Group's policy I1s to have avalable standby committed bank borrowing facilties
with a value of no less than £50 0 milllon and with a bank agreement avallability period of no less than three
months At 31 March 2011, the Group had £35 0 milion of undrawn commiited bank faciities {2010 £75 O million)
A further £70 0 million of committed bank facilities were entered into on 7 April 2011




20. Financial instruments continued

{e) Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through a muxture of retained profits and bank borrowings 1t borrows at both
fixed and floating rates of interest and, accordingly, uses interest rate swaps to generate the desired interest profile
and to manage the Group's expaosure to interest rate fluctuations The Group's policy 1s to keep a minimum 60% of
Its borrowings at fixed rates of interest At 31 March 2011, 74% (2010 75%) of the Group's borrowings were at fixed
rates of interest Index Iinked borrowings are treated as variable rate debt

(f} Forergn currency risk

The Group’s palicy 1s that any foreign currency exposure in excess of £100,000 sterling equivalent of a transactional
nature, or £3 0 milhon sterling equivalent of a translation nature, should be covered immediately on identification Any
exposures are covered through the use of forward foreign exchange contracis

(g) Market price risk

The Group's expasure to market price nsk principally comprises interest rate exposures The Group’s policy is to
accept a degree of interest rate nsk The following table shows the impact on profit and equity of an increase In the
varable cost of borrowing The range is considered reasonable based on the forecast vanable rates of borrowing
and all other elements being consistent for the next 12 months and highlights this 1s not material to the Group

Effect on

profit/equity

increase n basis ponts £m
2011

+50 13

+100 25

+150 3.8
2010

+50 09

+100 19

+150 28

(h) Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit nsk within the Group Management’s assessment of the maximum
credit risk exposure relating to financial assets 1s represented by thewr carrying value as at the balance sheet date
{see (0) A significant proportion of the trade debtor balances are with domestic customers who are unlikely to
have a published credit rating

(1) Counterparty risk

The treasury strategy, which 1s approved by the Board, requires that investments are imited to certain money
market and treasury instruments, and that the Group's exposure to any single bank, buildng society or market 1s
controlled, with maximum deposits allowed with any single counterparty The investment critena cover credit rating
and asset size, Including soveraign and political nsk Current market conditions have rasulted 1n closer monitoring
of counterparties and cancellation or suspension of deposits

(i) Capital nisk
The pnmary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it mamntains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support 1ts business and maximise shargholder vaiue

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratios for the Group and NWL For NWL, this s net debt divided by
the RCV as dstermined and published by Ofwat, and for the Group, RCV plus a pro forma RCV for the Kielder
secuntisation and the PFl contracts (at the level of associated debt included in the Group's net debt relating
to those assets) The Group's policy 1s 1o keep the gearing ratio less than 75% and 70% for the Group and
NWL, respectively
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

20. Financial instruments continued

For the Group, the pro forma RCV at 31 March 2011 was £3,643 1 milion For NWL, the RCV at 31 March 2011
was £3,318 4 million On this basis, the geanng ratios ware 63% for the Group and 56% for NWL

(k) Contractual maturity of financial habilities {principal and future interest payments)

The table below stmmarnises the matunty profile of the Group's financial kabiities at 31 March based on contractual

undiscounted payments

Year ended 31 March 2011

Less than

More than

On demand 3muanths 3-12months 1-5years Syears Total
fm £m £m fm £m £m
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 1.4 162.4 1246 7045 43818 53747
Trade and other payables - 823 48.7 - - 1310
14 2447 173.3 7045 4,381.8 5,505.7

Year ended 31 March 2010

Less than Morg than

On demand Jdmenths 3 12 months 1 5 years 5years Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 15 403 1180 8244 43818 53660
Trade and cther payables 01 313 200 - - 514
16 716 1380 8244 43818 54174

(I} Maturity profile of financial assets and hiabilities {carrying value)

Year ended 31 March 2011

More than
Within 1 year 1-2years 2-3years 3-4 years 4-56 years 5 years Total
£m £m m £m £m Em £m

Fixed rate
Eurcbonds 4.2 4.1} {4.2) (4.2 (43) (1,317 2) {1,3382)
Subordinated loan stock - - - - - {19 (19)
Bank loans 243) (21.2) (211 (213} (22.1) (145.9) (255.9)
Obligations under finance leases and hire

purchase contracts (2.8) (2.0) (15) {10 (0.5) {(0.4) 8.2)
Other loans (0.3) {0.3) (0.3) (0.3) (0.3) {0.9) (24)
Fixed rate at 31 March 2011 (31.6) (27.6) (271) (26.8) (27.2) (1,466.3) (1,606 6)
Variable rate
Cash and cash equivalents 143.1 - - - - - 1431
Financial investments 0.9 0.5 02 - - 11.3 129
Eurobonds - - - - -  {477.3) (477.3)
Bank loans (126.3) (554) (10.0) (1000 (100} (600) (271 7)
Qverdrafts {14) - - - - - (14)
Obligations under finance leases and hire

purchase contracts {4.4) 4.49) (4.5) {45 4.5 (80.2) (102.5)
Variable rate at 31 March 2011 11.9 {59.3) (143) (145 (14.5) (606.2) (696.9)

Net borrowings at 31 March 2011

(2,303 5)
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20 Fmancial instruments continued
Year ended 31 March 2010
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Mare than
Within 1 year 12 yoars 2 Jyears 3 4 years 4 Syears Syears Total
£ £m £m £m £rm £m £m
Fixed rate
Eurobonds 40 41 42 41 {43) (1,321 0) (1,341 7}
Subordinated loan stock - - - - - 6 8) B 8
Bank loans (177 (245 @11 (2120 @212 (1680¢ (2737)
Obligations under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts 27) 23 17 an {0 5) (0 4} 87
Other loans 04 03) 03 {03 03 {1 G} 26
Fixed rate at 31 March 2010 {24 8) (312) (273 (267) (263) {1,497 2) (1,633 5)
Vanable rate
Cash and cash eguivalents 174 8 - - - - - 174 8
Short term cash deposits 158 - - - - - 158
Financial investments 11 09 05 g2 - 113 140
fzurobonds - - - - ~ (4554) {4554)
Bank loans 25 ({717 {00 100y (100 (7000 (2742)
Overdrafts {15 - - - - - {15)
Obligabons under finance leases and
hire purchase contracts (43 (4 4 (4 5) (4 5) {4 5) {802 (1024
Variable rate at 31 March 2010 1834 (1752) (140y {(143) (145 (5943) (6289
Net borrowings at 31 March 2010 (2,262 4)

The variable rate net borrowings comprise sterling denominated bank borrowings and deposits that bear interest
at rates based upon up to 12 months LIBOR

(m}) Currency exposures
At 31 March 2011, after taking into account the effects of forward foreign exchange contracts, the Group had no
currency exposures (2010 £nil)

(n) Borrowing facilities
The Group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities The facihties available at 31 March, in respect of
which all conditions precedent have been met, are as follows

31320M 3132000
£m £m
Expinng in less than one year 35.0 750
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

20. Financial instruments continued

(o} Fair values of financial assets and financial habiities

A comparnison by category of book values, which are ali recognised at amortised cost, and fair vaiues of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 March 1s set out below

Bookvalue Far valug
33201 3132010 332 132010
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 143.1 174 8 1431 174 8
Short term cash deposits - 158 - 158
Financial Investments 12.9 140 12.9 140
Trade and other receivables 153.9 1364 153.9 1364
Financial labilities
Overdraft {(1.4) (1 5) (14) (15
Bank oans {principal of £5627 1 million, 2010 £546 6 million) {5300) (5505 {H41.3} (5595)
Subordinated loan stock {principal of £18 milion, 2010 £6 8 mullion) (1.9 6 8) {1.9) 68
Eurcbonds (principal of £1,788 3 millon, 2010 £1,766 4 millon) {1,815.5) (1,797 1) (1,899.2) (1,804 0)
Oblgations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts
(principal of £110 7 mithon, 2010 £1111 mullion) 1107} (111 1) (110.7) (1111)
Interest rate swaps {9.8) (12 5) (9.8} (12 5)
Trade and other payables (155.5) (1512) (1558.5) (1512

)
(2,314.9) (2,289 7) (2,409.9) (2,305 6)

The fair values of the interest rate swaps and sterling denominated long term fixed rate and index inked debt with
a book value of £1,815 5 milhon (2010 £1,787 1 million), have been determined by reference to prices avallable from
the markets on which the instruments involved are traded All the other farr values shown above have been
caleulated by discounting cash flows at prevaling interest rates

In the absence of an openly traded market value for the index linked bonds with a book value of £477 3 million
{2010 £455 4 mithon), the far value at the balance sheet date has been calculated by considenng the remaining
debt maturity, the relevant UK index linked gilt rate and an appropriate credit spread by reference to market
evidence for conventional bonds

The difference between the principal value of £2,428 0 milion (2010 £2,430 9 million) and the carrying value of
£2,4581 milion (2010 £2,465 5 million} are unamortised 1ssue costs of £14 3 mithon 2010 £14 7 millkon) and a
credit of £44 4 milion (2010 £49 3 miflion) 1In excess of the onginal loan proceeds to reflect the fair value of loans
owed by subsidiaries acaurred in 2003

{p) Hedges
Cash flow hedges - currency forward contracts
At 31 March 2011, the Group held no forward exchange contracts (2010 nil)




20. Financial instruments continued
Cash flow hedges - interest rate swap

At 31 March 2011, the Group held three interest rate swaps, designated as a hedge of future interest cash flows,
for which the Group has firm commitments The swaps were used to convert vanable rate interest payments to a

fixed rate basis The terms of these swaps werg as ollows

Fixed rate

Notional amount Startdate  Termination date %
GBP 100.0 miilion 15.9.2008 15.3.2022 479
GBP 62.5 million 29 1.2009 31.5.20114 2345
GBP 62.5 milhon 29 1.2009 31.5.2011 2435

The £100 0 millon swap was designated as highly effective The two £62 5 milhon swaps were not effective

At 31 March 2010, the Group held three Interest rate swaps, designated as a hedge of future interest cash flows,
for which the Group had firm commitrments The swaps were used to convert vanable rate interest payments to a

fixed rate basis The terms of these swaps were as follows

Fixad rete
Noticnal amount Start data Termination date %
GBP 100 0 mulhion 159 2008 15 3 2022 479
GBP 62 5 milion 291 2009 3152011 2345
GBP 62 5 milhon 29 1 2009 3152011 2435

These hedges were designated as highly effective

{q) Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by

valuation technique
- level 1 quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for iIdentical assets or lhabilities,

- level 2 other techniques for which all nputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are

observable, either directly or indirectly, and

- level 3 technigues which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded farr value that are not based

on observable market data
All other financial assets and habilities are carried at amortised cost

Liabilities measured at fair value
Year ended 31 March 2011

313201 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£Em £m £m £m

Interest rate swap (9.8} - (9.8) -
Year ended 31 March 2010

3132010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£m £m £m £m

Interest rate swap {12 5) - {12 5) -

During the year ta 31 March 2011, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 far value measurements,

and no transfers into and out of level 3 farr value measurements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

21. Authornised and i1ssued share capital

J1320m 3132010

£m £m
Authorised
700 mullion ordinary shares of 10 pence each 700 700
Allotted, called up and fully paid
518 6 million ordinary shares of 10 pence each 519 519

The Northumbrian Water Group pic Employee Trust, through Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited,
currently holds 765,962 (2010 914,518) ordinary 10 pence shares in the Company for use under the Company's
LTIP All of these shares have been conditionally awarded under the LTIP Detalls of the main features of the LTIP
and the conditions for vesting can be found in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 71 to 84 As at 31 March
2011, the share price of the ordinary 10 pence shares in the Company was 332 2 pence (2010 283 1 pence)

22. Additional cash flow information
Analysis of net debt as at 31 March 2011

Other
Asat non cash As at
142000 Cashflow  movements 3132011
£m £m £m £m
Cash and cash eguivalents 1733 (330) - 1403
Short term cash deposits 158 (14 4) - 14
Financial Investments 140 (11) - 12.8
Loans (principal of £2,317 3 million, 2010 £2,319 8 million) (2,354 4) 189 (12 9) (2,347.4)
Finance leases (principal of £1107 milign, 2010 £1111 million) (111 1) 73 69 (110.7)

@2624) (213 (198} (2,303.5)

The difference between the principal value of £2,428 0 milion (2010 £2,430 9 million) and the carrying value of
£2,4581 milion (2010 £2,465 5 million) are unamortised 1ssue costs of £14 3 million 201C¢ £14 7 millon) and a
credit of £44 4 million (2010 £49 3 million) in excess of the ornginal loan proceeds to reflect the farr value of loans
owed by subsidiaries acguired In 2003

Non-cash movements on loans relate to the principal uplift on index linked borrowings and amortisation of loan
Issue costs offset by the amortisation of debt farr value for the year Non-cash movements on finance leases relate
to the inception of new finance leases on the acguismon of plant and machinery during the year

Analysis of net debt as at 31 March 2010

Cther

Asat non-cash As at

142009 Cashfow  movements 3132010

£m £m £m m

Cash and cash eguivalents 92 3 810 ~ 17383
Short term cash deposits 1606 (144 8) - 158
Financial nvestments 154 (14 - 140
Loans (principal of £2,319 8 million, 2009 £2,347 2 million) (2,386 3) 209 110 (2,354 4)
Finance leases (prnincipal of £111 1 million, 2009 £111 6 million) {111 7) 72 ©6 (1111
22207 {371) 44 (22624




22. Additional cash flow information continued

The difference between the principal value of £2,430 9 million (2009 £2,458 8 millon) and the carrying value of
£2,465 5 milion (2009 £2,498 0 million) are unamortised 1ssue costs of £14 7 million (2009 £15 4 milionj and a
credit of £49 3 mihon (2009 £54 6 million} In excess of the onginal loan proceeds to reflect the far value of loans
owed by subsidiaries acquired in 2003

Non-cash movements on loans relate to the principal uplft on index linked borrowings and amortisation of loan
Issue costs offset by the amortisation of debt fair value for the year Non-cash movements on finance leases relate
to the inception of new finance leases on the acquisition of plant and machinery during the year

23 Financial commitments

3132011 3132010
£m £m

Expenditure contracted for 222.3 853

In addition to these commitments, the Group has longer term expenditure plans, which include investment to meet
shortfalls In performance and condition, and to provide for new demand and growth within the water and
sewerage business

24. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme, Northumbrian Water Pension Scheme (NWPS or the
scheme), providing benefits based on final pensionakle remuneration to 1,808 active members at 31 March 2011
{2010 2,033)

The assets of the NWPS are held separately from those of the Group in independently admimstered funds

The most recent actuanal valuation of the scheme was at 31 December 2007 At that date the value of assets
amounted to £732 3 million and the funding level was 106 1%

The future service contribution rate jointly payable by members and the employers from 31 December 2007 was
22 6% of pensionable salares Members' contributions are 7 3% on average with the employers paying 15 3%

The employer contribution rate was assessed using the projected unit method and the following actuarial assumptions

%
Pre-retirement 61
Post-retirement 52
Pay increases 37
Pension increasas 34
Pnce inflation 34

Following the 2004 actuaral valuahon the employers had prepad contnibutions to the scheme up to 31 December
2010 The scheme actuary recommended that regular contributions should recommence from 1 January 2011
However, the Group made an alternative proposal, which was accepted by the NWPS Trustees, 1o make new
capital iIjections of £70 0 mulion to cover the pericd 1 January 2011 to 31 March 2015 These payments comprise
employers’ contributions and the deficit recovery funding assttmed in the final determination Amounts totalkng
£22 9 million have been paid in the period, of which £0 5 milicn was paid by a jointly controlled entity The
remamning £47 1 millon was pard n April 2011 which, along with other payments of an estmated £1 9 million
relating to early retirements, will bring total contributions to the scheme next year to £49 0 millon A full actuartal
valuation of the scheme as at 31 December 2010 has commenced
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

24, Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The scheme also has a defined contribution section which had 460 active members at 31 March 2011 (2010 389)
Members can choose to contribute ether 3%, 4% or 5% of salary, with employers contributing at either 6%, 7% or
8% depending on the member contribution rate The contributions paid to the defined contnbution section by the

Group In the year totalled £0 8 milion (2010 £0 & million}

The additional disclosures regarding the Group’s defined benefit scherne as required under IAS 18 Employee

Benefits, and the relevant impact on the Group’s financial statements are set out below

A qualfied actuary, using revised assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of IAS 19, has updated
the actuanal valuation descnbed above as at 31 March 2011 Investments have been valued, for this purpose, at

far value
3132011 3132010
Pay increases' 4.5% 4 7%
RPI inflatton 3.5% 37%
CPI inflation 28% na
Pension increases linked to RPI 35% 37%
Pension increases inked to CPI 28% n/a
Discount rate 5.5% 55%
Mortality assumptions? PCMA/PCFA00 PCMA/PCFAQD
— Life expectancy for a member aged 85 — female (years) 23.0 230
- Life expectancy for a member aged 65 ~ male (years) 20.7 207
Notes
1 Including promotional salary scele
2 115% of PCMAQQ/PCFAQRD (year of birth with medium cohort improvements)
The far value of the assets in the NWPS, the present value of the labilities in the scheme and the long term
expected rate of return at 31 March werg
Long term Long term
expected expected
rate of rate of
retum retum
313201 313 2011 A3amo 3132010
% £m % £m
Equities 73 5118 75 4993
Corporate bonds 5.5 621 55 707
Government bonds 4.3 63.9 45 27 2
Property 58 71.6 60 666
Cash 3.8 3.9 39 143
Loan to scheme from Company - - 05 (14 7)
Total fair value of assets 7133 663 4
Present value of liabilities (759.3) {796 5)
Deficit (46.0) (133 1)

The discount rate at 31 March 2011 has been set by reference to the yisld on AA corporate bonds (AA over 13
years) at that date, extrapolated forward to a duration of 18 years which reflect the duration of the expected benefit
payments The expected rate of return on equities represents a 3% premium of the yield on long term Government
bonds at 31 March 2011 The gross redemption yeld on index inked UK Government stocks was 0 7% The long
term inflation rate Implied by these yields 1s 3 6% which has been reduced by 0 1% to allow for an inflation nisk
premium Mortality rates have been based on the PAQO tables, applying medium cohort adjustment of 115%

loading to mortalty rates based on the year of birth of the membership




24. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The valuation of the scheme liabilties has taken account of legislative changes which mean that future statutory
deferred revaluations and pension increasas will be inked to CPl As a consequence, CPl increases have been
applied for deferred pensions in all sections of the scheme and to those sections where the scheme rutes link
Increases to the Government's pension increase orders This has given rise to a reduction in the actuanat valuation

of the llabilities of around £36 0 million

The amounts recognised In the income statement and in the statement of comprehensive mcome for the year are

analysed as follows

33201 3132000
fm tm
Recognised Iin the ncome statement
Current service cost 13.5 99
Past service cost 04 46
Recognised in operating costs in arrving at profit on ordinary activities before interest 13.9 145
Interest cost on plan obligations 43.3 361
Expected return on plan assets {45 5) (31 6)
Recognised in (ncome receivable)/finance costs payable (2.2) 45
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive iIncome
Actual return on scheme assets 56.2 2090
Less expected return on scheme assets 455 (316
10.7 177 4
Other actuanal gans and losses 63.3 (1763}
Net actuanal gans 74.0 11
Cumulative amounts recognised since adopting the standard {6.5) {80 5)
History of experience gains and losses
313201 313200 3132008 3132008 3132007
£m £m £m £m £m
Fair value of assets 7133 6634 4786 666 7 7108
Present value of defined benefit abligation (7593) (7965) (5980) (5762) (6681)
(Deficit)/surplus (46.0) (1331) (1194) 8905 427
Experience adjustments arsing on plan assets 107 1774 (205 3) (©3 4) 06
Experience adjustments arising on plan habilities - - 187 06 17
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension obhgations are analysed as follows
M3zon 3132010
£m £m
At 1 April 796.5 5980
Current service cost 13.5 99
Past service cost 04 46
Interest cost on plan obligations 43.3 361
Contnbutions by plan participants 0.1 01
Actuanal {gainy/loss on ohligations (633) 1763
Benefits paid {312 (28 §)
At 31 March 7593 7965
Present value of funded defined benefit obligations 7593 7965
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

24. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued
Changes in the far value of plan assets are analysed as follows

313 20Mm 3132010

£m £m
At 1 Apnil 6634 4786
Expected return on plan assets 45.5 316
Actuarial gan on plan assets 107 177 4
Contributrons by employer 24.8 42
Contributions by plan participants 0.1 01
Benefits paid (31.2) (28 5)
At 31 March 7133 6634

The Group through its subsidiary, AquaGib, alsoc operates a non-contributory defined benefit scheme The deficit
at 31 March 2011, under local GAAP, was £2 1 million (2010 £2 8 milkon) The Group made contnbutions
amounting to £1 0 milkon (2010 £0 8 mitlion) to the defined benefit pension scheme

Sensitivity to key assumphions
IAS 1 requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the results to the methods and assumptions used

The costs of a pension arrangement reguire estimates regarding future expenence The financial assumptions
used for IAS 19 reporting are the responsibility of the directors of the Company These assumptions reflect market
conditions at the balance sheet date Changes in market conditions which result in changes in the net discount
rate (essentially the difference between the discount rate and the assumed rates of increases of salanes, deferred
pension revaluation or pensions in payment), can have a significant effect on the value of the habilities reported

A reduction in the net discount rate will increase the assessed valua of hiabiliies, as a higher value 1s placed on
benefits paid in the future A nse in the net discount rate will have an opposite effect of similar magnitude The
overall effect of a change in the net discount rate of 0 1% would change the liabilities by around £14 8 milion

There 1s also uncertainty around life expectancy for the UK population The value of current and future pension
benefits will depend on how long they are assumed to be in payment

The disclosures have been prepared using the mortality assumptions adopted for the 2007 formal valuation —
namely the PCMA/PCFAQQ tables, applying a medium cohort adjustment with a 115% loading to mortality rates
based on the year of birth of the membership These assumptions mply an assumed life expectancy for a member
aged 65 at 31 March 2011 of 20 7 years (2010 20 7 years) for males and 23 0 years (2010 23 0 years) for females

The effect of increasing the assumed Iife expectancies by one year would be to increase the value of habilities by
around 2 8%




25. Long Term Incentive Plan

Under the LTIP, executive directors and senior managers may receive, at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committes, annual conditional awards of shares in the Company Further details of the LTIP ¢an be found in the
drrectors’ remuneration report

The following table illustrates the movements i conditional share awards during the year

3132011 3132010

Number Number
Outstanding at 1 April 1,242,293 1,190,034
Granted during the year 378,503 414,679
Forfeited/lapsed during the year (351,299) {238,686)
Exercised (148,556) (123,734)
Quistanding at 31 March 1,120,941 1,242,293
Exercisable at 31 March 4,649 4,724

The weighted average exercise price throughout the year was £nil (2010 £nil) The farr value of conditional share
awards granted during the year was £nil (2010 £0 1 mullion)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the conditional share awards 15 324 79 pence
(2010 268 71 pence)

For the conditional awards outstanding as at 31 March 2011, the weighted average remaning coniractual kfe1s
17 years (2010 1 8 years)

The farr value of conditronal share awards granted was estimated using the Monte-Carlo model The significant
mputs to the model were as follows

313 2011 313 2010

Dividend yield 4.0% 47%
Expectad share price volatility 28% 29%
Share price at award 328.70p 272 50p
Expected FTSE 250 Index volatibty 21% 24%
Risk free intarest rate 1.5% 21%
Expected life of option (years) 3 3

The expected fife of these options I1s based on histoncal data and 1s not necessanly indicative of exercise patterns
that may occur The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the histoncal volatiity 1s indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

25. Long Term Incentive Plan continued

Share Incentive Plan

The SIP scheme provides one free matching share for every three shares purchased by an employee Shares for
ihe SIP are purchased at market price by the Trustee and dividends are paid in cash directly to participants

The following table llustrates the movements in conditional share awards during the year

313 2011 3132010

Number Number
Outstanding at 1 April 143,201 117,687
Granted during the year 115,519 134,397
Forfested during the year (3,383) (1,8095)
Exercised (95,155) (107.078)
Qutstanding at 31 March 160,182 143,201

26. Special purpose entities

As noted under accounting policy 1(b), under SIC 12, two companies are consolidated as special purpose entities
The principal special purpose entity 1s Bakethin Holdings Limited, the shares in which are owned by Baksthin
Charitable Trust The other special purpose entity I1s Bakethin Finance plic, which 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of
Bakethin Holdings Limited

Bakethin Finance plc was established for the purpose of 1Issuing guaranteed secured Eurobonds On 12 May 2004,
Bakethin Finance plc issued £248 O milion of guaranteed secured bonds maturing January 2034 Bakethin
Finance plc used the proceeds of the bond 1ssue to make a loan to Reiver Finance Limited to fund the
consideration given by that company to Northumbnian Water Limited for the secuntisation of the cash flows
recevable from the EA under the Water Resources Operating Agreement relating 1o Kielder Water transfer
scheme The assignment is for a period of 30 years

The summansed combined financial statements of the special purpose entities are as follows

A 320m 313 2010

£m £m
Income statement

Finance costs recevable 149 149
Finance costs payable (14.9) (149
Balance sheet

Investments 2414 2410
Current assets 4.7 47
Non-current habitihes {243.2) (2429)
Current labiities 2.7} 27
Net assets 0.2 01




27. Related parties

Dunng the year, the Group entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties
Transactions entered into and trading balances cutstanding at 31 March between the Group and its asscciates
and joint ventures, are as follows

Trading transactions

Purchases Amounts Amounts

Salesto  fromrelatec owed by owed fo
related party party related party related party
£m £ £m £m
Related party
Jontly controlled entities
2011 o1 9.6 0.6 8.2
2010 01 102 05 87

Purchases from jontly controlled entities include £2 & milion (2010 £3 3 millton) in respect of capital purchases
under finance leases, £0 1 millon (2010 £0 1 mullon} in respect of operating leases, £6 3 million (2010 £6 2 milion)
m respect of costs payable under finance leases and £0 7 milion (2010 £0 6 millien) in respect of other purchases

At 31 March 2011, the Group had a short term cash deposit with the Northumbrian Water Pension Scheme of
£nil (2010 £14 7 milhon)

Outstanding balances due from related parties are expecied to be settled within 60 days and amounts due to
related parties are in respect of leasing arrangsments, where the amounts owed will relate specifically to the terms
of the lease

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors s included within the amounts disclosed below Further information about the
remuneration of ndvidual directors 1s provided in the audited part of the directors’ remunaration report on pages
80 to 84

3t3aom 3132010

£m £m

Short term employee benefits 14 12
Post employment benefits 0.2 02
Share based payments 0.5 02
241 16

28. Post balance sheet event

On 14 Apri 2011, the Group borrowed £100 0 midhion through a US private placement faciity with a 10 year
matunty at a coupon of 5 82% On the same date, two £62 5 millon loans t¢ Northumbran Services Limited,
maturing in May 2011, were repaid
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation
to the parent Company financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with
applcable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the

drrectors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice (Unitegd Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under Company Law, the

directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and far view of

the state of affarrs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod In preparing those

financial statements, the directors are required to

-~ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

— make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

- state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have been foliowsd, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

— prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s Inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and to enable them tc ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities




Report of the auditors on the
Company financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Northumbnan Water Group plc

We have audited the parent Comparny financial statements of Northumbrian Water Group plc for the year ended
31 March 2011 which comprnise the parent Company balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 10 The financia!
reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Qur audt work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 132, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the parent Cempany financial statements and for being satisfied that they gve
a true and fair view Qur responsibility 1s to audit the parent Company financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient o
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent
Company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the parent Company financial statements

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affars as at 31 March 2011,

— have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
— have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opInIon

- the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006, and

- the information given in the Directors’ report and business review for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared I1s consistent with the parent Company financial statements
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Report of the auditors on the
Company financial statements
continued

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothuing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report

to you 1, In our opIrIon

— adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adeguate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us,

- the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited are
not in agreement with the accounting records and returns,

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

— we have not recewed all the information and explanations we require for our audi

Other matters
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Northumbnan Water Group plc for the year
ended 31 March 2011

6/\:\.“- + ‘10\1’\3 L‘L__'f_-
Debbie O'Hanlon (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor

Newcastle upon Tyne
31 May 2011




Company balance sheet
As at 31 March 2011

33201 3132000
Notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments In subsidiary undertakings 4 11014 10226
1,1014 10226
Current assets
Debtors recewvable within one year 5 3.5 43
Cash at bank 59.1 120
62.6 163
Creditors' amounts falling due within one year 6 (93.2) 28)
Net current (habihties)/assets (30.6) 1356
Total assets less current habilities 1,070.8 1,03561
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 7 (480.0) {4851 9)
Net assets 5808 5442
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 51.9 519
Share premwum account ¢ 4465 4465
Treasury shares 8 {1.7) 20
Profit and loss account 9 84.1 47 8
Equity shareholders’ funds 5808 5442

Apprayad by the Board on 31 May 2011 and signed on its behalf by

o o, Lot

Derek Wanless Heidi Mottram
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting |
standards The accounting policies have been reviewed in accordance with the requirements of FRS 18 Accounting
Policies The directors consider the following accounting policies to be relevant in relaticn to the Company's financial
statements The Company’s financial statements are included In the consolidated financial statements of
Northumbnan Water Group ple Accordingly, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption from publishing

a profit and loss account and cash flow statement and from disclosing related party transactions with its wholly-
owned subsidiaries The Company I1s also exempt from disclosing the nformation otherwise required by FRS 29
Financial Instruments Disclosures, as the consolidated financial staterments, i which the Company 1s included,
provide equivalent disclosures for the Group under IFRS 7 Financial Instrumants  Dhsclosures

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will
have adequate funding to meet Its liabiities as they fall due in the foreseeable future As at 31 March 2011 the
Company had net current habilites of £30 6 milkon (2010 net current assets of £13 5 million) The directors have
reviewed cash flow requirements and are confident that they will be able to meet these from funds available
Accordingly, the directors believe It is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

(b) Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at their purchase cost, less any provision for imparrment

{c) Taxation

Corporation tax Is based on the profit for the year as adjusted for taxation purposes using the rates of tax enacted
at the balance sheet date Provision 1s made for deferred tax in respect of all timing differences that have originated
but not reversed at the balance sheet date that will result n an obligation to pay more, or a nght to pay less, tax in
future perods Deferred tax s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply In the pernods in which tming
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date Deferred tax assets are recogrised only 1o the extent that the directors consider that it 1s more likely
than not that there will be suiable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying tming differences
can be deducted

(d) Interest beanng leans and borrowings !
All loans and borrowings are initially stated at the amount of the net proceeds, being far value of the consideration

received net of Issue costs associated with the borrowing Finance costs (including 1ssue costs) are taken to the

income statement over the term of the debt at a constant rate on the balance sheet carrying amount The carrying

amount 1s Increased by the finance charges amortised and reduced by payments made in respect of the

accounting penod

2. Auditors’ remuneration
Auditors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2011 was £97,000 (2010 £95,000)

Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for non-audit services to the Company tself are not disclosed in the indvidual
financial statements of the Company because Group financial statements are prepared which are reguired to
disclose such fees on a consolidated basis

3. Profit attributable to members of the parent Company
The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the parent Company 1s £106 9 millon (2010 £67 7 million)




4 Investments in subsidiary undertakings

£m
At 1 Apnl 2010 1,022 6
Additions 788
At 31 March 2011 1,101.4
Additions in the year represent the acquisition of shares in a subsidiary company, Atlantc Water Ltd , from a
subsidiary company, Three Rivers Finance Ltd
During the year, the Company mcreased #ts shareholding in both Caledonian Environmental Services plc and
Caledonian Environmental Levenmouth Treatment Services Limited frem 75% to 100% at a nommnal cost
Proportion
of nominal
valug of issued
Country of incorporation or shares held by
Name of undertaking registration and operation Dascrphon of shares held Group {%) Busness acimty
Northumbnian Services England and Wales  Ordinary shares of £1 100 Holding of investments and
Limited loans
Northumbran Water England and Wales  Ordinary shares of £1 100 Water and sewerage services
Limited
Northumbrian Water England and Wales  Ordinary shares of £1 100 Helding of finance
Finance plc instruments
Caledonian Environmental  Scoiland Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Services plc
Caledonian Environmental  Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Levenmouth Treatrment
Services Limited
Ayr Environmental Services  Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 75 Waste water services
Limited
Ayr Environmental Services  Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Operations Limited
AguaGib Limited Gipbraltar Ordinary shares of £1 67 Water and sewerage services
Northumbrian Water England and Wales  Ordinary sharas of £1 100 Waste water services

Projects Limited
SA Agrer NV

Belgium

Qrdinary shares of £1

100 Aid funded project work

All subsidianes listed above are indirectly held The directors considfer that to give full particulars of all subsidiary
and assocrated undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length A full ist of the Company's
subsicharies 1s attached to the Company's latest annual return filed at Companies House

5. Debtors
313201 3132010
£m £m
Amounts owed by subsidary undertakings 3.3 40
Other 0.2 C3
3.5 43

Amounts cwed by subsidiary undertakings include amounts receivable for the provisional surrender of tax losses
amounting to £1 6 mithon (2010 £2 3 million)
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Notes to the Company financial statements
continued

6. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

3132014 332010
£m £m
Trade crecitors 0.1 -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 93.0 26
Accruals and deferred income 0.1 02
93.2 28
7. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
3132011 313 2010
£m £m
Amounts owed 1o subsidiary undertakings 4800 4919
313201 3132000
£m £m
Loans are repayable as follows
Not whelly repayable within five years 4900 4919
The loan bears a rate of interest knked to LIBOR The loan will continue until such time as terminated by
mutual agreement
8. Authorised and issued share capital
32011 3132010
£m £m
Authonsed
700 million ordinary shares of 10 pence 70.0 700
Allotted, called up and fully paid
518 6 muhion ordinary shares of 10 pence 519 519

The Nerthumbnan Water Group plc Employes Trust, through Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited,
currently holds 765,962 (2010 914,518) ordinary 10 pence shares in the Company for use under the Company's
LTIP All of these shares have been conditionally awarded under the LTIP Detalls of the main features of the LTIP

N OO Bl s

and the conditions for vesting can be found in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 71 to 84 As at 31 March
2011, the share price of the ordinary 10 pence shares in the Company was 332 2 pence (2010 283 1 pence)




9. Reserves
Shara
Treasury premium Profit and
shares account  loss account
£m £m £m
At 1 Aprl 2009 (23) 4465 47 0
Profit for the year - - 67 7
Share-based payment - - 01
Exercise of LTIP awards 03 - 03
Dvidends paid - - (667}
At 31 March 2010 (20) 4465 47 8
Profit for the year - - 106 8
Exercise of LTIP awards 03 - 03
Dwvidends paid - - (70 3)
At 31 March 2011 (1.7 4465 841

10. Commitments

The Company has 1ssued fetters of continuing support to subsidiary companies with net liablibes amounting to
£41 9 million (2010 €8 3 millior} and net current labilities of £nil (2010 £nil} These subsidiary companies are

expacted to mest thair working capital requirements from operating cash flows

The Company 1S guarantor to the EiB In respect of borrowings by Northumbrian Water Limited The loan principal

outstanding at 31 March 2011 amounted to £344 7 million {2010 £362 4 million)

The Company 1s party to a cross guarantee arrangement with other Group companies n respect of bank

faciities Qverdrafts outstanding at 31 March 2011 in respect of the arrangement amounted to £27 2 milicn

{2010 £0 9 mihon) The directors do not expect any loss to arise as a result of this arrangement

6EL
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Shareholder information
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Financial calendar Share portal {(www capitashareportal.com)
2011 You can manage your shareholding
July online, through the website of our
28 July AGM registrar, Capita Registrars, by

28 July Interm Management Statement registering for the share portal.

This provides free, secure, online
access to your shareholding.
Facilities include:

August
10 August Ex-dwidend date
12 August Record date

Electronic communications

September This allows you to register your email address to enable

09 September Final dividend payment you to receive shareholder communications such as
annual reports via the internet rather than by post

November Account enquiry

30 Novermmber  Half-yearly announcement You can access your personal shareholding, including

1102 SSRGS POURLY DU L0031 enuuy S1d dnausy JIEA, LRUGUINLLION

share transaction history, dividend payment history
and to obtain an up-to-date shareholding valuation

December

14 December Ex-dividend date Amendment of standing data

16 December Record date This allows you to change your registered postal
address and add, change or delete dividend
mandate instructions

2012 You can also download from this site forms such

Januar as change of address, stock transfer and dividend

anuary mandates and buy and sell shares in the Company
27 January Interim dividend payrment

To use any of these facilities, please log on to Capita
Registrars’ website at www capitashareportal com

If you have any queries about the above facilities,
please contact the Capita share portal helpline on
0871 664 0391 (calls cost 10 pence per minute plus
network extras) overseas +44 (0)20 8639 3367, or
by emall at shareportal@capita co uk

HN OO Bavranman




Caprta share dealing services

Capra Registrars provides a low cost share

dealing service Further information i1s avalable at

www capitadeal com, or by telephoning 0871 664 0445
{calls cost up to 10 pence per minute pius network
extras) This enables you to dea! in the shares of the
Company and other companies for which Capita acts
as registrar, provided you are already a shareholder in
the relevant company, and 1t offers the share deal
facility to its shareholders

International payment services

Caprita Registrars has partnered with Travelex, the
world's largest specialist provider of commercial
international payment services, 1o provide a service
that wilt convert your stering dividends into your lacal
currency at a compeittive rate They can either arrange
for these funds to be sent to you by currency draft or
can pay them direct into your bank account For further
nformation telephone +44 {0)20 8639 3405 (from
outside the UK} or 0871 664 0385 (from within the UK}
between 9 00am and 5 30pm in the UK Calls cost

10 pence per minute plus network extras

ShareGift

You may donate your shares to charity free of
charge through ShareGift Further details are
available at www sharegift org uk or by telephoning
+44 {0)20 7930 3737

Dividend re-investment plan

The Company receves occasional requests from
shareholders wishing to recerve therr dividends in the
form of shares instead of cash There are costs involved
N providing this service, and at present it would not be
cost effective This 1ssue 1s kept under regular review

Beneficial owners of shares with

‘information rights’

Please note that beneficial owners of shares who have
been nominated by the registered holder of those
shares to recewve information nghts under section 146
of the Companies Act 2006 are required to direct all
communications to the registered holder of their shares
rather than to the Company's registrar, Capita
Registrars, or the Company

Shareholder analysis

Disability Discrimination Act

If you wish to receive a copy of our report on audio
tape, m bralle or in a large text version, please
telephone us on +44 (0)191 301 6701, or email us
at shareholders@nwl co uk

For general quenes about your shares, please
contact Capita Registrars.

The Registry

34 Beckenham Road

Beckenham

Kent BR3 4TU

Tel 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10 pence per minute plus
network extras)

From overseas +44 (0)20 8639 3399

Fax +44 (01484 600 911

Email ssd@capitaregistrars com

Web www capitaregistrars com
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Shareholder information
continued

For general shareholder queries please contact
Secretanat:

Tel +44 (00191 301 6701

Fax +44 (0}191 301 6705

Emall shareholders@nwl co uk

To request financial statements and other
Company literature please contact
Communications:

Tel +44 (0)191 301 6734

Email sharehoiders@nwl co uk

Annual General Meeting

The Notice of Mesting, information about the AGM to
be held on 28 July 2011 and the proxy voting card are
enclosed with these financial statements Shareholder
questions and special needs requests should be
addressed to Secretarat at our registered office
address, raised by telephone on +44 (0)181 301 6701,
or sent by emall to shareholders@nwl co uk

Warning to shareholders - botler room scams

In recent years, many companies have become aware
that ther shareholders have recerved unsolictted phone
calls or correspondence concerning investment
matters These are typically from overseas based
‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders, offering to sell
them what often turn out to be worthless or high nsk
shares In US or UK investments These operations are
commonly known as ‘boller raoms' These ‘brokers’ can
be very persistent and extremely persuasive, and a
2006 survey by the Financial Services Authonty (FSA)
has reported that the average amount lost by investors
is around £20,000

It 13 not just the novice Investor that has been duped
In this way, many of the victms had been successfully
investing for several years Shareholders are advised
to be very wary of any unsohcited advice, offers to buy
shares at a discount or offers of free company reports
If you receive any unsolicited investment advice

— make sure you get the correct name of the person
and organisation,

— check that they are properly authorised by the FSA
before getting involved by visiting www fsa gov uk/
register/ and contacting the firm using the detalls
on the register,

- report the matter to the FSA either by calling 0845
606 1234 or visiting www fsa gov uk/pages/
consumerinformation, and

- If the calls persist, hang up

If you deal with an unauthonsed firm, you will not be
eligible to receive payment under the Financial Services
Compensation Schema The FSA can be contacted by
completing an online form at http /www fsa gov uk/
Pages/Daing/Regulated/Law/Alerts/form sthml

Details of any share dealing facilities that the Company
endorses will be included n company maihngs

More detailled information on this or similar activity
can be found on our Consumer Information section
at www fsa gov uk/pages/consumerinformation

General Counsel and Company Secretary
Martin Parker

Registered office
Northumbrian Water Group plc
Northumbria House

Abbey Road

Pity Me

Durham, DH1 5FJ

Tel 0845 604 7468

Group websites :
www.nwg.co.uk |
www.nwl.co.uk

www.eswater.co.uk

WWW.NW-SS.CO.uUK
www.nwpropertysolutions.co.uk
www.visitkielder.com

www.agrer.com

Northumbrian Water mamn switchboard
Tel 0845 604 7468

Northumbrian Water customer queries
Customer services 0845 717 1100
Customer accounts Q845 733 5566

Essex & Suffolk Water customer queries
Customer services 0845 782 0993
Customer accounts 0845 782 0111
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